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If any of the securi�es being registered on this Form are to be offered on a delayed or con�nuous basis pursuant to Rule 415 under the Securi�es Act of 1933 check the following box. [X]
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If this Form is filed to register addi�onal securi�es for an offering pursuant to Rule 462(b) under the Securi�es Act, please check the following box and list the Securi�es Act registra�on statement number of the earlier effec�ve registra�on statement for the same offering. [  ]
 
If this Form is a post-effec�ve amendment filed pursuant to Rule 462(c) under the Securi�es Act, check the following box and list the Securi�es Act registra�on statement number of the earlier effec�ve registra�on statement for the same offering. [  ]
 
If this Form is a post-effec�ve amendment filed pursuant to Rule 462(d) under the Securi�es Act, check the following box and list the Securi�es Act registra�on statement number of the earlier effec�ve registra�on statement for the same offering. [  ]
 
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, a smaller repor�ng company or an emerging growth company. See the defini�ons of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer”, “smaller repor�ng company” and
“emerging growth company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check one):
 

Large accelerated filer [  ] Accelerated filer [  ]
Non-accelerated filer [X] Smaller repor�ng company [X]
  Emerging growth company [X]

 
If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transi�on period for complying with any new or revised financial accoun�ng standards provided pursuant to Sec�on 13(a) of the Exchange Act. [  ]
 

CALCULATION OF REGISTRATION FEE
 

Title of Class of Securi�es to be Registered
Amount to be
Registered (1)

Proposed
Maximum
Aggregate

Price Per Share (2)

Proposed
Maximum
Aggregate

Offering Price
Amount of

Registra�on Fee
Common Stock, $0.01 per share     
Total     
 
 (1) Pursuant to Rule 416(a) under the Securi�es Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securi�es Act”) the registrant is also registering an indeterminate number of addi�onal shares of common stock that may be issued as a result of stock splits, stock dividends or similar transac�ons.
  
(2) Es�mated solely for the purpose of calcula�ng the amount of the registra�on fee pursuant to Rule 457(a) under the Securi�es Act based upon the sale price of shares of common stock sold at a price per share of $2.00.
 
 
The registrant hereby amends this Registra�on Statement on such date or dates as may be necessary to delay its effec�ve date un�l the registrant shall file a further amendment which specifically states that this registra�on statement shall therea�er become effec�ve in
accordance with Sec�on 8(a) of the Securi�es Act of 1933, or un�l this Registra�on Statement shall become effec�ve on such date as the Securi�es and Exchange Commission, ac�ng pursuant to Sec�on 8(a), may determine.
 
 

2

1,296,250 $ 2.00 $ 2,596,500 $ 282.84
1,296,250 $ 2.00 $ 2,596,500 $ 282.84



 The informa�on contained in this prospectus is not complete and may be changed. A registra�on statement rela�ng to these securi�es has been filed with the Securi�es and Exchange Commission and these securi�es may not be sold un�l that registra�on statement becomes
effec�ve. This prospectus is not an offer to sell these securi�es and it is not solici�ng an offer to buy these securi�es in any state where the offer or sale is not permi�ed.
 

Subject to Comple�on, Dated: June 23, 2021 
 
 

COJAX OIL AND GAS CORPORATION
1,296,250 shares of Common Stock

 
This prospectus relates to the resale by the selling stockholders iden�fied in this prospectus (the “Selling Stockholders”) of 1,296,250 shares of our common stock.  See the sec�on of this prospectus “Selling Stockholders” for addi�onal informa�on about the Selling Stockholders.
 
The registra�on of the shares of our common stock covered by this prospectus does not necessarily mean that any shares of our common stock will be sold by any of the Selling Stockholders, and we cannot predict when or in what amounts any of the selling stockholders may sell any
of our shares of common stock offered by this prospectus.
 
There is not currently, and there has never been, any established public trading market for our common stock. Our common stock is not currently eligible for trading on any na�onal securi�es exchange, including the NASDAQ Stock Market, or any over-the-counter markets, including
the OTC Markets—OTCQB �er, or OTCQB. We cannot assure you that our common stock will become eligible for trading on any exchange or market.
 
Un�l such �me as our common stock is quoted on the OTCQB or another public trading market otherwise develops, the Selling Stockholders iden�fied herein may only sell their shares of our common stock pursuant to this prospectus at a fixed price of $2.00 per share. At and a�er
such �me, the Selling Stockholders may sell all or a por�on of their shares through public or private transac�ons at prevailing market prices or at privately nego�ated prices.
 
The Company intends to apply for approval from the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (“FINRA”) for our common stock to be eligible for trading on any of the OTC Markets �er. However, there is no assurance that the Company will receive approval, and if it does receive such
approval, there can be no assurance that a trading market will develop, or, if developed, that it will be sustained.
 
We will pay all fees and expenses incident to the registra�on of the resale of shares of our common stock under this prospectus. The Company does not sell any shares of its common stock under this prospectus and will not realize no proceeds from sales by the Selling Shareholders. All
net proceeds from the sale or other disposi�on of the shares of common stock sold by the Selling Stockholders covered by this prospectus will go to the Selling Stockholders. The Company will The Selling Stockholders may be deemed “underwriters” within the meaning of the
Securi�es Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securi�es Act”), in connec�on with the resale or other disposi�on of the shares of common stock covered by this prospectus.
 
Inves�ng in our securi�es involves a high degree of risk. Before making any investment decision, you should carefully review and consider all the informa�on in this prospectus and the documents incorporated by reference herein, including the risks and uncertain�es described
under “Risk Factors” beginning on page 13.
 
NEITHER THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION NOR ANY STATE SECURITIES COMMISSION HAS APPROVED OR DISAPPROVED OF THESE SECURITIES OR DETERMINED IF THIS PROSPECTUS IS TRUTHFUL OR COMPLETE. ANY REPRESENTATION TO THE CONTRARY IS A CRIMINAL
OFFENSE.
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 PRELIMINARY PROSPECTUS



We may amend or supplement this prospectus from �me to �me by filing amendments or supplements as required. You should read the en�re prospectus and any amendments or supplements carefully before you make your investment decision.
 
The Company qualifies as an “emerging growth company” as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act which became law in April 2012 and will be subject to reduced public company repor�ng requirements. See Prospectus Summary—Implica�ons of Being an Emerging
Growth Company” on page 10 of this prospectus.
 

The date of this prospectus is June ___, 2021.
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You should rely only on the informa�on contained in this prospectus or a supplement to this prospectus. We have not authorized anyone to provide you with different informa�on. This prospectus is not an offer to sell securi�es, and it is not solici�ng an offer to buy securi�es, in any
jurisdic�on where the offer or sale is not permi�ed. You should not assume that the informa�on contained in this prospectus or any supplement to this prospectus is accurate as of any date other than the date on the front cover of those documents.
 
 

CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
 

This prospectus contains “forward-looking statements”. Forward-looking statements reflect the current view about future events. When used in this prospectus, the words “an�cipate,” “believe,” “es�mate,” “expect,” “future,” “intend,” “plan,” or the nega�ve of these terms
and similar expressions, as they relate to us or our management, iden�fy forward-looking statements. Such statements include, but are not limited to, statements contained in this prospectus rela�ng to our business strategy, our plans, objec�ves, expecta�ons, and inten�ons, our
future opera�ng results, including future opera�ng results of Barrister, the compe��ve nature of the industry in which we will conduct our business, crude oil and natural gas commodity prices, demand for oil, the effects of government regula�on and changes in that regula�on, the
impact of new technology on oil explora�on and produc�on and our ability to acquire and use that technology, our ability to maintain effec�ve informa�on technology systems and guard against cyber-a�acks or hacking, our ability to obtain permits, approvals, and authoriza�ons from
governmental and third par�es, planned acquisi�ons and future capital expenditures, our ability to service our debt obliga�ons, the impact of the acquisi�on of Barrister and the debt assumed in said acquisi�on, financial strategy, liquidity or capital required for our ongoing opera�ons
and acquisi�ons, and our ability to raise addi�onal capital to acquire and expand oil drilling and produc�on and to fund overhead. Because forward–looking statements relate to the future, they are subject to inherent uncertain�es, risks and changes in circumstances that are difficult
to predict. Our actual results may differ materially from those contemplated by the forward-looking
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statements. They are neither statements of historical fact nor guarantees of assurance of future performance. We cau�on you therefore against relying on any of these forward-looking statements. The outcome of the events described in these forward-looking statements is subject to
risks, uncertain�es, and other factors described in the sec�on en�tled “Risk Factors” of this prospectus. Should one or more of these risks or uncertain�es materialize, or should the underlying assump�ons prove incorrect, actual results may differ significantly from those an�cipated,
believed, es�mated, expected, intended or planned.

 
Factors or events that could cause our actual results to differ may emerge from �me to �me, and it is not possible for us to predict all of them. We cannot guarantee future results, levels of ac�vity, performance or achievements. Except as required by applicable law we do not

intend to update any of the forward-looking statements to conform these statements to actual results.
 

Commonly Used Defined Terms 

As used in this prospectus, unless the context indicates or otherwise requires, the following terms have the following meanings:

“ARO” means asset re�rement obliga�on;  

“Barrister” means Barrister Energy, L.L.C., a Mississippi limited liability company, our wholly owned subsidiary;  

“Barrister Oil Rights” means the crude oil and natural gas explora�on and produc�on leases and rights owned or controlled by Barrister (as more fully described under “Business – Barrister Oil Rights” below). Barrister does not own the underlying real property;  

“Btu” means one Bri�sh thermal unit, the quan�ty of heat required to raise the temperature of a one-pound mass of water by one degree of Fahrenheit;  

“Basin” means a large natural depression on the earth’s surface in which sediments generally brought by water accumulate;  

“Commission” or “SEC” means the U.S. Securi�es and Exchange Commission;  

“CoJax,” the “Company,” “we,” “us,” and “our” refer to CoJax Oil and Gas Corpora�on;

“Comple�on” means the process of trea�ng a drilled well followed by the installa�on of permanent equipment for the produc�on of natural gas or oil, or in the case of a dry hole, the repor�ng of abandonment to the appropriate agency;  

“C.O.P.” means Central Opera�ng, L.L.C., a privately held Mississippi limited liability company, and the former owner of Barrister’s Oil Rights and current contract manager of limited drilling opera�ons on the Barrister Oil Rights;

“Deep drill well” or “deep drilling rig” means an oil well capable of drilling to depths of approximately 10,000 feet or more;

“Developed acreage” means the number of acres that are allocated or assignable to produc�ve wells or wells capable of produc�on;  

“EUR” means the sum of reserves remaining as of a given date and cumula�ve produc�on as of that date. As used in this filing, EUR includes only proved reserves and is based on our reserve es�mates;  

“Exchange Act” means the Securi�es Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.   
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“Field” means an area consis�ng of a single reservoir or mul�ple reservoirs all grouped on, or related to, the same individual geological structural feature or stra�graphic condi�on. The field name refers to the surface area, although it may refer to both the surface and the
underground produc�ve forma�ons;  

“Forma�on” means a layer of rock which has dis�nct characteris�cs that differs from nearby rock;  

“Gas” means natural gas;   

“Gulf States Drill Region” means the area(s) where oil and gas leases, drilling and produc�on rights, which are located in the Smackover Trend. The Smackover Trend extends from Texas to the Florida Panhandle along the Gulf Coast Region – both onshore and offshore.  The
Smackover Trend is a major oil and gas produc�on forma�on in the Gulf States and the principal source of oil and gas. Like the Persian Gulf, the Smackover Trend was rock stratum formed by deposits from warm ocean waters covering the carbonate-evaporite basins in the
southern Gulf States Region during the Upper Jurassic Period;

“Horizontal drilling” means a drilling technique used in certain forma�ons where a well is drilled ver�cally to a certain depth and then drilled at a right angle within a specified interval;  

“Mcf” means one thousand cubic feet of natural gas;  

“MMBtu” means one million Btu;  

“MMcf” means one million cubic feet of natural gas;  

“Oil” means crude oil that has not been refined or processed;  

“OPEC” means Organiza�on of Petroleum Expor�ng Countries;

“Produc�ve well” means a well that is found to be capable of producing hydrocarbons in sufficient quan��es such that proceeds from the sale of the produc�on exceed produc�on expenses and taxes;  

“Prospect” means a specific geographic area which, based on suppor�ng geological, geophysical or other data and also preliminary economic analysis using reasonably an�cipated prices and costs, is deemed to have poten�al for the discovery of commercial hydrocarbons;  

“Proved reserves” means the es�mated quan��es of oil and natural gas which geological and engineering data demonstrate with reasonable certainty to be commercially recoverable in future years from known reservoirs under exis�ng economic and opera�ng condi�ons;  

“Proved undeveloped reserves” or “PUDs” means proved reserves that are expected to be recovered from new wells on undrilled acreage or from exis�ng wells where a rela�vely major expenditure is required for recomple�on;  

“Recomple�on” means the process of re-entering an exis�ng wellbore that is either producing or not producing and comple�ng new reservoirs in an a�empt to establish or increase exis�ng produc�on;  

“Reservoir” means a porous and permeable underground forma�on containing a natural accumula�on of producible oil and/or natural gas that is confined by impermeable rock or water barriers and is separate from other reservoirs;  

“Resources” means quan��es of oil and gas es�mated to exist in naturally occurring accumula�ons. A por�on of the resources may be es�mated to be recoverable, and another por�on may be considered to be unrecoverable. Resources include both discovered and undiscovered
accumula�ons;  
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“Securi�es Act” means the Securi�es Act of 1933, as amended;  

“Standardized measure” means the present value, discounted at 10% per year, of es�mated future net revenues from the produc�on of proved reserves, computed by applying sales prices used in es�ma�ng proved oil and gas reserves to the year-end quan��es of those reserves
in effect as of the dates of such es�mates and held constant throughout the produc�ve life of the reserves (except for considera�on of future price changes to the extent provided by contractual arrangements in existence at year-end), and deduc�ng the es�mated future costs
to be incurred in developing, producing and abandoning the proved reserves (computed based on year-end costs and assuming con�nua�on of exis�ng economic condi�ons). Future income taxes are calculated by applying the appropriate year-end statutory federal and state
income tax rate with considera�on of future tax rates already legislated, to pre-tax future net cash flows, net of the tax basis of the proper�es involved and u�liza�on of available tax carryforwards related to proved oil and gas reserves;

“Spacing” means the distance between wells producing from the same reservoir. Spacing is o�en expressed in terms of acres, e.g., 40-acre spacing, and is o�en established by regulatory agencies;  

“Undeveloped reserves” are reserves that are expected to be recovered from new wells on undrilled acreage, or from exis�ng wells where a rela�vely major expenditure is required. Reserves on undrilled acreage shall be limited to those directly offse�ng development spacing
areas that are reasonably certain of produc�on when drilled, unless evidence exists that establishes reasonable certainty of economic produc�vity at greater distances. Undrilled loca�ons can be classified as having undeveloped reserves only if a development plan has been
adopted indica�ng that they are scheduled to be drilled within five years, unless the specific circumstances jus�fy a longer �me. Under no circumstances shall es�mates for undeveloped reserves be a�ributable to any acreage for which an applica�on of fluid injec�on or other
improved recovery technique is contemplated, unless such techniques have been proved effec�ve by actual projects in the same reservoir or an analogous reservoir, or by other evidence using reliable technology establishing reasonable certainty;

“Unit” means the joining of all or substan�ally all interests in a reservoir or field, rather than a single tract, to provide for development and opera�on without regard to separate property interests. Also, the area covered by a uni�za�on agreement;  

“Unproved proper�es” means proper�es with no proved reserves;  

“Working interest” means the right granted to the lessee of a property to explore for and to produce and own natural gas or other minerals. The working interest owners bear the explora�on, development, and opera�ng costs on either a cash, penalty, or carried basis.  
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PROSPECTUS SUMMARY
 

This summary only highlights the more detailed informa�on appearing elsewhere in this prospectus. As this is a summary, it does not contain all of the informa�on that you should consider in making an investment decision. You should read this en�re prospectus carefully,
including the informa�on under “Risk Factors” and our financial statements and the related notes included elsewhere in this prospectus, before inves�ng.

 
Overview
 

CoJax was incorporated November 13, 2017, under the laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia with the business purpose to acquire oil drilling and produc�on rights to proper�es with oil reserve reports showing sufficient oil reserves to jus�fy drilling and to produce crude oil
for sale to any available domes�c or interna�onal buyers.  Since incorpora�on, we have been engaged in evalua�ng and pursuing possible acquisi�ons of oil leases and rights and exploring the availability of third-party funding for our business plan.  Prior to the acquisi�on of Barrister,
we have not had any revenue-genera�ng opera�ons. The acquisi�on of Barrister is the first and only current acquisi�on of oil and gas explora�on and produc�on leases and rights as of the date of this prospectus.
 
Descrip�on of Business
 

We are an early-stage independent oil and gas company focused on commencing opera�ons in the acquisi�on, development and produc�on of crude oil from assets in the Gulf States Drill Region. We are focused on establishing profitable oil explora�on and produc�on
opera�ons by acquiring the right, by lease or assignment, to drill, extract, and sell oil. We may extract and sell gas from �me to �me, but any gas produc�on would be secondary and not significant business line. Our long-term goal is to create shareholder value by iden�fying and
assembling a por�olio of low-risk assets with a�rac�ve economic profiles, and our short-term goal is to iden�fy and complete an equity acquisi�on of producing oil and gas assets in the Gulf States Drilling Region and then raise sufficient working capital to establish deep drilling rigs to
fully exploit oil reserves. We focus on Gulf State Drilling Region because of the quality of the oil and the ability to typically access oil without fracking and its history of drilling resul�ng oil produc�on without an inordinate percentage of dry wells or failed drilling. We do not intend to do
exploratory drilling, which is expensive and typically can only be afforded by the larger oil produc�on companies. Barrister has exis�ng rigs that are producing oil.  Exploratory drilling can verify the presence of oil and is used to reduce the risk of establishing deep drilling rigs.

 
The Barrister Acquisi�on and Related Transac�ons

 
On June 16, 2020, CoJax entered into an acquisi�on agreement with Barrister and all members of Barrister (the “Barrister Acquisi�on Agreement”), and on November 17, 2020, pursuant to the terms of the Barrister Acquisi�on Agreement, the Company acquired all the

outstanding capital of Barrister in exchange for 3,650,000 shares of the Common Stock issued to all members of Barrister (the “Acquisi�on” or the “Exchange”). As the result of the Acquisi�on, CoJax acquired Barrister’s business and its business plan, and Barrister became a wholly
owned subsidiary of CoJax.   The discussion hereina�er of the business and opera�ons of the Company refer to the Company subsequent to the Acquisi�on of Barrister and all such discussions primarily report the opera�ons of its now subsidiary unless otherwise so indicated. 
 

As the result of the Acquisi�on, the Company also assumed $2,700,000 of Barrister’s debts (the “Assumed Debt”), secured by Barrister Oil Rights, which were acquired by Barrister from Central Opera�ng, LLC or “COP” under that certain Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated
June 1, 2019 (the “COP Purchase and Sale Agreement”), and related secured Promissory note (the “Barrister Original Promissory Note”) and Security Agreement, also dated June 1, 2019, (collec�vely, “COP Agreements”). These acquired oil and gas explora�on and produc�on assets
represent all the Barrister Oil Rights. The Barrister Original Promissory Note was non-interest bearing; however, the principal amount of the Assumed Debt was required to be paid in a lump sum balloon within 24 months from the date of the issuance, on June 1, 2021.  These payment
obligations under the Barrister Original Promissory Note, that required a lump sum payment by June 1, 2021, represents a significant financial burden for the Company, par�cularly considering the risk
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of a possible default and legal ac�on to seize or sell the Barrister Oil Rights, which are provided as collateral for the Assumed Debt.  On May 29, 2021, The Company and C.O.P entered into and executed the Amended and Restated Promissory Note (the “Restated Note”) which
extended the date of the repayment of the Barrister Original Promissory Note to October 1, 2021, and restated all other provisions contained in the Barrister Original Promissory Note.  
 

Because Barrister has only minimal oil drilling and produc�on opera�ons, the Company will have to raise funds to establish one or more deep drilling rigs exploi�ng the Barrister Oil Rights. Even with deep drilling rigs, Barrister Oil Rights may not produce oil on a profitable
basis. We currently have no other poten�al acquisi�ons.  Under the Purchase and Sale Agreement, COP retained financial benefit of oil produced prior to and on June 1, 2019, and Barrister owned all post-June 1, 2019, oil produc�on.  Barrister had un�l August 31, 2019 to challenge
any �tle defects affec�ng acquired assets, but has not asserted any �tle defects. COP conveyed by Special Warranty of Title in respect of acquired assets “as is and with all faults” on date of purchase, but the warranty does not cover fitness of acquired assets for any specific purpose,
accuracy of oil reserves, or future produc�vity of acquired assets, or hazardous material liabili�es.  Barrister waived, released, held harmless and indemnified COP and its affiliates from all liabili�es associated with or arising from the Barrister Oil Rights.
 
Capital Needs
 

One of the biggest challenges facing the Company is the ability to raise adequate capital to develop and execute its business plan. As an early-stage development company and with limited oil produc�on history of Barrister Oil Rights, the Company does not believe that it can
raise funding for exploratory drilling rigs and deep drilling oil rigs.  We have explored third party debt and equity funding for acquiring and expanding oil explora�on and produc�on, but as of the date of this prospectus, we have no firm commitments for funding. Our experience is that
private funding for new drilling on oil leases and rights with limited produc�on or opera�ng history has been difficult to obtain on affordable terms in the past.
 

We filed a registra�on statement on a Form S-1 which was declared effec�ve by the Commission on October 20, 2020 (the “Registra�on Statement”), in which we registered for sale and offered 6,000,000 shares of our Common Stock at a price of $2.00 per share (the “Primary
Offering”). The Company intends to use proceeds from the shares sold in the Primary Offering for working capital and for our corporate opera�ng overhead and to fund establishing at least one deep drilling rig for the Barrister Oil Rights.  Our goal is to raise sufficient funds in the
Primary Offering pursuant to the Registra�on Statement to expand drilling from Barrister Oil Rights and establish a more robust cash flow and produc�on history from Barrister Oil Rights in order to a�ract future funding, either from lenders or through offering of our securi�es to
investors, to fund further drilling on Barrister Oil Rights and possibly, subject to adequate funds, acquire new oil leases and rights in Gulf State Drilling Region.  However, as of the date of this prospectus, we have raised only $53,000 in the Primary Offering.

Under the Restated Note, CoJax is required to pay the Assumed Debt by October 1, 2021, the new maturity date.  As of the date of this registra�on statement, CoJax does not have the funds, assets, or funding commitments as of to pay off the Assumed Debt. There is no
assurance, especially in light of the chao�c economic condi�ons imposed by COVID-19 pandemic on the U.S. and world economies and the oil produc�on industry and the uncertainty about when that impact will end, that CoJax can �mely pay off or restructure the Assumed Debt.
 CoJax lacks the assets typically required for debt financing, and the Barrister Oil Rights are already subject to a secured lien held by COP under the COP Agreements.

Corporate Informa�on

Our execu�ve offices are located at Wilson Boulevard, Suite E-605, Arlington, Virginia and our telephone number is (703) 216-8606.
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Implica�ons of Being an Emerging Growth Company
 
We qualify as an “emerging growth company” as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012, or the JOBS Act. As an emerging growth company, we may take advantage of specified reduced disclosure and other requirements that are otherwise applicable

generally to public companies. These provisions include:
 

a requirement to provide only two years of audited financial statements in addi�on to any required unaudited interim financial statements with correspondingly reduced “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condi�on and Results of Opera�ons”
disclosure; 
reduced disclosure about execu�ve compensa�on arrangements; 
no non-binding advisory votes on execu�ve compensa�on or golden parachute arrangements; and 
an exemp�on from the auditor a�esta�on requirement in the assessment of internal control over financial repor�ng. 

  
We may take advantage of these provisions for up to five years or such earlier �me that we are no longer an emerging growth company. We would cease to be an emerging growth company on the date that is the earliest of (i) the last day of the fiscal year in which we had

total annual gross revenues of $1.07 billion or more; (ii) the last day of the year following the fi�h anniversary of the date of the comple�on of our ini�al public offering; (iii) the date on which we had issued more than $1 billion in nonconver�ble debt during the previous three years;
or (iv) the date on which we are deemed to be a large accelerated filer under the rules of the SEC.

 
To the extent that we con�nue to qualify as a “smaller repor�ng company,” as such term is defined in Rule 12b-2 under the Securi�es Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”), a�er we cease to qualify as an emerging growth company, certain of the exemp�ons available to

us as an emerging growth company may con�nue to be available to us as a smaller repor�ng company, including: (1) not being required to comply with the auditor a�esta�on requirements of Sec�on 404(b) of the Sarbanes Oxley Act; (2) scaled execu�ve compensa�on disclosures; and
(3) the requirement to provide only two years of audited financial statements, instead of three years.
 
 

SUMMARY OF THE OFFERING
 

The following is a summary of the shares being offered by the Selling Stockholders:
 

Common stock offered by Selling Stockholders 1,296,250 shares of Common Stock, consis�ng of (i) 857,500 shares issued to former members of Barrister, upon the consumma�on of the Acquisi�on; (ii)
2,000 shares issued to directors and officers of the Company; (iii) 310,250 shares issued to Newbridge Securi�es Corpora�on and its affiliates as
compensa�on earned in connec�on with the Acquisi�on; (iv) 100,000 shares issued to consultants for services; and (v) 26,500 shares issued to investors
pursuant to the Primary Offering;

  
Common stock outstanding prior to the offering 4,096,751 shares
  
Offering price The Selling Stockholders may only sell their shares at a fixed price of $2.00 per share un�l such �me as our common stock is quoted on the OTC Markets—

OTCQB �er, or OTCQB, or another public trading market for our common stock otherwise develops. At and a�er such �me, the Selling Stockholders may
sell all or a por�on of their shares through public or private transac�ons at prevailing market prices or at privately nego�ated prices.
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Use of proceeds We will not receive any proceeds from the sale of shares of our common stock by the Selling Stockholders.
  
Risk factors You should carefully read the Sec�on “Risk Factors” in this prospectus for a discussion of factors that you should consider before deciding to invest in our

common stock.
 

The number of shares of our Common Stock that will be outstanding immediately a�er this offering is based on 4,096,751 shares of Common Stock outstanding as of June 23, 2021 and excludes 30,000 shares of Series A Conver�ble Preferred Stock (the “Series A Preferred
Stock”); each share of the Series A Preferred Stock is conver�ble at the op�on of the holder thereof to ten (10) shares of Common Stock.
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RISK FACTORS

 
You should carefully consider the risks and uncertain�es described below, together with all of the other informa�on in this prospectus. If any of the following risks are realized, our business, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons and prospects could be materially and adversely
affected the value of our common stock could decline, and you may lose all or part of your investment. The risks described below are not the only risks facing the Company. Risks and uncertain�es not currently known to us or that we currently deem to be immaterial also may materially
adversely affect our business, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons and/or prospects.
 
RISKS RELATING TO OUR BUSINESS AND THE INDUSTRY IN WHICH WE OPERATE
 
CoJax has no opera�ng history with revenue-genera�ng opera�ons, and Barrister has a limited history of owning and opera�ng oil and gas explora�on and produc�on opera�ons.  
 
Since its incorpora�on in November 2017, CoJax has never had any revenue-genera�ng opera�ons. Although we acquired Barrister’s business pursuant to the Acquisi�on on November 17, 2020, Barrister’s drilling opera�ons are minimal and commenced in 2019.  There is insufficient
opera�ng history for investors to adequately evaluate these companies as an oil and gas produc�on company, either combined or as separate en��es. While Barrister Oil Rights have a longer history of produc�on, that history was minimal in terms of produc�on and does not reveal the
poten�al oil produc�on and profitability of Barrister Oil Rights. The lack of opera�ng history increases the risk of inves�ng in the shares of our Common Stock.  Further, the lack of a more extensive opera�ng history may discourage lenders or funding sources from providing working
capital to CoJax or Barrister.  There is no assurance that the Barrister Oil Rights will produce oil on a profitable basis, even with deep drilling rigs.  Investors should carefully consider the lack or opera�ng history of CoJax and Barrister and the lack of any significant oil produc�on from
the Barrister Oil Rights prior to making an investment decision to invest in the Company.
 
We are entering a highly compe��ve and highly capital-intensive industry, and any oil produc�on may be insufficient to fund, sustain, or expand revenue-genera�ng opera�ons.   
 
The oil drilling explora�on and produc�on business are capital intensive due to the cost of experienced personnel; equipment and other assets required to drill, produce and store oil; regulatory compliance costs; poten�al liability exposures and financial impact; and risk of
unpredictable vola�lity in oil market prices and predatory pricing by compe�tors.  Drilling requires an upfront payment of opera�onal costs with no guarantee that actual oil produc�on will cover such expenses.  “Dry” holes for the first and/or second oil wells could deplete any
available funding raised by the Company and render the Company insolvent. The actual amount and �ming of our future capital expenditures may differ materially from our es�mates as a result of, among other things, market oil prices, actual drilling results, the availability of drilling
rigs and other services and equipment, and regulatory, technological, and compe��ve developments.  Neither CoJax nor Barrister has cash flow or cash reserves sufficient to fund more extensive and deep drilling on Barrister Oil Rights.  While we will seek such funding, there can be
assurances that we can obtain funding that will be sufficient to fund deep drill wells, which are needed to produce any significant levels of oil produc�on.  
 
Future cash flow from our opera�ons and access to capital are subject to a number of variables, including: (i) the market prices at which our oil produc�on is sold; (ii) our proved reserves; (iii) the level of hydrocarbons we can produce from any future oil wells; (iv) our ability to acquire,
locate and produce new oil reserves; (v) the levels of our opera�ng expenses; (vi) reduc�on and stabiliza�on of the impact of COVID-19 pandemic’s ongoing disrup�on of and reduc�on in the U.S. and global demand for oil.  
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Due to our contractor model of opera�ons, we will be vulnerable to any inability to engage or retain qualified opera�onal personnel for new or exis�ng drilling opera�ons.
 
Our opera�on plan depends on a teaming/contractor approach to operate oil rigs.  We may be unable to locate or retain a sufficient number of qualified independent contractors to operate a new or exis�ng oil rigs.  Finding and engaging qualified independent contractors will be
essen�al to commencing, expanding, and sustaining drilling opera�ons. Since we will, in all likelihood, depend on one or two new oil rigs at the start of opera�ons a�er raising sufficient working capital, any inability to engage or retain qualified independent contractors would be
poten�ally fatal to our efforts to establish increased revenue-genera�ng opera�ons. The use of independent contractors also poses the risk of such personnel leaving for more lucra�ve opportuni�es with compe�tors or other oil producers. Many of our compe�tors can afford more
lucra�ve compensa�on packages for qualified personnel. We lack the resources to effec�vely compete against larger compe�tors for opera�onal personnel, especially against compe�tors with liquid public markets for their capital stock and the ability to offer a�rac�ve stock-based
incen�ve compensa�on.
 
Loss of key opera�onal personnel could cause suspension of any expanded drilling opera�ons.  
 
The Company does not have key-man insurance or the available cash to easily employ or engage experienced, full �me outside senior management personnel. The loss of key personnel, including opera�onal personnel of COP used to manage Barrister’s oil produc�on business, or
COP’s refusal to con�nue to manage Barrister oil drilling and produc�on, could undermine the Company’s ability to manage opera�ons and implement the Company’s business plan. 
 
If Barrister produces oil on a more extensive and regular basis from enhanced drilling opera�ons, the marketability of oil produc�on will be dependent upon transporta�on and other facili�es, certain of which Barrister does not control. If these facili�es are unavailable, our
opera�ons could be interrupted, and our revenues reduced.
 
The marketability of oil produc�on will depend upon the availability, proximity, and capacity of transporta�on facili�es owned by third par�es. Any oil produc�on will be transported from the wellhead to gathering systems. The oil is then transported by the purchaser by truck or other
means to a transporta�on facility. Neither CoJax nor Barrister will control most of these third-party transporta�on means and facili�es, and access to them may be limited or denied. If in the future, the Company is unable, for any sustained period, to implement acceptable delivery or
transporta�on arrangements or encounter produc�on related difficul�es, it may be required to shut in or curtail produc�on. Any such shut-in or curtailment, or an inability to obtain favorable terms for delivery of the oil produced, would materially and adversely affect our efforts to
a�ain or sustain revenues from opera�ons and improved future financial condi�on and results of opera�ons. 
 
With any expanded oil explora�on and drilling, we will eventually need to replace exis�ng oil reserves with new oil reserves and develop those oil reserves. Failing that, oil reserves and produc�on will decline, which would adversely affect future cash flows and results of
opera�ons. 
 
Once we increase oil produc�on, then producing oil reservoirs generally will be characterized by declining produc�on rates that vary depending upon oil reservoir characteris�cs and other factors. Unless the Company conducts successful ongoing explora�on and development ac�vi�es
or con�nually acquires proper�es containing proved reserves, proved reserves would decline as those reserves are produced. Future reserves and produc�on, and therefore future cash flow and results of opera�ons, are highly dependent on the success in efficiently developing
current reserves and economically finding or acquiring addi�onal recoverable oil reserves. We may not be able to develop, find, or acquire sufficient addi�onal reserves to replace our current and future produc�on. If we are unable to replace current and future oil produc�on, the
value of exis�ng reserves will decrease, and business, financial condi�on, and results of opera�ons would be materially and adversely affected.
 
Seismic studies do not guarantee that oil or hydrocarbons are present or, if present, will produce in economic quan��es.  
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Oil explora�on and produc�on companies, like we are, rely on seismic studies to assist in assessing prospec�ve drilling opportuni�es on oil and gas proper�es, as well as on proper�es that a company may acquire. Such seismic studies are merely an interpre�ve tool and do not
necessarily guarantee that hydrocarbons are present or, if present, will produce in economic or profitable quan��es.
 
A substan�al percentage of Barrister’s proved reserves consist of undeveloped reserves. 
 
As of the end of the 2020 fiscal year, approximately 95% of Barrister’s proved reserves were classified as proved undeveloped reserves. These reserves may not ul�mately be developed or produced. As a result, we may not find commercially viable quan��es of oil and natural gas,
which in turn may have a material adverse effect on Barrister’s results of opera�on.
 
The poten�al lack of availability of, or cost of, drilling rigs, equipment, supplies, personnel, and crude oil field services could adversely affect our ability to execute on a �mely basis explora�on and development plans within any budget. 
 
We may encounter an increase in the cost of securing needed drilling rigs, equipment, and supplies. Larger producers may be more likely to secure access to such equipment by offering more lucra�ve terms.  If we are unable to acquire access to such resources or can obtain access
only at higher prices, its ability to convert oil reserves into cash flow could be delayed, and the cost of producing from those oil reserves could increase significantly, which would adversely affect results of opera�ons and financial condi�on.  Barrister’s current drilling opera�ons are
limited, and availability of essen�al drilling assets may not become a risk factor un�l such �me as we increase drilling opera�ons. 
 
 Any sustained decline in oil market prices could adversely affect the Company’s business, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons and its ability to meet capital expenditure obliga�ons and financial commitments. 
 
The prices the Company receives for oil produc�on will heavily influence revenues, any profitability, access to capital, future rate of growth, and carrying value of oil produc�on proper�es. Oil is a commodity, and its price may fluctuate widely in response to rela�vely minor changes in
the supply of and demand for oil and market uncertainty. If the Company is unable to obtain needed capital or financing on sa�sfactory terms, its ability to develop future reserves will be adversely affected. If drilling opera�ons are curtailed, then the Company may be unable to
con�nue to hold leases and drilling rights that are scheduled to expire, which may further reduce oil reserves. As a result, a substan�al or extended decline in commodity prices may materially and adversely affect future business, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, liquidity, and
ability to finance planned capital expenditures.

Historically, oil prices have been vola�le due to sensi�vity to poli�cal and economic developments or crises. The prices we receive for oil produc�on, and the levels of oil produc�on, depend on numerous factors beyond our control, which include worldwide and regional economic
condi�ons impac�ng the global supply and demand for oil and the impact and dura�on of the effect of the COVID-19 pandemic in the U.S. and elsewhere.  The con�nuing spread of COVID-19 pandemic has the poten�al to undermine our plans to try to establish a sustainable oil
produc�on business.  

Other factors include:

the level of domes�c and foreign supplies of oil; 
the price and quan�ty of foreign imports of oil and impact on U.S. oil producers 
poli�cal and economic condi�ons in or affec�ng other oil-producing regions or countries, including the Middle East, Africa, South America and Russia, which can affect global oil market price 
ac�ons of the OPEC, its members and other state-controlled oil companies rela�ng to oil price and produc�on controls, especially produc�on disputes between Saudi Arabia and Russia, who o�en have different goals 
the level of global explora�on, development, and produc�on of oil 
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the proximity, capacity, cost, and availability of oil gathering and transporta�on facili�es; · 
localized and global oil supply and demand fundamentals and transporta�on availability 
the cost of exploring for, developing, producing and transpor�ng oil which cost may go up due to oil storage surpluses created by COVID-19 pandemic 
weather condi�ons and other natural disasters, and storms in the Gulf States Drilling Region appear to increase in intensity due to global warming and in the past five years 
technological advances affec�ng oil consump�on, especially the growing produc�on of electric-powered cars, trucks, and buses 
the price and availability and consumer demand for alterna�ve fuels to oil and reduc�on in use of products that are made from oil, especially certain plas�cs, which demand is fueled by environmental concerns 
expecta�ons about future commodity prices, which is unpredictable due to inability to forecast the dura�on and scope of impact of COVID-19 pandemic 
climate control legisla�on that increases the cost and lowers the demand for oil by providing incen�ves and tax benefits for use of non-oil fuels, and 
impact of exis�ng U.S. federal, state and local and non-U.S. governmental regula�on and taxes. 

Barrister has a limited customer base for its oil produc�on due to its limited oil produc�on and opera�ng history.  The cost of and difficulty in expanding the customer base for increased produc�on from the Barrister Oil Rights is unknown.  

We can only determine the cost and difficulty of expanding Barrister’s customer base based on actual oil produc�on and then current market condi�ons and demand for oil.  As such, we cannot predict the cost and ease or difficulty of selling increased oil produc�on from Barrister Oil
Rights.  This unknown factor in commercially exploi�ng any increased oil produc�on from the Barrister Oil Rights increases the risk of inves�ng in the shares of the Company because it renders uncertain a key factor in future profitability of CoJax-Barrister.  

Par�cipants in the oil and gas industry are subject to numerous laws that can affect the cost, manner or feasibility of doing business.

Explora�on and produc�on ac�vi�es in the oil and gas industry are subject to various laws and regula�ons. Any oil and gas explora�on and produc�on operated by CoJax-Barrister are or may become subject to numerous environmental and occupa�onal health and safety laws and
regula�ons that may be imposed domes�cally at the federal, regional, state, and local levels. The more significant of these environmental and occupa�onal health and safety laws and regula�ons include the following:
 

The U.S. Clean Air Act, which restricts the emission of air pollutants from many sources and imposes various pre-construc�on, opera�onal, monitoring, and repor�ng requirements, and that the Environmental Protec�on Agency or “EPA” has relied upon as authority for
adop�ng climate change regulatory ini�a�ves rela�ng to Green House Gases or “GHG” emissions.   

 
The U.S. Federal Water Pollu�on Control Act, also known as the federal Clean Water Act, which regulates discharges of pollutants from facili�es to state and federal waters and establishes the extent to which waterways are subject to federal jurisdic�on and rulemaking as
protected waters of the United States 

 
The U.S. Oil Pollu�on Act of 1990, which subjects owners and operators of vessels, onshore facili�es, and pipelines, as well as lessees or permi�ees of areas in which offshore facili�es are located, to liability for removal costs and damages arising from an oil spill in waters of
the United States 

 
The U.S. Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensa�on and Liability Act of 1980, which imposes liability on generators, transporters, and arrangers of hazardous substances at sites where hazardous substance releases have occurred or are threatening to occur   
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The U.S. Resource Conserva�on and Recovery Act, which governs the genera�on, treatment, storage, transport, and disposal of solid wastes, including hazardous wastes 
 

The U.S. Safe Drinking Water Act (“SDWA”), which ensures the quality of the na�on’s public drinking water through the adop�on of drinking water standards and control over the injec�on of waste fluids into below-ground forma�ons that may adversely affect drinking water
sources 

 
The U.S. Emergency Planning and Community Right-to-Know Act, which requires facili�es to implement a safety hazard communica�on program and disseminate informa�on to employees, local emergency planning commi�ees, and response departments on toxic chemical
uses and inventories 

 
The U.S. Occupa�onal Safety and Health Act, which establishes workplace standards for the protec�on of the health and safety of employees, including the implementa�on of hazard communica�ons programs designed to inform employees about hazardous substances in the
workplace, poten�ally harmful effects of these substances, and appropriate control measures 

 
The U.S. Endangered Species Act, which restricts ac�vi�es that may affect federally iden�fied endangered and threatened species or their habitats through the implementa�on of opera�ng restric�ons or a temporary, seasonal, or permanent ban in affected areas 

 
The U.S. Na�onal Environmental Policy Act, which requires federal agencies, including the Department of the Interior, to evaluate significant agency ac�ons having the poten�al to impact the environment and that may require the prepara�on of environmental assessments
and more detailed environmental impact statements that may be made available for public review and comment 

 
U.S. Department of Transporta�on regula�ons, which relate to advancing the safe transporta�on of energy and hazardous materials and emergency response preparedness. 

These environmental and occupa�onal health and safety laws and regula�ons, including new or amended legal requirements, are expected to have a considerable impact on any expanded CoJax-Barrister opera�ons in terms of compliance costs. 

In addi�on, regional, state, and local jurisdic�ons in the United States where CoJax-Barrister operates or may operate also have, or are developing or considering developing, similar environmental and occupa�onal health and safety laws and regula�ons governing many of these same
types of ac�vi�es. The State of Alabama has extensive opera�on and licensing laws for oil drilling.  The State Oil and Gas Board of Alabama is a regulatory agency of the State of Alabama with the statutory charge of regula�ng oil explora�on and produc�on, including preven�ng waste
and promo�ng the conserva�on of oil and gas while ensuring the protec�on of both the environment and the correla�ve rights of owners. This board is granted broad authority in Alabama oil and gas conserva�on statutes to promulgate and enforce rules and regula�ons to ensure the
conserva�on and proper development of Alabama's petroleum resources.  We will rely on consultants and local legal counsel for compliance with state regulatory regime. 

 
Failure to comply with these laws and regula�ons may result in the suspension or termina�on of our opera�ons and subject us to administra�ve, civil, and criminal penal�es. Moreover, new laws and regula�ons may be enacted, and current laws and regula�ons could change, or their
interpreta�ons could change, in ways that could substan�ally increase our costs. The occurrence of any of these factors, or the con�nua�on thereof, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial posi�on, or future results of opera�ons.

This regulatory scheme also poses the risk of government civil and criminal ac�ons and private ci�zen civil lawsuits against Barrister and CoJax.
 
Under these and other laws and regula�ons, we could be liable for personal injuries, property damage and other types of damages. There are environmental laws that provide for ci�zen suits, which allow private en��es to act in the place of the government and sue operators for
alleged viola�ons of environmental law. Neither CoJax nor
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Barrister has insurance covering environmental and occupa�onal health and safety risks, and any insurance may not cover penal�es or fines that may be issued by a governmental authority.  Both Barrister and CoJax lack insurance to cover poten�al viola�ons and resul�ng liabili�es for
environmental and occupa�onal health and safety laws and regula�ons as well as claims for damages to property or persons or imposi�on of penal�es resul�ng from CoJax’s or Barrister’s opera�ons.

Terrorist a�acks aimed at energy opera�ons could adversely affect Barrister’s or any future oil explora�on and produc�on business.

The con�nued threat of terrorism and the impact of military and other government ac�on have led and may lead to further increased vola�lity in prices for oil and natural gas and could affect these commodity markets or the financial markets. The U.S. government has issued warnings
that energy assets may be a future target of terrorist organiza�ons. These developments have subjected our oil and natural gas opera�ons to increased risks. Any future terrorist a�ack on facili�es used by Barrister or other future oil explora�on and produc�on opera�ons, those of
such opera�ons’ customers, the infrastructure used for transporta�on of oil, and, in some cases, those of other energy companies, could have a material adverse effect on Barrister or CoJax.

Risks Related to the Acquisi�on of Barrister and the Obliga�ons of the Assumed Debt
 

We may incur losses as a result of �tle defects in the proper�es in which we invest.  
 
It is the normal prac�ce in oil and gas explora�on industry for the person or company ac�ng as the operator of the oil rig or well to obtain a preliminary �tle review to ensure there are no obvious defects in �tle to the well. Frequently, as a result of such examina�ons, certain cura�ve
work must be done to correct defects in the marketability of the �tle, and such cura�ve work entails expense. Our failure to cure any �tle defects may delay or prevent us from u�lizing the associated mineral interest, which may adversely impact our ability in the future to increase
produc�on and reserves. Addi�onally, undeveloped acreage has greater risk of �tle defects than developed acreage. If there are any �tle defects or defects in the assignment of leasehold rights in proper�es in which we hold an interest, we will suffer a financial loss.  Under the C.O.P.
Agreements, Barrister had un�l August 31, 2019, to assert any �tle defects for the Barrister Oil Rights, and Barrister asserted no such �tle defects.  If there are �tle defects to the Barrister Oil Rights, then Barrister has effec�vely waived the right to object and would have no recourse for
the financial consequences of any �tle defects. As such, the Company may have no recourse if the Barrister Oil Rights have any �tle defects that prevent oil explora�on and produc�on.  
 
Future acquisi�ons of oil and gas explora�on and produc�on rights and leases, if any, may not produce oil as projected, and we may be unable to determine reserve poten�al, iden�fy liabili�es associated with the proper�es that we acquire or obtain protec�on from sellers or
lessors against such liabili�es. 
 
Acquiring oil and natural gas explora�on and produc�on rights and leases requires us to assess reservoir and infrastructure characteris�cs, including recoverable reserves, development and opera�ng costs, and poten�al environmental and other liabili�es. This review will not
necessarily reveal all exis�ng or poten�al problems. During our due diligence, we may not inspect every well or pipeline. We cannot necessarily observe structural and environmental problems, such as pipe corrosion, when an inspec�on is made. We may not be able to obtain
contractual indemni�es from the seller or lessors for liabili�es created prior to our purchase or lease of the property. We may be required to assume the risk of the physical condi�on of the proper�es in addi�on to the risk that the proper�es may not perform in accordance with our
expecta�ons.  These risks could render unprofitable our drilling opera�ons and significantly impact the overall financial performance and condi�on of the Company.
 
The existence by each of CoJax and the former members of Barrister of the right to rescind the Exchange upon certain triggering events could hinder our efforts to raise capital and to fund our opera�ons.
 
CoJax has the right to rescind the Exchange prior to July 1, 2021 upon the occurrence of any of the following:  (a) any former Member of Barrister files a pe��on for protec�on from creditors under any chapter of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code, and that pe��on is not withdrawn within sixty
(60) days, or a receiver or other liquida�ng officer is appointed
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for substan�ally all of the assets or business of a Member or  (b) if Barrister makes an assignment for the benefit of creditors of all or substan�ally all of its opera�ng assets.
 
Barrister’s former owners, who are current shareholders of the Company, also have the right to jointly, but not severally, rescind the Exchange upon occurrence of any of the triggering event prior to July 1, 2021: (a) CoJax files a pe��on for protec�on from creditors under any chapter
of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code and that pe��on is not withdrawn within sixty (60) days; (b) CoJax is declared insolvent by a court of competent jurisdic�on, or CoJax’s Board of Directors approves a plan of complete liquida�on; or (c) if CoJax has not been issued a trading symbol for its
Common Stock by Financial Industry Regulatory Authority or “FINRA” within ninety (90) days of the consumma�on of the closing of the Exchange; or (d) if CoJax’s Common Stock has not been listed on: the New York Stock Exchange or NYSE American Exchange; or quoted on Nasdaq
Capital Market; or quoted or listed on any successor market to the foregoing, by the first annual anniversary of the effec�ve date of the Barrister Acquisi�on Agreement.

While the Company intends to seek quota�on of its common stock on the AMEX (NYSE) or NASDAQ Capital Markets by the end of 2021, we may not meet eligibility standards for quota�on of stock by the deadlines imposed under the Barrister Acquisi�on Agreement.  If we fail to meet
Nasdaq’s eligibility standards and will not be approved by Nasdaq by November 17, 2021, the first anniversary of the Exchange, the former members of Barrister may jointly rescind the Exchange and terminate CoJax’s ownership of Barrister. With the specter of a post-Exchange
rescission, investors may not invest in CoJax, and lenders or other investors are more likely to refuse to provide funding to CoJax or Barrister due to the uncertainty of con�nuity of opera�ons as CoJax-Barrister.   

If the Barrister Acquisi�on Agreement is rescinded, it could expose CoJax and Barrister to poten�al liabili�es and legal proceedings as follows: (1) public CoJax shareholders may allege that the rescission violates fiduciary du�es of management, (2) CoJax or Barrister could be sued over
liabili�es resul�ng from the rescission of the Exchange, and (3) third party may bring lawsuits based on the breach of contractual obliga�ons of the Company and/or its wholly-owned subsidiary. CoJax could also face possible environmental liabili�es over Barrister opera�ons. Any
rescission of the Exchange would result CoJax losing its oil explora�on and produc�on opera�ons and revenues and Barrister Oil Rights. Rescission of the Exchange may also impose addi�onal transac�on, legal, and accoun�ng costs on CoJax, which costs could be significant or beyond
the immediate ability of CoJax to pay. 

The Company is obligated to pay off the Assumed Debt. While it extended the maturity date to October 1, 2021, there is no assurance given that it can pay off or restructure the Assumed Debt and avoid the poten�ally catastrophic financial consequences of a default.

On June 16, 2020, upon entering into the Barrister Acquisi�on Agreement, CoJax assumed the Assumed Debt that was assigned to CoJax by Barrister. The Assumed Debt is secured by the Barrister Oil Rights and ini�ally was evidenced by the Barrister Original Promissory Note, dated
June 1, 2019, as amended, and therea�er assigned to CoJax, in favor of C.O.P. who was the prior owner of those rights. The maturity date for the Assumed Debt under the Barrister Original Promissory Note was June 1, 2021, and the Assumed Debt required to be paid in a lump sum.
On May 29, 2021, CoJax and C.O.P. entered into and executed the Restated Note, which, among other things, extended the maturity date to October 1, 2021, and provided CoJax with a short but valuable addi�onal �me to raise money or restructure the Assumed Debt to avoid a
default for the Assumed Debt. A default under the Barrister Original Promissory Note could result in li�ga�on causing the bankruptcy or insolvency of CoJax and-Barrister.  Any default on the Assumed Debt could also result in the levy on and subsequent loss of Barrister Oil Rights.
While the execu�on of the Restated Note provided CoJax with this short extension for the repayment of the Assumed Debt by October 1, 2021, there is no assurance that CoJax can pay off or restructure the Assumed Debt by October 1, 2021 and could avoid the poten�ally
catastrophic financial consequences of a default.  The raising of funds to pay off the Assumed Debt is a poten�ally daun�ng task under current and projected economic and oil industry condi�ons imposed by the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic and disrup�ve impact of possible
produc�on disputes among members of OPEC (especially Saudi Arabia and Russia), both of which cause erra�c and depressed global and domes�c market prices for oil.  The drop in consumma�on of oil due to the COVID-19 pandemic has also resulted in oil inventory surpluses that
have lowered the global and domes�c market price for oil.  It is uncertain if C.O.P. would agree to restructure the Assumed Debt prior to the new maturity date of the Restated Note.  
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The Obliga�ons to repay the Assumed Debt Could Impose Other Risks on the Company.

If the Company is unable to restructure or to repay the Assumed Debt by the new maturity date of October 1, 2021, it could impose addi�onal risks, including: (i) increasing the vulnerability of the Company to general adverse economic and industry condi�ons by making CoJax-
Barrister less financially a�rac�ve to lenders and investors or increasing the lending or investment risk of CoJax-Barrister to a point where it fails to meet lending criteria or investor risk limits;  (ii) limi�ng its flexibility in planning for, or reac�ng to, challenges and opportuni�es, and
changes in its businesses and the markets in which it operates, by limi�ng cash available for revenue-genera�ng opera�ons or acquisi�on of new oil explora�on and produc�on leases and rights; (iii) limi�ng its ability to obtain addi�onal, necessary financing to funding for working
capital, capital expenditures, acquisi�ons, and debt service requirements and other financing needs; and (iv) placing it at a compe��ve disadvantage to compe�tors that have less debt or greater cash flow and are seeking oil-drilling/produc�on financing or funding.   

The Company’s senior officers are not experienced in the management of oil and gas explora�on and produc�on opera�ons and may be inadequate or ill-equipped to successfully manage a public company with oil drilling and produc�on opera�ons.

While CoJax’s senior officers are experienced business execu�ves, they were not involved and are not experienced in the daily opera�onal management of oil explora�on and produc�on opera�ons.  The oil and gas produc�on industry presents unique challenges to the management of
a public company in that industry. Such challenges include understanding the complex federal, state and local regula�ons and laws governing or affec�ng oil and gas drilling and produc�on; understanding the complexi�es of selling crude oil in the global crude oil market, including
hedging strategies; successfully developing a small oil drilling and produc�on company in any industry with numerous domes�c and foreign compe�tors, most of whom have significantly greater: financial resources; market share and power; distribu�on channels; produc�on and
storage capacity as well as far greater oil reserves under control or ownership;  access to necessary drilling and produc�on equipment; ability to navigate and hedge against erra�c global market for crude oil; financial reserves that allows the compe�tor to survive suspension of
opera�ons and inability to sell oil produc�on at all or at a price that generates acceptable profit margins; influence over customers, distributors of oil, regulators and legislators; and ability to successfully plan and prepare for changes in oil and gas industry. Since none of the CoJax
senior officers are experienced in management of oil explora�on and produc�on companies, the Company’s management is relying on Jeffrey Delancey.

Risks Related to Our Financial Condi�on and Capital Requirements
 
Our independent registered public accoun�ng firm has included an explanatory paragraph rela�ng to our ability to con�nue as a going concern in its report on our audited financial statements.

 
On a consolidated basis, the Company has incurred significant opera�ng losses since incep�on and has a working capital deficit. The Company’s financial statements do not include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty.
 
Because the Company does not expect that exis�ng opera�onal cash flow will be sufficient to fund presently an�cipated opera�ons, this raises substan�al doubt about the Company’s ability to con�nue as a going concern. Therefore, the Company will need to raise addi�onal funds and
is currently exploring alterna�ve sources of financing. Historically, the Company has raised capital through an officer loan as an interim measure to finance working capital needs and will con�nue to raise addi�onal capital through the sale of common stock or other securi�es. The
Company will be required to con�nue to do so un�l its consolidated opera�ons become profitable.
 
These factors, among others, raise substan�al doubt about the Company’s ability to con�nue as a going concern. If we are unable to obtain sufficient funding, our business, prospects, financial condi�on, and results of opera�ons will be materially and adversely affected, and we may
be unable to con�nue as a going concern.
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Our ability to con�nue as a going concern is dependent on our ability to sell shares in the public offering.
 
If we are unable to secure this addi�onal capital, we may be required to suspend opera�ons as CoJax-Barrister opera�ons are already being run to minimize opera�ng costs. The poten�al future revenue and income of our proposed CoJax-Barrister opera�ons are currently unknown, as
is the impact of Barrister as a wholly owned subsidiary of CoJax, on CoJax efforts to raise addi�onal working capital.  Barrister’s revenues are limited and dedicated to pay for Barrister opera�ons.  We do not believe that Barrister revenues would be sufficient to be used for our
overhead working capital needs.  If we cannot con�nue as a viable en�ty, you would lose all or most of your investment in the Company.  
 
We do not have sufficient funds to fund all the necessary working capital needs of the Company.
 
We es�mated that it requires at least $500,000 for CoJax overhead in 2021, including es�mated insurance premiums, accoun�ng/legal costs and personnel costs, NASDAQ Capital Market fees.  Based on anecdotal evidence and industry sources, the Company believes that establishing
a deep drilling rig will cost at least $60,000 and drilling to 10,000 feet will cost at least $2,200,000.  Actual costs may exceed these es�mates due to changing economic, market, regulatory and other condi�ons, and factors.  Our past efforts to raise working capital have been
unsuccessful. Although our ini�al public offering was declared effec�ve by the Commission in August 2019, we were unable to sell any shares and terminated said offering. We filed the Registra�on Statement, which was declared effec�ve by the Commission on October 20, 2020, in
which we registered for sale up to 6,000,000 shares of our Common Stock at a price of $2.00 per share.  As of the date of this prospectus, we have raised only $53,000 pursuant to the Primary Offering pursuant by the Registra�on Statement.  This Primary Offering may not produce
sufficient working capital for our working capital needs unless the en�re 6,000,000 shares are sold �mely to fund working capital needs as they arise. If the Primary Offering fails to raise sufficient working capital as needed, the Company may be unable to fund the expansion of
Barrister oil drilling opera�ons or pay for the Company’s opera�ng costs.  
 
We do not have directors’ and officers’ liability insurance due to the cost. 
 
The lack of directors’ and officers’ liability insurance hinders our ability to a�ract directors and officers. We intend to seek to purchase directors’ and officers’ liability insurance if we have sufficient cash reserves from the net proceeds of this Offering or future funding efforts.  Typically,
such insurance costs $100,000 or more per annum, if available. Further, directors’ and officers’ insurance require that the insured company cover the first $300,000 or more of costs prior to insurance coverage occurring.   This high deduc�ble can be beyond the financial means of a
small company and effec�vely denies the insured company of the benefits of the insurance. If we do not have sufficient cash to purchase directors’ and officers’ liability insurance, our ability to a�ract and retain qualified officers and directors will suffer, especially considering the lack
of a public market for the common stock and resul�ng inability to offer incen�ve compensa�on to directors and officers. We may be unable to find an insurer willing to provide directors’ and officers’ liability insurance since we are an early-stage development company with limited
opera�ng history and no revenue genera�ng opera�ons. 
 
Risks Related to COVID-19
 
The uncertainty and extent of the COVID-19 pandemic may con�nue to have an adverse effect on our opera�ons.

 The current outbreak of COVID-19 could con�nue to have a material and adverse effect on the Company’s business opera�ons. The prices we receive for oil produc�on, and the levels of oil produc�on, depend on numerous factors beyond our control, which include demand for oil and
the impact and dura�on of the effect of the COVID-19 pandemic in the U.S. and elsewhere.   As a result, the global economy has been marked by significant slowdown and uncertainty, which in turn has led to a precipitous decline in oil prices in response to decreased demand, further
exacerbated by global energy storage shortages and by the price war among members of the OPEC and other non-OPEC producer na�ons (collec�vely with OPEC members, “OPEC+”) during the first quarter 2020. While currently prices have recovered to pre-pandemic levels, due in
part to the accessibility of vaccines, reopening of states a�er the lockdown, and op�mism about the economic recovery, the con�nued spread of COVID-19, including-vaccine
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resistant strains, or repeated deteriora�on in oil and natural gas prices could result in addi�onal adverse impacts on the Company's results of opera�ons, cash flows and financial posi�on, including further asset impairments. The con�nuing spread of COVID-19 pandemic has the
poten�al to undermine our plans to try to establish a sustainable oil produc�on business.
 
Risks Rela�ng to Our Common Stock
 
There is currently no market for our Common Stock and there can be no assurance that any market will ever develop. You may therefore be unable to re-sell shares of our Common Stock at �mes and prices that you believe are appropriate.
 
Our Common Stock is not listed on a na�onal securi�es exchange, or any other exchange, or quoted on an over-the-counter market. Therefore, there is no trading market, ac�ve or otherwise, for our Common Stock and our Common Stock may never be included for trading on any
stock exchange, automated quota�on system or any over-the-counter market. Accordingly, our Common Stock is highly illiquid, and you will likely experience difficulty in re-selling such shares at �mes and prices that you may desire. When and if the common stock trades on a public
market, our stock price may be vola�le, and the value of any investment in our common stock may decline or never appreciate. If the common stock publicly trades, then the trading price of our common stock is likely to be highly vola�le and could be subject to wide fluctua�ons in
response to various factors, many of which are beyond our control. We may lack the primary market makers and ins�tu�onal investors that protect a stock from vola�lity due to day trading or other manipula�ve prac�ces. investors. Without quota�on of the common stock on NASDAQ
Capital Market and primary market maker or ins�tu�onal investor support, our Common Stock may not reach market prices that allow us to capitalize on the public equity markets for needed funding.   
 
Our Common Stock may be deemed a “penny stock” which may reduce the value of an investment in the stock.
 
Rule 15g-9 under the Exchange Act establishes the defini�on of a “penny stock,” for the purposes relevant to us, as any equity security that has a market price of less than $5.00 per share or with an exercise price of less than $5.00 per share, subject to certain excep�ons. For any
transac�on involving a penny stock, unless exempt, the rules require: (a) that a broker or dealer approve a person’s account for transac�ons in penny stocks; and (b) the broker or dealer receive from the investor a wri�en agreement to the transac�on, se�ng forth the iden�ty and
quan�ty of the penny stock to be purchased.
 
To approve a person’s account for transac�ons in penny stocks, the broker or dealer must: (a) obtain financial informa�on and investment experience objec�ves of the person and (b) make a reasonable determina�on that the transac�ons in penny stocks are suitable for that person
and the person has sufficient knowledge and experience in financial ma�ers to be capable of evalua�ng the risks of transac�ons in penny stocks.
 
The broker or dealer must also deliver, prior to any transac�on in a penny stock, a disclosure schedule prescribed by the SEC rela�ng to the penny stock market, which, in highlight form: (a) sets forth the basis on which the broker or dealer made the suitability determina�on; and (b)
confirms that the broker or dealer received a signed, wri�en agreement from the investor prior to the transac�on. Generally, brokers may be less willing to execute transac�ons in securi�es subject to the “penny stock” rules. If our Common Stock is or becomes subject to the “penny
stock” rules, it may be more difficult for investors to dispose of our Common Stock and cause a decline in the market value of our Common Stock.
 
Disclosure also has to be made about the risks of inves�ng in penny stocks in both public offerings and in secondary trading and about commissions payable to both the broker or dealer and the registered representa�ve, current quota�ons for the securi�es and the rights and remedies
available to an investor in cases of fraud in penny stock transac�ons. Finally, monthly statements must be sent disclosing recent price informa�on for the penny stock held in the account and informa�on on the limited market in penny stocks.

22



Future capital raises may dilute our exis�ng shareholders’ ownership, the value of their equity securi�es and/or have other adverse effects on our opera�ons.
 
If we raise addi�onal capital by issuing equity securi�es by acquisi�on of by equity financings, our exis�ng shareholder’ percentage ownership may decrease, and these shareholders may experience substan�al dilu�on. If we raise addi�onal funds by issuing debt instruments, these
debt instruments could impose significant restric�ons on our opera�ons, including liens on our assets. If we raise addi�onal funds through collabora�ons and licensing arrangements, we may be required to relinquish some rights to our technologies or products, or to grant licenses on
terms that are not favorable to us or could diminish the rights of our shareholders. Furthermore, if we offer to sell our shares of common stock in subsequent offerings for the purchase price that is less than the purchase price of shares of common stock offered pursuant to this
prospectus, this may impact the value of equity securi�es of the shareholders that are purchasing our shares of common stock in the offering pursuant to this prospectus. In addi�on, the issuance of such addi�onal shares may impact the ability of any investor to sell their shares once
such shares are eligible for sale.

 The Company does not intend to pay dividends to its stockholders, so investors will not receive any return on investment in the Company prior to selling their interest in it.

The Company does not project paying dividends for the foreseeable future but an�cipates that it will retain future earnings for funding the Company’s growth and development. Therefore, investors should not expect the Company to pay dividends in the foreseeable future. As a result,
investors will not receive any return on their investment prior to selling their Shares in the Company, if and when a market for such Shares develops. Furthermore, even if a market for the Company’s securi�es does develop, there is no guarantee that the market price for the shares
would be equal to or more than the ini�al per share investment price paid by any investor. There is a possibility that the shares could lose all or a significant por�on of their value from the ini�al price paid by investors in the offering pursuant to this prospectus.

We are an “emerging growth company” under the JOBS Act of 2012 and a “smaller repor�ng company” and, as a result of the reduced disclosure and governance requirements applicable to emerging growth companies and smaller repor�ng companies, our common stock may
be less a�rac�ve to investors.

 
We are an “emerging growth company”, as defined in the JOBS Act, and we may take advantage of certain exemp�ons from various repor�ng requirements that are applicable to other public companies that are not “emerging growth companies” including, but not limited to, not being
required to comply with the auditor a�esta�on requirements of sec�on 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, reduced disclosure obliga�ons regarding execu�ve compensa�on in our periodic reports and proxy statements, and exemp�ons from the requirements of holding a nonbinding
advisory vote on execu�ve compensa�on and shareholder approval of any golden parachute payments not previously approved. We cannot predict if investors will find our common stock less a�rac�ve because we may rely on these exemp�ons. If some investors find our common
stock less a�rac�ve as a result, there may be a less ac�ve trading market for our common stock and our stock price may be more vola�le.

 
In addi�on, Sec�on 107 of the JOBS Act also provides that an “emerging growth company” can take advantage of the extended transi�on period provided in Sec�on 7(a)(2)(B) of the Securi�es Act for complying with new or revised accoun�ng standards. In other words, an “emerging
growth company” can delay the adop�on of certain accoun�ng standards un�l those standards would otherwise apply to private companies. We are choosing to take advantage of the extended transi�on period for complying with new or revised accoun�ng standards.

 
We will remain an “emerging growth company” un�l the earlier of (i) the last day of the year following the fi�h anniversary of the date of the comple�on of our ini�al public offering, (ii) the last day of the year in which we have total annual gross revenue of at least $1.07 billion, (iii)
the last day of the year in which we are deemed to be a “large accelerated filer” as defined in Rule 12b-2 under the Exchange Act, which would occur if the market value of our common stock held by non-affiliates exceeded $700.0 million as of the last business day of the second fiscal
quarter
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of such year, or (iv) the date on which we have issued more than $1.0 billion in non-conver�ble debt securi�es during the prior three-year period.
 

Even a�er we no longer qualify as an “emerging growth company,” we may s�ll qualify as a “smaller repor�ng company,” which would allow us to con�nue to take advantage of many of the same exemp�ons from disclosure requirements, including, among other things, not being
required to comply with the auditor a�esta�on requirements of Sec�on 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, presen�ng only the two most recent fiscal years of audited financial statements in our Annual Report on Form 10-K and reduced disclosure obliga�ons regarding execu�ve
compensa�on in this prospectus and our periodic reports and proxy statements.

 
You may experience dilu�on of your ownership interests because of the future issuance of addi�onal shares of our Common Stock or preferred stock or other securi�es that are conver�ble into or exercisable for our Common Stock or preferred stock.
 
In the future, we may issue authorized but previously unissued equity securi�es, resul�ng in the dilu�on of the ownership interests of the then current stockholders. We may issue addi�onal shares of our Common Stock or other securi�es that are conver�ble into or exercisable for our
Common Stock in connec�on with hiring or retaining employees, future acquisi�ons, future sales of our securi�es for capital raising purposes, or for other business purposes. The future issuance of any such addi�onal shares of our Common Stock may create downward pressure on
the trading price of the common stock. We may need to raise addi�onal capital in the near future to meet our working capital needs, and there can be no assurance that we will not be required to issue addi�onal shares, warrants or other conver�ble securi�es in the future in
conjunc�on with this capital raising effort, including at a price (or exercise prices) below the price you paid for your stock.
 
 The sales prac�ce requirements of FINRA may limit a stockholder’s ability to buy and sell our Common Stock.
 
FINRA has adopted rules requiring that, in recommending an investment to a customer, a broker-dealer must have reasonable grounds for believing that the investment is suitable for that customer. Prior to recommending specula�ve or low-priced securi�es to their non-ins�tu�onal
customers, broker-dealers must make reasonable efforts to obtain informa�on about the customer’s financial status, tax status, investment objec�ves and other informa�on. Under interpreta�ons of these rules, FINRA has indicated its belief that there is a high probability that
specula�ve or low-priced securi�es will not be suitable for at least some customers. If these FINRA requirements are applicable to us or our securi�es, they may make it more difficult for broker-dealers to recommend that at least some of their customers buy our Common Stock, which
may limit the ability of our stockholders to buy and sell our Common Stock and could have an adverse effect on the market for and price of our Common Stock.
 
 The resale of shares covered by this registra�on statement could adversely affect the market price of our Common Stock in the public market, should one develop, which result would in turn nega�vely affect our ability to raise addi�onal equity capital.
 
The sale, or availability for sale, of our Common Stock in the public market may adversely affect the prevailing market price of our Common Stock and may impair our ability to raise addi�onal capital by selling equity or equity-linked securi�es. We have agreed, at our expense, to
prepare and file this registra�on statement with the SEC registering the resale of an aggregate of 1,296,250 shares of Common Stock issued to Selling Stockholders. Once effec�ve, this registra�on statement will permit the resale of these shares at any �me. The resale of a substan�al
number of shares of our Common Stock in the public market could adversely affect the market price for our Common Stock and make it more difficult for you to sell shares of our Common Stock at �mes and prices that you feel are appropriate. Furthermore, we expect that, because
there will be a large number of shares registered pursuant to this registra�on statement, Selling Stockholders will con�nue to offer shares covered by such registra�on statement for a significant period, the precise dura�on of which cannot be predicted. Accordingly, the adverse market
and price pressures resul�ng from an offering pursuant to this registra�on statement may con�nue for an extended period and con�nued nega�ve pressure on the market price of our Common Stock could have a material adverse effect on our ability to raise addi�onal equity capital.
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DETERMINATION OF OFFERING PRICE

 
The Selling Stockholders may only sell their shares of our common stock pursuant to this prospectus at a fixed price of $2.00 per share un�l such �me as our common stock is quoted on the OTCQB or another public trading market for our common stock otherwise develops. At and
a�er such �me, the selling stockholders may sell all or a por�on of their shares through public or private transac�ons at prevailing market prices or at privately nego�ated prices. The fixed price of $2.00 at which the Selling Stockholders may sell their shares pursuant to this prospectus
was determined based upon the purchase price per share of our common stock in the Primary Offering which is s�ll open. We have included a fixed price at which Selling Stockholders may sell their shares pursuant to this prospectus prior to the �me there is a public market for our
stock in order to comply with the rules of the SEC that require that, if there is no market for the shares being registered, this registra�on statement must include a price at which the shares may be sold.
 

SELLING STOCKHOLDERS
 

This prospectus covers the resale by the Selling Stockholders of an aggregate of 1,296,250 shares of our common stock, which includes:
 

857,000 shares issued to former members of Barrister, upon the consumma�on of the Acquisi�on; 
2,000 shares issued to directors and officers of the Company; 
310,250 shares issued to Newbridge Securi�es Corpora�on and its affiliates as compensa�on earned in connec�on with the Acquisi�on; 
100,000 shares of common stock issued to service providers; and, 
27,000 shares issued to investors pursuant to the Primary Offering; 

 
The Selling Stockholders, may, from �me to �me, offer and sell pursuant to this prospectus any or all of the shares referred to above. They may also sell, transfer or otherwise dispose of all or a por�on of their shares in transac�ons exempt from the registra�on requirements

of the Securi�es Act. We may from �me to �me include addi�onal Selling Stockholders in supplements or amendments to this prospectus.
 

The Selling Stockholders may sell some, all or none of its shares. We do not know how long the Selling Stockholders will hold the shares before selling them, and we currently have no agreements, arrangements or understandings with the Selling Stockholders regarding the
sale of any of the shares.

 
The following table sets forth the shares beneficially owned, as of June 23, 2021, by the Selling Stockholders prior to the offering contemplated by this prospectus, the number of shares of Common Stock the Selling Stockholders may offer and sell from �me to �me under this

prospectus and the number of shares of Common Stock which the Selling Stockholders would own beneficially if all such offered shares are sold.
 

Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with Rule 13d-3(d) promulgated by the SEC under the Exchange Act. The percentage of shares beneficially owned prior to this offering is based on 4,096,751 shares of our Common Stock outstanding as of June 23, 2021.
  

Unless otherwise set forth below, based upon the informa�on furnished to us, (a) the persons and en��es named in the table have sole vo�ng and sole investment power with respect to the shares set forth opposite the Selling Stockholder's name, subject to community
property laws, where applicable, (b) no selling stockholder had any posi�on, office or other material rela�onship within the past three years, with us or with any of our predecessors or affiliates, and (c) no selling stockholder is a broker-dealer or an affiliate of a broker-dealer.

 
Selling Stockholders who are broker-dealers or affiliates of broker-dealers are indicated by footnote. We have been advised that these broker-dealers and affiliates of broker-dealers who hold shares of Common Stock
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included in the table below acquired the shares of our Common Stock in the ordinary course of business, not for resale. We have been advised that at the �me of such receipt of shares, such persons did not have any agreements or understandings, directly or indirectly, with any person
to distribute such common stock.

 
None of the Selling Stockholders or any of their respec�ve affiliates have held a posi�on or office, or had any other material rela�onship with us or any of our predecessors or affiliates except that (i) Jeffrey J. Guzy is Chief Execu�ve Officer and President since January 22, 2020

and a director of the Company since November 17, 2017; (ii) Wm. Barre� Wellman is our Chief Financial Officer since March 16, 2020; (iii) Roger McLeod was a member of Barrister that owned the majority of membership interests in Barrister prior to the Acquisi�on, and currently is
the beneficial owner of approximately 71.3% Common Stock of the Company; (iv) Jeffrey Delancey was Chief Execu�ve Officer and a Director of the Company from May 18, 2019 un�l January 21, 2020 and a member of Barrister prior to the Acquisi�on; (v) Andrew Cardwell was a
member of Barrister prior to the Acquisi�on; (vi) Lamar Resources, LLC was a member of Barrister prior to the Acquisi�on; (vii) Newbridge and its affiliate Sandstone Group Corp. (“Sandstone”) provided advisory services to the Company with respect to the Acquisi�on; and (v) MEC
Consul�ng, Inc. (“MEC”) is owned by Mark Crone, the owner of The Crone Law Group, P.C., the Company’s legal counsel.

 

Name of Selling Stockholders  
Beneficial Ownership Before the

Offering  
Shares of Common Stock Registered in this

Offering  Beneficial Ownership A�er the Offering
 Percentage of Ownership A�er the

Offering
         
Jeffrey J. Guzy (1)         
         
Wm. Barre� Wellman (2)         
         
Roger McLeod         
         
Andrew Cardwell         
         
Jeffrey Delancey         
         
Lamar Resources, LLC (3)         
         
Sandstone Group Corp.**(4)         
         
Newbridge Securi�es Corpora�on**(5)         
         
Bruce Jordan**         
         
Eric Vallejo**         
         
Leonard Sokolow**         

         
Gene Robert Abrams**         

         
MEC Consul�ng Inc. (6)         

         
Belinda Mclain         

         
Wade Patrick Warren         

         
Paul S. Latchford         
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205,001 1,000 4,001 4.98

105,000 1,000 4,000 2.1

2,920,000 500,000 2,420,000 59.07

182,500 182,500 0 0

304,045 100,000 204,045 4.98

243,455 75,000 168,455 4.1

200,444 200,444 0 0

69,806 69,806 0 0

10,000 10,000 0 0

10,000 10,000 0 0

10,000 10,000 0 0

10,000 10,000 0 0

35,000 35,000 0 0

35,000 35,000 0 0

7,500 7,500 0 0

7,500 7,500 0 0



         
Christopher J. Lea�         

         
Michael A. Mason         

         
Charlton Trost         

         
Daniel Johnson         

         
Dewayne Ervin         

         
Charles Fortenberry         

         
Heath Ginn         

         
Jennifer Butler         

         
David Sullivan         

         
Delbert Wood         

         
Victoria Brook         

         
James Walters         

         
Kathleen Adams         

         
Dolores Deasley         

         
Russell Dickerson         

         
Shaun Thornton         

         
Benjamin Berry         

         
Busby Outdoor, LLC
(6)

        

         
Faith Riser         

         
Leighann Lawson         

         
Molly Johnson         

         
Carl Buchanan         

         
Kenzie Keith Turnage         

         
Kyle Graveman         

         
William Edwin
Wildman

        

         
**  Affiliate of registered broker-dealer
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7,500 7,500 0 0

7,500 7,500 0 0

500 500 0 0

500 500 0 0

500 500 0 0

1,000 1,000 0 0

500 500 0 0

500 500 0 0

500 500 0 0

500 500 0 0

500 500 0 0

500 500 0 0

500 500 0 0

500 500 0 0

500 500 0 0

500 500 0 0

500 500 0 0

15,000 15,000 0 0

500 500 0 0

500 500 0 0

500 500 0 0

500 500 0 0

500 500 0 0

500 500 0 0

500 500 0 0



(1)  Jeffrey J. Guzy is Chief Execu�ve Officer and a director of the Company.  The number of shares includes 200,000 shares of Common Stock issuable upon conversion of 20,000 shares of Series A Conver�ble Preferred Stock (the “Series A Preferred Stock”) but does not
include 20,000 shares of Series A Preferred Stock. Each share of the Series A Preferred Stock is conver�ble at the op�on of the holder thereof to ten (10) shares of Common Stock.
 

(2)  Wm. Barre� Wellman is Chief Financial Officer of the Company. The number of shares includes 100,000 shares of Common Stock issuable upon conversion of 10,000 shares of Series A Preferred Stock but does not include 10,000 shares of Series A Preferred Stock. Each
share of the Series A Preferred Stock is conver�ble at the op�on of the holder thereof to ten (10) shares of Common Stock.
 

(3)  Marty Rutland has sole vo�ng and investment power over securi�es held by Lamar Resources, LLC.
 

(4)  Constan�no Gu�errez, the sole stockholder of Sandstone has sole vo�ng and investment power over the securi�es held by Sandstone.
 

(5)  Robert Spitler, the chief financial officer of Newbridge has sole vo�ng and investment power over the securi�es held by Newbridge.
 

(6)  Mark Crone, the sole stockholder of MEC has sole vo�ng and investment power over the securi�es held by MEC.
 

 We may require the Selling Stockholders to suspend the sales of the securi�es offered by this prospectus upon the occurrence of any event that makes any statement in this prospectus, or the related registra�on statement, untrue in any material respect, or that requires the changing
of statements in these documents in order to make statements in those documents not misleading. We will file a post-effec�ve amendment to this registra�on statement to reflect any material changes to this prospectus.
 

All shares of Common Stock that are covered by this prospectus are expected to be freely tradable. The sale by the Selling Stockholders of a significant number of shares registered in this offering at any given �me could cause the market price of our common stock to decline
and to be highly vola�le.

 
 

PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION
 

There has been no market for our securi�es. Our Common Stock is not traded on any exchange or on the over-the-counter market. A�er the effec�ve date of the registra�on statement rela�ng to this prospectus, we hope to have a market maker file an applica�on with FINRA for our
common stock to be eligible for trading on one of the �ers of OTC Markets, Inc. We do not yet have a market maker who has agreed to file such applica�on. The Selling Stockholder will be offering the shares of common stock being covered by this prospectus at a fixed price of $2.00
per share un�l a market develops, if at all, and therea�er at prevailing market prices or privately nego�ated prices.
 
Once a market has developed for our common stock the Selling Stockholders may, from �me to �me, sell, transfer, or otherwise dispose of any or all of their shares on any stock exchange, market, or trading facility on which the shares are traded or in private transac�ons. These
disposi�ons may be at fixed prices, at prevailing market prices at the �me of sale, at prices related to the prevailing market price, at varying prices determined at the �me of sale, or at nego�ated prices. The Selling Stockholders may use any one or more of the following methods when
disposing of shares:
 

on any na�onal securi�es exchange or quota�on service on which the Shares may be listed or quoted at the �me of sale; 
in the over-the-counter market; 
in the transac�ons otherwise than on these exchanges or systems or in the over-the-counter market; 
ordinary brokerage transac�ons and transac�ons in which the broker-dealer solicits purchasers; 
block trades in which the broker-dealer will a�empt to sell the shares as agent, but may posi�on and resell a por�on of the block as principal to facilitate the transac�on; 
purchases by a broker-dealer as principal and resale by the broker-dealer for its account; 
an exchange distribu�on in accordance with the rules of the applicable exchange; 
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privately nego�ated transac�ons; 
short sales; 
through the lis�ng or se�lement of op�ons or other hedging transac�ons, whether such op�ons are listed on an op�ons exchange or otherwise; 
broker-dealers may agree with the Selling Stockholders to sell a specified number of such Shares at a s�pulated price; 
a combina�on of any such methods of sale; and 
any other method permi�ed pursuant to applicable law. 

 
Brokers, dealers, underwriters, or agents par�cipa�ng in the distribu�on of the shares as agents may receive compensa�on in the form of commissions, discounts, or concessions from the Selling Stockholders and/or purchasers of the common stock for whom the broker-dealers may
act as agent. The compensa�on paid to a par�cular broker-dealer may be less than or in excess of customary commissions.
 
The Selling Stockholders and any underwriters, broker-dealers or agents that par�cipate in the sale of the common stock may be “underwriters” within the meaning of Sec�on 2(11) of the Securi�es Act. Any discounts, commissions, concessions or profit they earn on any resale of the
shares may be underwri�ng discounts and commissions under the Securi�es Act. Selling stockholders who are “underwriters” within the meaning of Sec�on 2(11) of the Securi�es Act will be subject to the prospectus delivery requirements of the Securi�es Act.
 
In connec�on with the sale of our common stock, the Selling Stockholders may enter into hedging transac�ons with broker-dealers or other financial ins�tu�ons, which may in turn engage in short sales of the common stock in the course of hedging the posi�ons they assume. The
Selling Stockholders may also sell shares of our common stock short and deliver shares to close out their short posi�ons, or loan or pledge the common stock to broker-dealers that in turn may sell such shares.
 
Neither we nor the Selling Stockholders can presently es�mate the amount of compensa�on that any agent will receive. We know of no exis�ng arrangements between the Selling Stockholders, any other shareholder, broker, dealer, underwriter, or agent rela�ng to the sale or
distribu�on of the shares offered by this prospectus. At the �me a par�cular offer of shares is made, a prospectus supplement, if required, will be distributed that will set forth the names of any agents, underwriters, or dealers and any compensa�on from the selling shareholder, and
any other required informa�on.
 
We will pay all of the expenses incident to the registra�on, offering, and sale of the shares to the public other than commissions or discounts of underwriters, broker-dealers, or agents. Any commissions, discounts or other fees payable to brokers-dealers in connec�on with any sale of
the shares of common stock will be borne by the Selling Stockholders, the purchasers par�cipa�ng in such transac�on, or both.
  
Insofar as indemnifica�on for liabili�es arising under the Securi�es Act may be permi�ed to our directors, officers, and controlling persons, we have been advised that in the opinion of the SEC this indemnifica�on is against public policy as expressed in the Securi�es Act and is
therefore, unenforceable.
 
We have advised the Selling Stockholders that the an�-manipula�on rules of Regula�on M under the Exchange Act may apply to sales of shares in the market and to the ac�vi�es of the selling stockholders and their affiliates. In addi�on, we will make copies of this prospectus (as it
may be supplemented or amended from �me to �me) available to the selling stockholders for the purpose of sa�sfying the prospectus delivery requirements of the Securi�es Act. The Selling Stockholders may indemnify any broker-dealer that par�cipates in transac�ons involving the
sale of the shares against certain liabili�es, including liabili�es arising under the Securi�es Act.
 
We and the Selling Stockholders will be subject to applicable provisions of the Exchange Act and the rules and regula�ons under it, including, without limita�on, Rule 10b-5.
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This offering will terminate on the date that all shares offered by this prospectus have been sold by the selling stockholders.
 
Under the securi�es laws of some states, the shares may be sold in such states only through registered or licensed brokers or dealers. In addi�on, in some states the shares may not be sold unless such shares have been registered or qualified for sale in such state or an exemp�on from
registra�on or qualifica�on is available and is complied with.
 
Our common stock is not quoted on any exchange and there is no market for our common stock.
 

DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES
 

The following descrip�on of our capital stock is only a summary and is qualified in its en�rety by the provisions of our Ar�cles of Incorpora�on, as amended and restated, and our By-laws, which have been filed as exhibits to the registra�on statement of which this prospectus forms a
part. Our authorized stock is consis�ng of 300,000,000 shares of Common Stock and 50,000,000 shares of preferred stock, par value $0.10 per share. As of the date of this prospectus, 4,096,751 shares of Common Stock and 30,000 shares of Series A Preferred Stock are issued and
outstanding.

 
Common Stock

Holders of the Company’s Common Stock are en�tled to one (1) vote per share on all ma�ers requiring or presented for a shareholder vote. There are no pre-emp�ve or cumula�ve vo�ng rights for the Common Stock.   The right to dividends for the issued shares of Common Stock are
subordinate to the dividend distribu�on rights of any series of the Preferred Stock, unless an authorized series of preferred stock provides otherwise.   Holders of Common Stock are en�tled to the distribu�on of the balance of any assets available for distribu�on among the
stockholders of Common Stock ratably according to the number of shares Common Stock held by them, respec�vely, subject to the rights of the stockholders of preferred stock, on a return of capital on a liquida�on, reduc�on of capital or otherwise (other than on a repurchase of
shares).  
 
Preferred Stock
 
The Board of Directors may determine the designa�on, rights, preferences, authorized shares, and obliga�ons of each series of Preferred Stock. The crea�on of a series of preferred stock requires an amendment to the Company’s Ar�cles of Incorpora�on. Under the Virginia Stock
Corpora�on Act of the Code of Virginia, 1950, as amended (“VSCA”), a corpora�on’s Ar�cles of Incorpora�on may be amended if adopted and declared advisable by the board of directors and approved by holders of a majority of the outstanding shares en�tled to vote.
 
Series A Preferred Stock.
 
On January 23, 2020, the Company amended its Amended and Restated Ar�cles of Incorpora�on and created and authorized 50,000 shares of Series A Preferred Stock.  The shares of Series A Preferred Stock are: (i) not en�tled to dividends; (ii) conver�ble on demand of holder to, and
upon occurrence of a merger or other significant corporate transac�on into, 10 shares of Company Common Stock; (iii) en�tled to a 1% per share liquida�on dividend with preference over liquida�on distribu�on to shares of Common Stock; and (iv) en�tled to one vote per share on all
ma�ers presented for stockholders approval and vote with the shares of Common Stock as a single class of vo�ng securi�es, except for the following corporate ac�ons that require a separate approval of holders of shares of Series A Stock by a majority vote: (a) to alter or change the
rights, preferences or privileges of the Series A Preferred Stock that can materially and adversely affect such shares; (b) to amend the Amended and Restated Ar�cles of Incorpora�on, as amended, or Bylaws of the Corpora�on in a manner which materially and adversely affects the
rights, preferences or privileges of the Series A Preferred Stock; or (c) to create, or authorize the crea�on of, or issue or obligate itself to issue shares  of, any addi�onal class or series of capital stock or other securi�es, unless the same ranks junior to or equal to the Series A Preferred
Stock with respect to the distribu�on of assets on the liquida�on, dissolu�on or  winding up of the Corpora�on and the payment of dividends or other payments or distribu�ons.   On
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January 4, 2021, the Company issued 20,000 shares of Series A conver�ble preferred stock to Jeffrey J. Guzy, our Chief Execu�ve Officer and 10,000 shares of Series A conver�ble stock to Wm. Barre� Wellman, the Chief Financial Officers.  Each share of Series A Stock is conver�ble at
the op�on of the holder to ten (10) shares of Common Stock.

 
Warrants, Op�ons and Other Conver�ble Securi�es
 
As of June 23, 2021, the Company did not issue warrants or op�ons to purchase shares of Common Stock. Except for the 30,000 Series A Preferred Stock, conver�ble into 300,000 shares of Common Stock, the Company does not have any outstanding securi�es that may be converted
into shares of Common Stock.
 
Transfer Agent
 
The transfer agent and registrar for our common stock is Equity Stock Transfer LLC, with an address of 237 W 37th St. Suite 602, New York, NY 10018, and telephone number: 212.575.5757.
 
Virginia An�-Takeover Statutes
 
 Virginia law contains provisions governing affiliated transac�ons. In general, these provisions prohibit a Virginia corpora�on from engaging in affiliated transac�ons with any holder of more than 10 percent of any class of its outstanding vo�ng shares, or an interested stockholder, for a
period of three years following the date that such person became an interested stockholder unless:  (i) a majority of (not fewer than two) disinterested directors of the corpora�on and the holders of two-thirds of the vo�ng shares, other than the shares beneficially owned by the
interested stockholder, approve the affiliated transac�on; or (ii) before or on the date the person became an interested stockholder, a majority of disinterested directors approved the transac�on that resulted in the shareholder becoming an interested stockholder.   Affiliated
transac�ons subject to this approval requirement include mergers, share exchanges, material disposi�ons of corporate assets not in the ordinary course of business, any dissolu�on of the corpora�on proposed by or on behalf of an interested shareholder or any reclassifica�on,
including reverse stock splits, recapitaliza�ons or mergers of the corpora�on with its subsidiaries, which increases the percentage of vo�ng shares owned beneficially by an interested shareholder by more than five percent.

 
Under the VSCA, a corpora�on can elect to be exempted from this statutory provision by placing a statement to that effect in its ar�cles of incorpora�on and exempts certain corpora�ons from the affiliated transac�on statutory provision. While Our Ar�cles of Incorpora�on

do not contain this specific exemp�on from this Virginia statute regarding affiliated transac�ons, the Company qualifies for a statutory exemp�on because it is a publicly traded corpora�on with less than 300 shareholders.
 
Virginia law also permits a corpora�on to exempt itself from this statutory provision by placing a statement to that effect in its ar�cles of incorpora�on. We have adopted such exemp�on in our Ar�cles of Incorpora�on. 

 
DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

 
Overview
 

We are an early-stage corpora�on seeking to become an independent energy company focused on the acquisi�on and subsequent exploita�on and development of crude oil in the Gulf States Drill Region.  The Company was incorporated on November 13, 2017, under the
laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia to acquire, fund, and operate oil explora�on and produc�on from assets in the Gulf States Drill Region. We have no revenue-genera�ng opera�ons as of the date of this prospectus. The Company operates through Barrister, its wholly owned
subsidiary which business we acquired in November 2020 upon the consumma�on of the Acquisi�on.  We intend to acquire assignments of hydrocarbon revenues and underlying oil and gas explora�on and produc�on rights.
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Market Opportunity
 

We believe that we can establish a profitable niche in crude oil produc�on due to the quality of the light sweet crude oil produced from the Gulf States Region, which is cheaper to refine than crude oil from other regions of the U.S. and Canada, especially the “dirty” crude oil extracted
from North Dakota and Western Canada oil fields using shale fracking.  This op�mism is due in part to the increasing percentage of worldwide crude oil produc�on from the U.S.  According to a 2017 study by Louisiana State University: “During this past decade, not only did the U.S.
experience historical increases in oil and gas produc�on, but it was one of the only countries in the world experiencing large increases in produc�on. This is because these horizontal drilling and hydraulic fracturing techniques used to extract resources from shale geological forma�ons
were discovered and perfected in the Gulf Coast region of the U.S.
 
Business Strategies

Our long-term objec�ve is to create shareholder value by iden�fying and assembling a por�olio of low-risk crude oil produc�on assets with a�rac�ve economic profiles, and our short-term objec�ve is the leveraging of the technical and managerial exper�se of our proposed contractor
opera�ons team to deliver consistently profitable results from exis�ng oil wells. Our geographical focus is the Gulf States Region due to its light grade oil which is cheaper to process than other forms of crude oil and due to the ability to tap oil reserves without fracking.  

Compe��ve Strengths

Use of Contractors.  

Barrister has highly experienced principals who have significant prior experience in oil and gas produc�on in the Gulf States Drilling Region.  We are relying upon the experience of the former owners of Barrister in the ini�al phases of implemen�ng the business plan.  The Company
believes that the use of contractors will allow us to engage experienced personnel to manage day-to-day opera�ons without incurring the addi�onal overhead imposed by full-�me employees and will provide flexibility in engaging opera�onal personnel.  Currently we engage COP as a
contractor to operate the limited oil and gas produc�on drilling and storage opera�ons for the Barrister Oil Rights and to manage Barrister’s drilling opera�ons.  We also engaged Jeffrey Delancey, our former Chief Execu�ve Officer, who is currently is taking the lead on the part-�me
management of Barrister. Mr. Delancey has over twenty-nine years of direct oilfield opera�ng experience.  He also has extensive experience with opera�ons and administra�on in an independent oil and gas produc�on company and relies on contract operators to provide experienced
personnel to handle all essen�al crude oil produc�on on a day-to-day basis for Barrister.   The use of contractors it is deemed the most efficient and cost-effec�ve means of opera�ons for a small independent oil and gas produc�on company and is designed to allow the Company to use
experienced oil drilling and produc�on personnel without the high overhead costs of hiring personnel as employees of the Company. With adequate funding, the Company intends to employ this teaming model strategy to help a�ract and retain experienced oil industry engineering
and produc�on personnel to iden�fy drill sites and then efficiently operate those wells to produce oil at an above average industry rate of efficiency in the Gulf States region.

Focus on Underexploited Oil Leases and Rights.  

The Company will target oil leases and rights similar to Barrister as possible future acquisi�ons.  The latest “Cer�fied SEC Reserves Analysis and Valua�on Study and Report”, prepared by NOVA Resource Incorporated, dated November 2, 2020, shows oil reserves and exis�ng producing
wells but has not been fully exploited with deep drilling rigs.  CoJax is seeking underexploited oil leases and rights in the Gulf States Drilling Region with reserve reports and one or more drilling rigs, even if exploratory or not deep drilling rigs, which taken together indicate that the oil
leases and rights have poten�al, substan�al oil produc�on capability – substan�al for a small independent oil produc�on company.  CoJax does not seek oil leases and rights with produc�ve deep drilling rigs as those proper�es o�en require funding or working capital beyond CoJax’s
current means and projected future funding and working capital. Generally, the
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oil fields in the southern part of the Gulf States Drilling Region are less expensive to drill due to nature of rock strata and depth of the oil reserves.  Barrister is in the southern part of the Gulf States Drilling Region. CoJax will seek acquisi�ons that can be obtained for stock or other
securi�es or under an earn out arrangement and prefers acquiring companies which hold oil leases and rights rather than acquiring individual oil leases and rights.  CoJax’s preference is to acquire companies with several oil leases and rights as opposed to acquiring individual oil leases
and rights.  The acquisi�on of a company has the perceived advantages of acquiring several oil leases and rights and exis�ng drilling opera�ons with in-place management in a single transac�on along with possibly reduced due diligence costs and more expedi�ous closing of the
transac�on.

Our Growth Strategy
 

Our teaming approach is also designed to facilitate rapid growth by bringing necessary exper�se into opera�ons from available contractors.  Our ability to realize profitability from oil produc�on depends on success of deep drill wells, engaging necessary opera�ons exper�se and
market price for crude oil remaining at a�rac�ve per-barrel levels, which we believe is $50 or more per barrel. If we have adequate funding and/or sufficient cash flow, then we may seek to drill for oil in other assignee or leasehold interests or, alterna�vely, in oil and gas assignee or
leasehold interests or proper�es owned by our poten�al affiliates or teaming partners.
 
Through established networks of contacts, the Company markets its crude oil produc�on, whether current or future, on a month-to-month basis. If produc�on of oil increases from the Barrister Oil Rights, CoJax-Barrister will have to expand the marke�ng efforts by engaging a person
or firm to seek out new customers for the oil produc�on in case the current customer base of Barrister is unable or unwilling to purchase increased oil produc�on. The cost means and extent of any enhanced future marke�ng effort will depend on the amount of increased oil
produc�on, the then current market for oil and the poten�al customer base for the oil produc�on. If the exis�ng customer base will not purchase increased oil produc�on, then the engagement of a dedicated marke�ng person who engages in direct marke�ng, by telephone and
internet, of poten�al customers for oil produc�on may be required for sale of any future increase of oil produc�on.
 
Compe��on
 
 The Company is undercapitalized to properly exploit Barrister’s exis�ng oil proper�es or acquire new oil and gas proper�es for exploita�on. These oil proper�es were acquired by Barrister in June 2019, and since that �me, Barrister has not expanded the produc�on, acquired new oil
proper�es, or improved opera�ons.  The Company has insufficient cash flow or funding to grow its core business opera�ons.  As such, the Company id not an ac�ve compe�tor or commercial presence even among local, small independent oil producers. Addi�onal funding will be
required to not only increase oil produc�on but also to enhance distribu�on and marke�ng efforts. 
 
There are many large, medium, and small-sized compe�tors in the Gulf States Drilling Region (including off-shore drilling in the Gulf of Mexico) and adjacent areas which have extensive opera�onal histories, experienced oil and gas industry management, established market share,
profitable opera�ons, and extensive poten�al oil and gas fields or leases to exploit and the cash or funding resources to explore new oil and gas fields as well as fully exploit exis�ng oil fields.  There is also an established oil and gas produc�on industry in northern Alaska and in North
Dakota and western Canada (where fracking has made available significant oil and gas reserves in shale forma�ons). Barrister cannot match the resources, whether financial, technical, manpower, size of proven crude oil reserves, and distribu�on channels, of its compe��on in the Gulf
States Drilling Region or elsewhere.  Barrister’s current oil produc�on is not sufficient to concern or a�ract the a�en�on of compe�tors, which allows Barrister to operate as a small provider of oil without compe��ve pressures.  If we significantly increase oil produc�on, we will face
increasing compe��on from other small independent oil producers selling limited amounts of oil. Any increase in compe��ve pressures will require investment in a full-�me marke�ng effort by the Company. 
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Government Regula�on
 
We are subject to a number of federal, state, and local laws and other requirements rela�ng to the oil and natural gas opera�ons.  These laws and regula�ons affec�ng the oil and natural gas industry is under constant review for amendment or expansion. Some of these requirements
carry substan�al penal�es for failure to comply. The regulatory burden on the oil and natural gas industry increases our cost of doing business and, consequently, can affect our profitability.
 
 Regula�on of Drilling and Produc�on
 
 The produc�on of oil and natural gas is subject to regula�on under a wide range of local, state, and federal statutes, rules, orders and regula�ons. Federal, state, and local statutes and regula�ons require permits for drilling opera�ons, drilling bonds and reports concerning opera�ons.
The trend in oil and natural gas regula�on has been to increase regulatory restric�ons and limita�ons on such ac�vi�es. Any changes in, or more stringent enforcement of, these laws and regula�ons may result in delays or restric�ons in permi�ng or development of projects or more
stringent or costly construc�on, drilling, water management or comple�on ac�vi�es or waste handling, storage, transport, remedia�on, or disposal emission or discharge requirements which could have a material adverse effect on the Company. For example, on January 20, 2021, the
Biden Administra�on placed a 60-day moratorium on new oil and gas leasing and drilling permits on federal land, and on January 27, 2021, the Department of Interior ac�ng pursuant to a Presiden�al Execu�ve Order suspended the federal oil and gas leasing program indefinitely. The
Biden Administra�on has also announced that it intends to review the Trump Administra�on’s 2017 repeal of the 2015 rule regula�ng hydraulic fracturing ac�vi�es in federal land under the Presiden�al Execu�ve Order on Protec�ng Public Health and the Environment and Restoring
Science to Tackle the Climate Crisis. While we do not have a significant federal lands acreage posi�on at 240 net acres, these ac�ons could have a material adverse effect on the Company and our industry.
 
Currently, all of our proper�es and opera�ons are in Alabama, which has regula�ons governing conserva�on ma�ers, such as the uni�za�on or pooling of oil and natural gas proper�es, the establishment of maximum allowable rates of produc�on from oil and natural gas wells, the
regula�on of well spacing, and plugging and abandonment of wells. The effect of these regula�ons is to limit the amount of oil and natural gas that we can produce from our wells and to limit the number of wells or the loca�ons at which we can drill, although we can apply for
excep�ons to such regula�ons or to have reduc�ons in well spacing. Moreover, both Alabama imposes a produc�on or severance tax with respect to the produc�on and sale of oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids within their jurisdic�ons. The failure to comply with these rules and
regula�ons can result in substan�al penal�es. Our compe�tors in the oil and natural gas industry are subject to the same regulatory requirements and restric�ons that affect our opera�ons.
 
Regula�on of Transporta�on of Oil
 
Sales of crude oil, condensate and natural gas liquids are not currently regulated and are made at nego�ated prices; however, Congress could reenact price controls in the future. Our sales of crude oil are affected by the availability, terms, and cost of transporta�on. The transporta�on
of oil in common carrier pipelines is also subject to rate regula�on. The Federal Energy Regulatory Commission, or the FERC, regulates interstate oil pipeline transporta�on rates under the Interstate Commerce Act. Intrastate oil pipeline transporta�on rates are subject to regula�on by
state regulatory commissions. The basis for intrastate oil pipeline regula�on, and the degree of regulatory oversight and scru�ny given to intrastate oil pipeline rates, varies from state to state. Insofar as effec�ve interstate and intrastate rates are equally applicable to all comparable
shippers, we believe that the regula�on of oil transporta�on rates will not affect our opera�ons in any way that is of material difference from those of our compe�tors. Further, interstate, and intrastate common carrier oil pipelines must provide service on a non-discriminatory basis.
Under this open access standard, common carriers must offer service to all shippers reques�ng service on the same terms and under the same rates. When oil pipelines operate at full capacity, access is governed by pro-ra�oning provisions set forth in the pipelines’ published tariffs.
Accordingly, we believe that access to oil pipeline transporta�on services generally will be available to us to the same extent as to our compe�tors.
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Regula�on of Transporta�on and Sale of Natural Gas
 
Historically, the transporta�on and sale for resale of natural gas in interstate commerce have been regulated pursuant to the Natural Gas Act of 1938, the Natural Gas Policy Act of 1978 and regula�ons issued under those Acts by the FERC. In the past, the federal government has
regulated the prices at which natural gas could be sold. While sales by producers of natural gas can currently be made at uncontrolled market prices, Congress could reenact price controls in the future.
 
Since 1985, the FERC has endeavored to make natural gas transporta�on more accessible to natural gas buyers and sellers on an open and non-discriminatory basis. The FERC has stated that open access policies are necessary to improve the compe��ve structure of the interstate
natural gas pipeline industry and to create a regulatory framework that will put natural gas sellers into more direct contractual rela�ons with natural gas buyers by, among other things, unbundling the sale of natural gas from the sale of transporta�on and storage services. Although the
FERC’s orders do not directly regulate natural gas producers, they are intended to foster increased compe��on within all phases of the natural gas industry. We cannot accurately predict whether the FERC’s ac�ons will achieve the goal of increasing compe��on in markets in which our
natural gas is sold. Therefore, we cannot provide any assurance that the less stringent regulatory approach established by the FERC will con�nue. However, we do not believe that any ac�on taken will affect us in a way that materially differs from the way it affects other natural gas
producers.
 
Intrastate natural gas transporta�on is subject to regula�on by state regulatory agencies. The basis for intrastate regula�on of natural gas transporta�on and the degree of regulatory oversight and scru�ny given to intrastate natural gas pipeline rates and services varies from state to
state. Insofar as such regula�on within a par�cular state will generally affect all intrastate natural gas shippers within the state on a comparable basis, we believe that the regula�on of similarly situated intrastate natural gas transporta�on in any states in which we operate and ship
natural gas on an intrastate basis will not affect our opera�ons in any way that is of material difference from those of our compe�tors.
 
 Barrister Oil Rights
 
Descrip�on of Barrister Oil Proper�es and Oil Produc�on Opera�ons.  
 
The Company currently has a leased land package of approximately 700 acres in Southwest Alabama, in one con�guous land package.  It also has two producing wells, a saltwater disposal well, a three-mile gas transmission line along with gathering systems, and storage tanks for
approximately 1,500 barrels.   

 
Reserve Value.  A cer�fied SEC Reserves Analysis and Valua�on Study, prepared by NOVA Resource Incorporated, dated November 2, 2020, stated that Barrister has a PV-10 net Reserve Value of approximately $33.975 million. This report includes assump�ons of PADD3 Gulf Coast
Pricing of $45.66 per barrel of Light Louisiana Sweet, and for Proved Un-Developed reserves of five addi�onal wells that remain to be drilled on the exis�ng acreage.

Energy Produc�on in Alabama.  The State of Alabama is located in the Southeastern United States alongside the Gulf of Mexico and has been producing petroleum since 1940s.  While the peak of oil produc�on in Alabama was in the 1980s, according to the U.S. Department of Energy’s
Energy Informa�on Administra�on.  As of 2020, Alabama was ranked 20th among the states in produc�on of oil and natural gas combined and is producing oil at an annual rate of 3.2 million barrels of oil (based on 9,000 barrels a day as of June 2020).  Alabama's major oil and gas-
producing regions are in the western and southwestern part of the state.   

The Smackover Trend.  The Smackover trend is a belt of carbonate, evaporite, and clas�c rocks of Late Jurassic age that rims the Gulf Coast of the United States from Texas, up to Arkansas, throughout Louisiana, Mississippi, Southwest Alabama, and all the way to the Florida panhandle.
 Stra�graphic and geochemical data indicate that the oil and gas were generated from algal-rich lime mudstones.  It was named a�er the Smackover oil field, which was discovered in Union County, Arkansas, in 1937.   
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Current Drilling on Barrister Energy Drill Region.  There are three wells in the Barrister Energy Drill Region, which have produced oil and gas since 1996. Currently, two of these three wells are in produc�on, and one well is used as a saltwater disposal well. We own approximately 95%
working interest with a 79% net revenue interest as of June 1, 2019, the acquisi�on date for Barrister.  The two producers are Nall 16-3 #1 and the Ne�les 9-12 #1.

The historical 8/8th produc�on (gross produc�on) of these oil wells for the fiscal years 1996 – 2015, 2016, 2017, 2018, 2019, and 2020 are summarized in the table below.

Barrister DRILL REGION PRODUCTION

Nall 16-3 #1 and Ne�le 9-12 #1

Year 8/8th Total Oil Produced (bbl) Total Gas Produced (mcf)

1996 – 2015 *   
2016 *   
2017 *   
2018 *   
2019 *   

2020 **   
Total   

* Historical produc�on prior to the acquisi�on of rights by CoJax.

** Current produc�on and historical produc�on prior to the acquisi�on of rights by CoJax and post acquisi�on.

 
Disclosure of Reserves: Summary of Oil and Gas Reserves at December 31, 2020.  The table below summarizes the oil-equivalent proved reserves in each geographic area and by product type for consolidated subsidiaries. The Company has reported proved reserves based on the
average of the first day-of-the-month price for each month during the last 12-month period. Gas is converted to an oil-equivalent basis at six million cubic feet per one thousand barrels. No significant discovery or other favorable or adverse event has occurred since December 31, 2020,
that would cause a substan�al change in the es�mated proved reserves as of that date.  
 

 Crude Natural Gas  Synthe�c Natural
Oil-

Equivalent 
 Oil Liquids Bitumen Oil Gas Basis
 (bbls) (bbls) (bbls) (bbls) (cubic �) (bbls)
Proved Reserves       
Developed       
Consolidated Subsidiaries       
United States       
Total Consolidated       
       
Undeveloped       
Consolidated Subsidiaries       
United States       
Total Consolidated       
       
Total Proved Reserves       
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225,300 53,175
1,335 -
4,371 -
2,919 -
1,397 -

183 -
235,505 53,175

127,520 - - - - 127,520
127,520 - - - - 127,520

2,978,136 - - - - 2,978,136
2,978,136 - - - - 2,978,136

3,105,656 - - - - 3,105,656



Proved Undeveloped Reserves 
 
At December 31, 2020, approximately 2,978,136 oil-equivalent barrels (“OEB”) of Barrister Oil Rights are proved reserves were classified as proved undeveloped. This classifica�on represents 95 percent of the 3,105,656 OEB reported in proved reserves.
 
Oil and Gas Produc�on, Produc�on Prices and Produc�on Costs 
 
Oil and Gas Produc�on 
The table below summarizes produc�on by final product sold and by geographic area for the last four years. 
 

 2020 2019 2018 2017

 (8/8th barrels of oil produced at year-end)

Crude oil and natural gas liquids produc�on
Crude

Oil NGL
Crude

Oil NGL
Crude

Oil NGL
Crude

Oil NGL
 Consolidated Subsidiaries         
  United States         
   Total Consolidated Subsidiaries         
Total crude oil & natural gas liquids produc�on         

            
Bitumen produc�on         
 Consolidated Subsidiaries         
  United States         
            
Synthe�c oil produc�on         
 Consolidated Subsidiaries         
  United States         
Total liquids produc�on         
            

    (8/8th barrels of oil produced at year-end)
Natural gas produc�on available for sale         
 Consolidated Subsidiaries         
  United States         
   Total Consolidated Subsidiaries         
            
Total natural gas produc�on available for sale         
    (thousands of oil-equivalent barrels at year-end)
Oil-equivalent produc�on         

 
Produc�on Prices and Produc�on Costs. The table below summarizes average produc�on prices and average produc�on costs by geographic area and by product type for the last three years. 
 

    United States Total
      

During 2020   
 Consolidated Subsidiaries   
  Average produc�on prices   
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183 - 1,397 - 2,919 - 4,371 -
183 - 1,397 - 2,919 - 4,371 -

- - - - - - - -

- - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - -

- - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - -

- - - - - - - -

- - - - - - - -



   Crude oil, per barrel   
   NGL, per barrel   
   Natural gas, per thousand cubic feet   
   Bitumen, per barrel   
   Synthe�c oil, per barrel   
  Average produc�on costs, per oil-equivalent barrel – total   
  Average produc�on costs, per barrel – bitumen   
  Average produc�on costs, per barrel - synthe�c oil   
    
During 2019   
 Consolidated Subsidiaries   
  Average produc�on prices   

   Crude oil, per barrel   
   NGL, per barrel   
   Natural gas, per thousand cubic feet   
   Bitumen, per barrel   
   Synthe�c oil, per barrel   
  Average produc�on costs, per oil-equivalent barrel – total   
  Average produc�on costs, per barrel – bitumen   
  Average produc�on costs, per barrel - synthe�c oil   
    
During 2018   
 Consolidated Subsidiaries   
  Average produc�on prices   
   Crude oil, per barrel   
   NGL, per barrel   
   Natural gas, per thousand cubic feet   
   Bitumen, per barrel   
   Synthe�c oil, per barrel   
  Average produc�on costs, per oil-equivalent barrel – total   
  Average produc�on costs, per barrel – bitumen   
  Average produc�on costs, per barrel - synthe�c oil   

 
Average produc�on prices have been calculated by using sales quan��es from Barrister’s produc�on as the divisor. Average produc�on costs have been computed by using net produc�on quan��es for the divisor. The volumes of crude oil and natural gas liquids (“NGL”) produc�on
used for this computa�on are shown in the oil and gas produc�on table. The volumes of natural gas used in the calcula�on are the produc�on volumes of natural gas available for sale and are also shown. The natural gas available for sale volumes may be different from those shown in
the reserves table in the “Oil and Gas Reserves” part of the “Supplemental Informa�on on Oil and Gas Explora�on and Produc�on Ac�vi�es” por�on of the Financial Sec�ons of this report due to volumes consumed or flared. Gas is converted to an oil-equivalent basis at six million
cubic feet per one thousand barrels.  
 
Oil and Gas Proper�es, Wells, Opera�ons, and Acreage 
 
Gross and Net Produc�ve Wells 

     Year-End 2020 Year-End 2019 Year-End 2018
    Oil Gas Oil Gas Oil Gas
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45.66 45..66
- -
- -
- -
- -

32.13 32.13
- -
- -

58.88 58.88
- -
- -
- -
- -

32.13 32.13
- -
- -

66.06 66.06
- -
- -
- -
- -

33.45 33.45
- -
- -



    Gross Net Gross Net Gross Net Gross Net Gross Net Gross Net
Gross and Net Produc�ve Wells             
 Consolidated Subsidiaries             
  United States             

   Total Consolidated
Subsidiaries

            

                
Total gross and net produc�ve
wells

            

 
There were 3 gross, and 1.8 net operated wells at December 31, 2020, December 31, 2019, and December 31, 2018. 
 
Gross and Net Developed Acreage   

    Year-End 2020 Year-End 2019 Year-End 2018
    Gross Net Gross Net Gross Net
    (acres)
Gross and Net Developed Acreage       
 Consolidated Subsidiaries      
  United States       
   Total Consolidated Subsidiaries       
          
Total gross and net developed acreage       

Separate acreage data for oil and gas are not maintained because, in many instances, both are produced from the same acreage. 
 
 
 Gross and Net Undeveloped Acreage

    Year-End 2020 Year-End 2019 Year-End 2018
    Gross Net Gross Net Gross Net
    (acres)
Gross and Net Undeveloped Acreage       
 Consolidated Subsidiaries       
  United States       
   Total Consolidated Subsidiaries       
          
Total gross and net undeveloped acreage       

Separate acreage data for oil and gas are not maintained because, in many instances, both are produced from the same acreage. 
 
Barrister’s investment in developed and undeveloped acreage is comprised of numerous leases.  The List of Leases is included as Exhibit 99.2 to our 2020 10-K Annual Report. The terms and condi�ons under which Barrister maintains explora�on and produc�on rights to the acreage
are property-specific, contractually defined, and vary significantly from property to property. Work programs are designed to ensure that the explora�on poten�al of any property is thoroughly evaluated before expira�on. In some instances, Barrister may elect to relinquish acreage in
advance of the contractual expira�on date if the evalua�on process is complete, and there is not a business basis for the extension. In cases where addi�onal �me may be required to evaluate acreage fully, Barrister has generally been successful in obtaining extensions. The scheduled
expira�on of leases and concessions for undeveloped acreage over the next three years is not expected to have a material adverse impact on Barrister. 
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3.0 1.8 - - 3.0 1.8 - - 3.0 1.8 - -

3.0 1.8 - - 3.0 1.8 - - 3.0 1.8 - -

3.0 1.8 - - 3.0 1.8 - - 3.0 1.8 - -

370 352 370 352 370 352
370 352 370 352 370 352

370 352 370 352 370 352

700 700 2,992 2,244 2,992 2,244
700 700 2.992 2,244 2,992 2,244

700 700 2,992 2,244 2,992 2,244



 
Employees
 
We have two full-�me employees:  Jeffrey J. Guzy, our Chief Execu�ve Officer and our sole Director, and Wm. Barre� Wellman, our Chief Financial Officer. The officers devote the number of hours necessary to perform their du�es, which each officer in his sole discre�on determines
extent of the �me commitment.

 
Subsidiaries
 
The wholly owned subsidiary, Barrister Energy, LLC is the Company’s only subsidiary.
 

 
DESCRIPTION OF PROPERTY

 
We do not own any real property. We rent our principal execu�ve offices at 3033 Wilson Boulevard, Suite E-605, Arlington, Virginia 22201, under a month-to-month lease and for a monthly rental of $50.  This office space is deemed adequate for current needs of our execu�ve
management and corporate headquarters.   We believe that this property is sufficient for our current and proposed business. Barrister does not own any real property as well. Barrister has an agreement for use of office space on an as needed basis at no cost provided by Andrew
Cardwell, our shareholder, and a former member of Barrister. The premises are suitable and adequate for Barrister’s current opera�ons.
 

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
 

There are no pending legal proceedings to which we are a party or in which any director, officer or affiliate of ours, any owner of record or beneficially of more than 5% of any class of our vo�ng securi�es, or security holder is a party adverse to us or has a material interest adverse to
us.
 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
 
The following discussion of the financial condi�on and results of opera�ons should be read in conjunc�on with the financial statements and the notes to those statements appearing in this prospectus. Some of the informa�on contained in this discussion and analysis or set forth

elsewhere in this prospectus, including informa�on with respect to our plans and strategy for our business, includes forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertain�es. You should read the “Risk Factors” sec�on of this prospectus for a discussion of important factors that
could cause actual results to differ materially from the results described in or implied by the forward-looking statements contained in the following discussion and analysis. The various sec�ons of this discussion contain forward-looking statements, all of which are based on our current
expecta�ons and could be affected by the uncertain�es and risk factors described throughout this prospectus as well as other ma�ers over which we have no control. See “Cau�onary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements.” Our actual results may differ materially. The Company
does not undertake any obliga�on to update forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances occurring a�er the date of this prospectus.
 
Overview

CoJax is a growth oriented independent explora�on and produc�on company based in Arlington, Virginia and is engaged in oil and natural gas development, produc�on, acquisi�on, and explora�on ac�vi�es currently focused on the Gulf States Region. The Company is currently
engaged in oil and natural gas acquisi�on, explora�on, development, and produc�on in Alabama. We focus on developing our exis�ng proper�es, while con�nuing to pursue acquisi�ons of oil and gas proper�es with upside poten�al.  Our goal is to increase stockholder value by
inves�ng in oil and natural gas projects with a�rac�ve rates of return on capital employed. We plan to achieve this goal by exploi�ng and developing our exis�ng oil and natural gas proper�es and pursuing strategic acquisi�ons of

40



addi�onal proper�es, while remaining cash flow posi�ve, maintaining low opera�ng costs and striving to show a gain in annual produc�on while reducing the Company’s debt.

Since our incep�on, we have incurred opera�ng losses. We have not generated posi�ve cash flows from opera�ons, and there are no assurances that we will be successful in obtaining an adequate level of financing for the development and commercializa�on of our proposed oil
explora�on and produc�on business. These factors raise substan�al doubt about our ability to con�nue as a going concern. We expect to incur expenses and opera�ng losses for the foreseeable future as we seek to implement our business plan.  Due to its limited revenues, the
acquisi�on of Barrister does not remedy substan�al doubts about our ability as a going concern. Acquisi�on of the Barrister Oil Rights does not enhance our asset base for debt financing because the Barrister Oil Rights are secured by a first senior lien held by COP under the COP
Agreements. If we do not raise addi�onal working capital, we will not be unable to con�nue opera�ons, which could result in the rescission of the acquisi�on of Barrister if that failure occurs prior to July 1, 2021 and cons�tutes a trigger event for a rescission of the Exchange.  Loss of
Barrister’s business would leave CoJax without any opera�ng assets or revenues. In any liquida�on of CoJax, there would not be sufficient assets for distribu�on of assets or money to the Company’s stockholders.  The Company has been unable to raise addi�onal capital as of the date
of this prospectus, other than personal loans by Jeffrey J. Guzy, CoJax’s Chief Execu�ve Officer and Chairman of the Board of Directors, and $53,000 raised in the Primary Offering.  

We con�nuously evaluate poten�al acquisi�ons and development opportuni�es. To the extent possible, we intend to acquire producing proper�es and/or developed undrilled proper�es rather than exploratory proper�es.  We do not intend to limit our evalua�on to any one state.  We
presently have no inten�on to evaluate offshore proper�es or proper�es located outside of the United States.

Reserve engineering is a process of es�ma�ng underground accumula�ons of oil that cannot be measured in an exact way. The accuracy of any reserve es�mate depends on the quality of available data, the interpreta�on of such data and price and cost assump�ons made by reserve
engineers. In addi�on, the results of drilling, tes�ng, and produc�on ac�vi�es may jus�fy revisions of es�mates that were made previously. If significant, such revisions would change the schedule of any further produc�on and development drilling. Accordingly, reserve es�mates may
differ significantly from the quan��es of oil that are ul�mately recovered.  When we acquire oil explora�on and produc�on leases and rights, we will use oil reserve reports as one factor in deciding whether to drill in the property of a specific oil lease or right.  Reserve es�mates
depend on many assump�ons that may turn out to be inaccurate. Any material inaccuracies in reserve es�mates or underlying assump�ons will materially affect the quan��es and present value of oil from a drilling site.

Acquisi�on of Barrister
 
On November 17, 2020, the Company completed the Acquisi�on and acquired the oil and gas proper�es of Barrister. As the result of the Acquisi�on, CoJax acquired Barrister’s business and its business plan, and Barrister became a wholly owned subsidiary of CoJax.   The discussion
hereina�er of the business and opera�ons of the Company refer to the Company a�er the Acquisi�on of Barrister and all such discussions primarily report the opera�ons of its now subsidiary unless otherwise so indicated.
 

In connec�on with the Acquisi�on, on June 16, 2020, the Company also assumed $2,700,000 of Barrister’s debts (the “Assumed Debt”), secured by Barrister Oil Rights, which were acquired by Barrister from Central Opera�ng, LLC or “COP” under that certain Purchase and Sale
Agreement, dated June 1, 2019 (the “COP Purchase and Sale Agreement”), and related Barrister Original Promissory Note and Security Agreement, also dated June 1, 2019, (collec�vely, “COP Agreements”). These acquired oil and gas explora�on and produc�on assets represent all the
Barrister Oil Rights. The Barrister Original Promissory Note, which Barrister executed on June 1, 2019 and assigned to CoJax on June 16, 2020, does not bear any interest rate, but it required the principal amount of the Assumed Debt to be paid by a lump sum balloon payment by June
1, 2021. This lump sum payment represents a significant financial burden for the Company.  On May 29, 2021, the Company and C.O.P. entered into and executed the Restated Note, which among other things, extended the maturity date to October 1, 2021, and provided CoJax with a
short but valuable addi�onal �me to raise money or restructure the Assumed Debt to avoid a default for the
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Assumed Debt   In order for CoJax to pay the Assumed Debt by the new maturity date of October 1, 2021, CoJax will have to raise funding, to establish one or more deep drilling rigs exploi�ng the Barrister Oil Rights, or to restructure the terms of the Restated Note, to avoid a possible
default and legal ac�on to seize or sell the Barrister Oil Rights, which are collateral for the Assumed Debt.  Even with deep drilling rigs, Barrister Oil Rights may not produce oil on a profitable basis. We currently have no other poten�al acquisi�ons.  
 

Impact of COVID-19

In March 2020, the World Health Organiza�on declared the COVID-19 outbreak a pandemic. Governments have tried to slow the spread of the virus by imposing social distancing guidelines, travel restric�ons and stay-at-home orders, which have caused a significant contrac�on in
global economic ac�vity, including a decline in the demand for oil and to a lesser extent natural gas. As a result of the COVID-19 outbreak and the adverse public health developments, including voluntary and mandatory quaran�nes, travel restric�ons and other restric�ons, our
opera�ons, and those of our subcontractors, customers and suppliers, have experienced, and may to con�nue to experience, delays or disrup�ons.

Our business and opera�ons have been adversely affected by, and may con�nue to be adversely affected by, the COVID-19 pandemic and the public health response thereto. The Company has experienced the effects of a nega�vely impacted domes�c and interna�onal demand for
crude oil and natural gas, which has contributed to price vola�lity and impacted the price we received for our produc�on, and moreover materially and adversely affected the demand for and marketability of our produc�on. For the Company, this means that produc�on was shut in for
some of our wells, and that we held some of our produc�on as inventory to be sold later because we refused to accept the unprecedented and excep�onally low price for our produc�on. Our 2020 results were nega�vely impacted by the pandemic response. In addi�on, our financial
condi�on and results of opera�ons have been, and may con�nue to be, adversely affected by the ongoing coronavirus outbreak. The �meline and poten�al magnitude of the COVID-19 outbreak and its consequences are currently unknown.

As a producer of oil and natural gas, we are recognized as an essen�al business under various federal, state, and local regula�ons related to the COVID-19 pandemic. We have con�nued to operate as permi�ed under these regula�ons while taking steps to protect the health and safety
of our workers. We have implemented protocols to reduce the risk of an outbreak within our field opera�ons, and these protocols have not reduced produc�on or efficiency in a significant manner. A substan�al por�on of our non-field level employees have transi�oned temporarily to
remote work-from-home arrangements. With these arrangements in place, we have been able to maintain a consistent level of effec�veness, including maintaining our day-to-day opera�ons, our financial repor�ng systems, and our internal control over financial repor�ng.

In December 2020, the Food and Drug Administra�on authorized the use of the COVID 19 vaccina�on in the United States.  The shots were first administered to front line workers and the elderly but were soon made available to all adults.  The daily new infec�ons peaked in the first
quarter of 2021 and have seen an overall steady decline, giving states the ability to reopen to certain extents. In March 2021, the Federal Government passed a $1.9 trillion coronavirus relief package which included direct payments to qualifying individuals, extended unemployment
benefits, and state and local assistance.  The demand for oil and gas is expected to increase as the economy recovers which should strengthen oil prices. While oil prices have increased to pre-pandemic levels, vola�lity due to OPEC ac�ons and other factors affec�ng the global supply
and demand of oil and natural gas may con�nue.  

Effects of Infla�on and Pricing

The oil and natural gas industry is very cyclical and the demand for goods and services of oil field companies, suppliers and others associated with the industry puts pressure on the economic stability and pricing structure within the industry. Typically, as prices for oil and natural gas
increase, so do all associated costs. Material changes in prices impact the current revenue stream, es�mates of future reserves, borrowing base calcula�ons of bank loans and the value of proper�es in purchase and sale transac�ons. Material changes in prices can impact the value of
oil and
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natural gas companies and their ability to raise capital, borrow money and retain personnel. We an�cipate business costs will vary in accordance with commodity prices for oil and natural gas, and the associated increase or decrease in demand for services related to produc�on and
explora�on.

Going Concern
 
The accompanying fiscal year 2020 consolidated financial statements and first quarter 2021 condensed financial statements have been prepared assuming we will con�nue as a going concern, which contemplates realiza�on of assets and the sa�sfac�on of liabili�es in the normal
course of business for the twelve-month period following the date of these financial statements. On a consolidated basis, we have incurred significant opera�ng losses since incep�on. Because we do not expect that exis�ng opera�onal cash flow will be sufficient to fund presently
an�cipated opera�ons, this raises substan�al doubt about our ability to con�nue as a going concern. Therefore, we will need to raise addi�onal funds and are currently exploring sources of financing. Historically, we have raised capital through private offerings of debt and equity and
officer loans to finance working capital needs. There can be no assurances that we will be able to con�nue to raise addi�onal capital through the sale of common stock or other securi�es or obtain short-term loans.

Results of Opera�ons

Three months ended March 31, 2021, compared to three months ended March 31, 2020.

Revenues. Oil and natural gas sales.  For the three months ended March 31, 2021, oil and natural gas sales revenue increased $8,160 to $8,160, compared to $0 for the same period during 2020, en�rely because of the Company’s acquisi�on of Barrister.
 
Oil and gas produc�on costs.  Our lease opera�ng expenses (LOE) increased from $0 per barrel of oil equivalent (BOE) for the three months ended March 31, 2020, to $26,941 or $147.22 per BOE for the three months ended March 31, 2021.  

Produc�on taxes.  Produc�on taxes as a percentage of oil and natural gas sales were 0% during the three months ended March 31, 2020, and remained steady at 6%, or $490, for the three months ended March 31, 2021.  These rates are expected to stay rela�vely steady unless we
make acquisi�ons in other states with differing produc�on tax rates, or the state of Alabama change their produc�on tax rates.

Deprecia�on, deple�on, amor�za�on, and accre�on. Our deprecia�on, deple�on, amor�za�on and accre�on expense was $604 for the three months ended March 31, 2021, compared to $0 during the same period in 2020.  The increase was the result of the acquisi�on of Barrister
Energy, LLD.  

General and administra�ve expenses

General and administra�ve expense increased $208,617 to $241,413 for the three months ended March 31, 2021, as compared to $32,819 for the three months ended March 31, 2020.  The increase in general and administra�ve expense is primarily a�ributable to stock-based
compensa�on related expenses and the acquisi�on of Barrister.  

  For the Three Months
 ended March 31,
 2021 2020
General and administra�ve expense (excluding Stock Based Compensa�on)   
Stock Based Compensa�on   

General and administra�ve expense   
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$ 21,413 $ 32,819
220,000 -

$ 241,413 $ 32,819



Interest expense.

 Interest expense increased $630 to $630 for the three months ended March 31, 2021, as compared to $0 for the three months ended March 31, 2020.  

Net income (loss).  

For the three months ended March 31, 2021, the Company had net loss of $261,918, as compared to net loss of $32,819 for the three months ended March 31, 2020.  The primary contributors to this change are increased stock-based compensa�on.

Sales volumes and commodity prices received:

The following table presents our sales volumes and received pricing informa�on for the three-month periods ended March 31, 2021 and 2020:
 For the Three Months
 ended March 31,
 2021 2020
Oil volume (Bbls)   
Natural gas volume (Mcf)   

Total Produc�on (Boe)   

   
Average Sales Price   

Oil price (per Bbl)   
Gas price (per Mcf)   

Total per BOE   

Fiscal year ended December 31, 2020, compared to fiscal year ended December 31, 2019

Revenues.
 
Revenues were $0 for the year ended December 31, 2020, and $0 in the same period of last year. We are an early stage company having just acquired our first lease assets. We expect to begin producing revenue in 2021.
 
Cash Flows from Opera�ng Ac�vi�es: 

Net cash from opera�ng ac�vi�es is derived from net loss from opera�ons adjusted for non-cash items, changes in the balances of accounts receivables, deposits, and prepaid expenses, accounts payables, accrued expenses, and other payables.  For the periods ended December 31,
2020, and December 31, 2019, net cash used by opera�ng ac�vi�es was $117,744 and $26,813, respec�vely.   

Cash Flows from Financing Ac�vi�es: 

Total net cash provided by financing ac�vi�es was $133,607 and $51,502 for the periods ended December 31, 2020, and December 31, 2019. The net increase was derived from the SBA PPP loan program and the sale of shares.

General and Administra�ve Expenses

General and administra�ve (G&A) expenses were $1,349,653 for the year ended December 31, 2020, compared to $35,169 in the same period in 2019, represen�ng an increase of 3738%, or $1,314,484. The increase was primarily due to the increase of salary expense and accruals of
$611,714 and the Barrister acquisi�on costs of $620,500.
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183 -
- -

183 -

45.66 -
- -

45.66 -



Research and Development Expenses
  
The Company had no Research and Development (R&D) expenses for the years ended December 31, 2020, and December 31, 2019.
 
Opera�ng Income
 
Total opera�ng income was $0 for the year ended December 31, 2020, and $0 for the year ended December 31, 2019.
 
Net Income
 
As a result of the above factors, we had a net loss of $1,363,296 for the year ended December 31, 2020, compared to a net loss of $35,169 in the same period of last year.  

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Three months ended March 31, 2021, compared to three months ended March 31, 2020.

For the three months ended March 31, 2021, the Company had cash on hand of $71,250, compared to $44,051 as of December 31, 2020.  The Company had net cash used in opera�ng ac�vi�es for the three months ended March 31, 2021, of $7,801, compared to $9,570 for the same
period of 2020.  The primary difference in the cash used in opera�ons was the difference in stock payments to vendors for previous services from 2021 to 2020.  The Company had net cash used in inves�ng ac�vi�es of $0 for the three months ended March 31, 2021, compared to $0 in
2020.  Net cash provided by financing ac�vi�es was $35,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2021.  

The COVID-19 pandemic reduced global economic ac�vity and nega�vely impacted energy demand during the previous twelve months. Demand for oil and natural gas is slowly returning to pre-pandemic levels as COVID-19 vaccines rates and economic ac�vity have increased.
Addi�onally, we have implemented several addi�onal ini�a�ves to maximize free cash flow, reduce our debt level, maximize our liquidity posi�on and ul�mately realize greater shareholder value.

Fiscal year ended December 31, 2020, compared to fiscal year ended December 31, 2019.

We have incurred net opera�ng losses and opera�ng cash flow deficits since incep�on, con�nuing through the years ended December 31, 2020, and December 31, 2019. We are in the early stages of acquisi�on and development of oil and gas leaseholds and proper�es, and we have
been funded primarily by a combina�on of loans or contribu�ons of Jeffrey J. Guzy, an officer, and the sole director of the Company.  This limited funding has been inadequate to fund our business strategy. It has covered just general administra�on and legal compliance for the
Company. 
 
As of December 31, 2020, we had cash and cash equivalents of $44,051.

We believe that we do not have sufficient to fund our plan of opera�ons over the next 12 months.  We require addi�onal capital within the next 12 months. Our ability to obtain addi�onal financing may be impaired by many factors outside of our control, including the capital markets
(both generally and in the crude oil industry in par�cular), our lack of opera�ng history, the loca�on of our proposed or future crude oil proper�es and prices of crude oil on the commodi�es markets (which will impact the amount of asset-based financing available to us) and other
factors. Further, if oil prices on the commodi�es markets decline, our revenues from any exploita�on of Barrister Oil Rights will likely decrease, and such decreased revenues may increase our requirements for capital. 

Debt or equity financing arrangements may not be available to us or may be available only on unfavorable terms. Based on prior experience on seeking funding for drilling on proper�es without any significant oil produc�on, funding
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for drilling is challenging to obtain at all or on affordable terms. Addi�onally, available forms of funding could be highly dilu�ve to our exis�ng stockholders and may not provide us with sufficient funds to meet our long-term capital requirements. We may con�nue to incur substan�al
costs in the future in connec�on with raising capital to fund our business, including investment banking fees, legal fees, accoun�ng fees, securi�es law compliance fees, prin�ng and distribu�on expenses, and other costs. We may also be required to recognize non-cash expenses in
connec�on with certain securi�es we may issue, which may adversely affect our financial condi�on. If the amount of capital we are able to raise from financing ac�vi�es, together with our revenues from any acquired opera�ons, is not sufficient to sa�sfy our capital needs, we will be
required to reduce opera�ng costs, which are already minimal. That reduc�on could jeopardize our future strategic ini�a�ves and business plans. We may be required to sell some or all of our acquired proper�es (which could be on unfavorable terms), seek joint ventures with one or
more strategic partners, strategic acquisi�ons, and other strategic alterna�ves, cease our opera�ons, sell or merge our business, or file a pe��on for bankruptcy (either liquida�on or reorganiza�on under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code).  Any of these ac�ons could result in investors in the
common stock losing their investment or failing to realize any apprecia�on in the common stock from the purchase price.
 
The following table summarizes our total current assets, total current liabili�es, and working capital (deficit) as of March 31, 2021, and March 31, 2020, and December 31, 2020, and December 31, 2019:
 

 As of As of As of As of
 March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020 Dec 31, 2020 Dec 31, 2019
 (unaudited) (unaudited)   
Current assets     
Current liabili�es     
Working capital surplus (deficit)     

 
Changes in the net cash provided by and (used in) our opera�ng, inves�ng, and financing ac�vi�es for the three months ended March 31, 2021, and March 31, 2020, and the years ended December 31, 2020, and December 31, 2019, are set forth in the following table:

 Three Months
Ended

Three Months
Ended Year Ended Year Ended

 March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020 December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019
 (unaudited) (unaudited)   

Net cash provided by (used in)
opera�ng ac�vi�es     

Net cash provided by (used in)
financing ac�vi�es     

Cash at beginning of period     
Net increase (decrease) in cash     

 
Cash Flows from Opera�ng Ac�vi�es: Net cash from opera�ng ac�vi�es is derived from net loss from opera�ons adjusted for non-cash items, changes in the balances of accounts receivables, deposits, and prepaid expenses, accounts payables, accrued expenses, and other payables.
 For the three months ended March 31, 2021, and March 31, 2020, and the periods ended December 31, 2020, and December 31, 2019, net cash used by opera�ng ac�vi�es was $7,801, $9,570, $117,745, and $26,813 respec�vely.    
 
Cash Flows from Financing Ac�vi�es: Total net cash provided by financing ac�vi�es was $35,000 and $28,400 for the three months ended March 31, 2021 and 2020 and $133,607 for the periods ended December 31, 2020, and $51,502 for the period ended December 31, 2019. The
net increase was derived from loans from our Chief Execu�ve Officer and one share of common stock purchased by our Chief Execu�ve Officers. For more details about these debt

46

$ 71,250 $ 46,519 $ 44,051 $ 28,189 
243,043 122,868 1,430,030 71,219 

$ (171,193) $ (76,349) $ (1,385,979) $ (43,030)

$ (7,801) $ (9,570) $ (117,745) $ (26,813)

35,000 28,400 133,607 51,502 

44,051 27,689 28,189 3,500 
$ 27,199 $ 18,830 $ 15,862 $ 24,689 



and equity financings, see Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the periods ended December 31, 2020, and December 31, 2019, incorporated by reference herein.
 
Capital Contribu�ons. There were no capital contribu�ons during the periods ended March 31, 2021, December 31, 2020, and December 31, 2019.  
 
Planned Capital Expenditures: The Company had no planned capital expenditures and no exis�ng assignments or leases for oil-producing proper�es, or related assets, in fiscal year 2020.   
 
The Company incurred no development costs related to the purchase and development of working interest in wells during the periods ended December 31, 2020, and December 31, 2019. The Company has no such interests in wells as of the date of this prospectus, other than the
acquisi�on of Barrister and Barrister Oil Rights under the Barrister Agreement.
 
Off Balance Sheet Arrangements

The Company does not have any off-balance sheet arrangements, and it is not an�cipated that the Company will enter into any off-balance sheet arrangements.

Cri�cal Accoun�ng Policies and Es�mates

Our discussion of financial condi�on and results of opera�ons is based upon the informa�on reported in our financial statements. The prepara�on of these statements requires us to make assump�ons and es�mates that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabili�es, revenues, and
expenses as well as the disclosure of con�ngent assets and liabili�es at the date of our financial statements. We base our assump�ons and es�mates on historical experience and other sources that we believe to be reasonable at the �me. Actual results may vary from our es�mates
due to changes in circumstances, weather, poli�cs, global economics, mechanical problems, general business condi�ons and other factors. Our significant accoun�ng policies are detailed in Note 1 to our financial statements included in this Annual Report. We have outlined below
certain of these policies as being of par�cular importance to the portrayal of our financial posi�on and results of opera�ons and which require the applica�on of significant judgment by our management.

Revenue Recogni�on

In January 2018, the Company adopted Accoun�ng Standards Update (“ASU”) 2014-09 Revenues from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606) (“ASU 2014-09”). The �ming of recognizing revenue from the sale of produced crude oil and natural gas was not changed as a result of adop�ng
ASU 2014-09. The Company predominantly derives its revenue from the sale of produced crude oil and natural gas. The contractual performance obliga�on is sa�sfied when the product is delivered to the customer. Revenue is recorded in the month the product is delivered to the
purchaser. The Company receives payment from one to three months a�er delivery. The transac�on price includes variable considera�on as product pricing is based on published market prices and reduced for contract specified differen�als. The new guidance regarding ASU 2014-09
does not require that the transac�on price be fixed or stated in the contract. Es�ma�ng the variable considera�on does not require significant judgment and Ring engages third party sources to validate the es�mates. Revenue is recognized net of royal�es due to third par�es in an
amount that reflects the considera�on the Company expects to receive in exchange for those products. See Note 2 of our financial statements for addi�onal informa�on.

Full Cost Method of Accoun�ng. We account for our oil and natural gas opera�ons using the full cost method of accoun�ng. Under this method, all costs (internal or external) associated with property acquisi�on, explora�on and development of oil and gas reserves are capitalized.
Costs capitalized include acquisi�on costs, geological and geophysical expenditures, lease rentals on undeveloped proper�es and cost of drilling and equipping produc�ve and non-produc�ve wells. Drilling costs include directly related overhead costs. All of our proper�es are located
within the con�nental United States.
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Write-down of Oil and Natural Gas Proper�es.  Companies that use the full cost method of accoun�ng for oil and natural gas explora�on and development ac�vi�es are required to perform a ceiling test calcula�on each quarter. The full cost ceiling test is an impairment test prescribed
by SEC Regula�on S-X Rule 4-10. The ceiling test is performed quarterly u�lizing the average of prices in effect on the first day of the month for the preceding twelve-month period in accordance with SEC Release No. 33-8995. The ceiling limits such pooled costs to the aggregate of the
present value of future net revenues a�ributable to proved crude oil and natural gas reserves discounted at 10%, plus the lower of cost or market value of unproved proper�es, less any associated tax effects. If such capitalized costs exceed the ceiling, the Company will record a write-
down to the extent of such excess as a non-cash charge to earnings. Any such write-down will reduce earnings in the period of occurrence and results in a lower deple�on, deprecia�on and amor�za�on (“DD&A”) rate in future periods. A write-down may not be reversed in future
periods even though higher oil and natural gas prices may subsequently increase the ceiling.

Our es�mates of reserves and future cash flow as of December 31, 2020, and 2019 were prepared using an average price equal to the unweighted arithme�c average of the first day of the month price for each month within the 12-month periods ended December 31, 2020, and 2019,
respec�vely, in accordance with SEC guidelines.  As of December 31, 2020, our reserves are based on an SEC average price of $45.66 per Bbl of WTI oil posted and $2.51 per MCF natural gas. As of December 31, 2019, our reserves are based on an SEC average price of $62.63 per Bbl of
WTI oil posted and $2.88 per MCF natural gas. Prices are adjusted by local field and lease level differen�als and are held constant for life of reserves in accordance with SEC guidelines.

Oil and Natural Gas Reserve Quan��es. Reserve quan��es and the related es�mates of future net cash flows affect our periodic calcula�ons of deple�on and impairment of our oil and natural gas proper�es. Proved oil and natural gas reserves are the es�mated quan��es of crude oil,
natural gas, and natural gas liquids which geological and engineering data demonstrate with reasonable certainty to be recoverable in future periods from known reservoirs under exis�ng economic and opera�ng condi�ons. Reserve quan��es and future cash flows included in this
prospectus are prepared in accordance with guidelines established by the SEC and FASB. The accuracy of our reserve es�mates is a func�on of:

·The quality and quan�ty of available data, 

·The interpreta�on of that data; 

·The accuracy of various mandated economic assump�ons; and 

·The judgements of the persons preparing the es�mates 

Our proved reserve informa�on included in this prospectus was prepared and determined by NOVA Resource Incorporated, independent petroleum engineers. Because these es�mates depend on many assump�ons, all of which may differ substan�ally from actual results, reserve
es�mates may be different from the quan��es of oil and natural gas that are ul�mately recovered. We con�nually make revisions to reserve es�mates throughout the year as addi�onal proper�es are acquired. We make changes to deple�on rates and impairment calcula�ons in the
same period that changes to the reserve es�mates are made.

All capitalized costs of oil and natural gas proper�es, including es�mated future costs to develop proved reserves and es�mated future costs of site restora�on, are amor�zed on the unit-of-produc�on method using es�mates of proved reserves as determined by independent
engineers. Investments in unproved proper�es and major development projects are not amor�zed un�l proved reserves associated with the projects can be determined.

Income Taxes. Deferred income taxes are provided for the difference between the tax basis of assets and liabili�es and the carrying amount in our financial statements. This difference will result in taxable income or deduc�ons in future years when the reported amount of the asset or
liability is se�led. Since our tax returns are filed a�er the financial statements are prepared, es�mates are required in valuing tax assets and liabili�es. We record adjustments to the actual values in the period we file our tax returns.
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Recent Accoun�ng Pronouncements

Management does not believe any recently issued but not yet effec�ve accoun�ng pronouncements, if adopted, would have a material effect on the Company’s present or future financial statements.

 
MARKET PRICE FOR OUR COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

 
Market Informa�on
 
Our Common Stock is not quoted or traded on any exchange. As soon as prac�cable, and assuming we sa�sfy all necessary ini�al lis�ng requirements, we intend to apply to have our common stock quoted on the OTC Markets. There can be no assurances that our common stock will be
quoted on the OTC Markets or that an ac�ve trading market will ever develop.

 
Stockholders
 
As of June 23, 2021, there were 41 stockholders of record of our Common Stock.
 
Dividend Policy
 
We have never paid any cash dividends on our capital stock and do not an�cipate paying any cash dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future. We intend to retain future earnings to fund ongoing opera�ons and future capital requirements. Any future determina�on to
pay cash dividends will be at the discre�on of our board of directors and will be dependent upon financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, capital requirements and such other factors as the board of directors deems relevant.

 
Securi�es Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensa�on Plans.
 
The following table provides informa�on regarding our equity compensa�on plans as of December 31, 2020.

Equity Compensa�on Plan Informa�on

Plan category

Number of securi�es
to be issued upon

exercise of
outstanding op�ons,
warrants and rights

Weighted-average
exercise price of

outstanding op�ons,
warrants and rights

Number of securi�es
remaining available for

future issuance under equity
compensa�on plans

Equity compensa�on plans approved by security holders  TBD  

Equity compensa�on plans not approved by security holders    

Total    

 
The Board of Directors and stockholder approved the 2018 Equity Incen�ve Plan on December 31, 2018 (“2018 Plan”), The 2018 Plan authorizes 3,000,000 shares of common stock for issuance pursuant to the awards granted under the 2018 Plan.  As of June 23, 2021, no op�ons were
granted. No awards or other incen�ve compensa�on has been granted.
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MANAGEMENT  
Execu�ve officers and directors
 

The following table sets forth the names and ages of our officers and directors. Our execu�ve officers are elected annually by our Board. Our execu�ve officers hold their offices un�l they resign, are removed by the Board, or a successor is elected and qualified.
  

Name  Age  Posi�on
Jeffrey J. Guzy  70  Chief Execu�ve Officer, President and a director
Wm. Barre� Wellman  73  Chief Financial Officer

 
Our directors hold office un�l the next annual mee�ng of shareholders of the Company and un�l their successors have been elected and qualified. Our officers are elected by the Board and serve at the discre�on of the Board.
 
Biographies

 
Mr. Guzy, age 70, has been our Chief Execu�ve Officer since January 22, 2020 and a director since November 17, 2017. He served as our Chief Financial Officer from November 17, 2017 through March 16, 2020.

 
Mr. Guzy has served as an outside director of Lea� Corp. (OTC Trading Symbol: LEAT), since April 2007. Mr. Guzy also served, from October 2007 to August 2010, as Lea� Corp’s President. Mr. Guzy has served as an execu�ve manager or consultant for business development, sales,
customer service, and management in the telecommunica�ons industry, specifically, with IBM Corp., Sprint Interna�onal, Bell Atlan�c Video Services, Loral CyberStar, and FaciliCom Interna�onal. Mr. Guzy has also started his own telecommunica�ons company providing Internet
services in Western Africa. He serves as an independent director and chairman of the audit commi�ee of Capstone Companies, Inc. (OTC Trading Symbol: CAPC), Since 2020, he also serves as an independent director of Brownies Marine Group, Inc. (OTC Trading Symbol: BWMG). Mr.
Guzy has an MBA in Strategic Planning and Management from The Wharton School of the University of Pennsylvania, an M.S. in Systems Engineering from the University of Pennsylvania; a B.S. in Electrical Engineering from Penn State University; and a Cer�ficate in Theology from
Georgetown University. Mr. Guzy’s management and extensive experience led to the conclusion that he should serve as a director.
 
Mr. Wellman, age 73, has been our Chief Financial Officer since March 16, 2020.  Mr. Wellman has over 40 years of business experience as an accountant, controller, chief financial officer, chief informa�on officer, and senior execu�ve for various companies and two large accoun�ng
firms.  Since 2006, Mr. Wellman has maintained a business and financial consul�ng business in Arlington, Virginia.   He has an MBA from Marshall University and a B.S. in Accoun�ng from the University of Charleston.
 
Significant Employee
 
Jeffrey Delancey, age 49, was our Chief Execu�ve Officer un�l his resigna�on on January 21, 2020.  He has twenty-nine years of direct oilfield opera�ng experience. For the last seventeen years, Mr. Delancey par�cipates as a working interest owner in various oil and gas projects
throughout the southeast giving him knowledge and exper�se in the investment aspects of the oil and gas business.
 
Board Commi�ees
 
We currently do not have any commi�ees of our Board of Directors.
 
Family Rela�onships
 
There are no family rela�onships among any of our officers or directors.
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Code of Ethics
 
We have adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that applies to our principal execu�ve, financial and accoun�ng officers (or persons performing similar func�ons) and a copy of such Code is filed as an exhibit to this Registra�on Statement.
 
 Commi�ees
 
The Company has no nomina�ng, audit, or compensa�on commi�ees at this �me. The en�re Board par�cipates in the nomina�on and audit oversight processes and considers execu�ve and director compensa�on. The en�re Board is involved in such decision-making processes. Thus,
there is a poten�al conflict of interest in that our directors and officers have the authority to determine issues concerning management compensa�on, nomina�ons, and audit issues that may affect management decisions. We are not aware of any other conflicts of interest with any of
our execu�ve officers or directors.

 
Role of Board in Risk Oversight Process
 
Risk assessment and oversight are an integral part of our governance and management processes. Our Board of Directors encourages management to promote a culture that incorporates risk management into our corporate strategy and day-to-day business opera�ons. Management
discusses strategic and opera�onal risks at regular management mee�ngs and conducts strategic planning and review sessions during the year that include a discussion and analysis of the risks facing us.

 
Director Independence
 
Our board of directors currently consists of the sole member, Jeffrey J. Guzy. Our securi�es are not listed on a na�onal securi�es exchange or on any inter-dealer quota�on system which has a requirement that a majority of directors be independent. We evaluate independence by the
standards for director independence set forth in the NASDAQ Marketplace Rules. Under such rules, our board of directors has determined that our sole member of the Board is not independent.
 
The Board par�cipates in the nomina�on and audit oversight processes and considers execu�ve and director compensa�on. Given the size of the Company and its stage of development, the en�re Board is involved in such decision-making processes. Thus, there is a poten�al conflict of
interest in that our directors and officers have the authority to determine issues concerning management compensa�on, nomina�ons, and audit issues that may affect management decisions. We are not aware of any other conflicts of interest with any of our execu�ve officers or
directors.

  
Family rela�onships
 
There are no family rela�onships among any of our officers or directors.

 
Involvement in legal proceedings
 
There are no legal proceedings that have occurred within the past ten years concerning our directors, or control persons which involved a criminal convic�on, a criminal proceeding, an administra�ve or civil proceeding limi�ng one’s par�cipa�on in the securi�es or banking industries,
or a finding of securi�es or commodi�es law viola�ons.
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EXECUTIVE AND DIRECTOR COMPENSATION
 
The following table sets forth informa�on concerning all cash and non-cash compensa�on awarded to, earned by or paid to our Chief Execu�ve Officer and the other execu�ve officer with compensa�on exceeding $100,000 during 2020 and 2019 (each a "Named Execu�ve Officer").

 

Name and Principal Posi�on*  Fiscal Year   
Accrued

Salary ($)   Bonus ($)   Other Annual Compensa�on ($)   Total ($)  
Jeffrey J. Guzy (1)                     
Chief Execu�ve Officer                     
                     
Wm. Barre� Wellman (2)                     
Chief Financial Officer                     
                     
Jeffrey Delancey (3)                     
                     
 
(1) Mr. Guzy was appointed Chief Execu�ve Officer on January 22, 2020. Jeffrey Guzy has a base annual salary of $120,000, payable on a semi-monthly basis in equal installments, but the base salary is accrued un�l the Company has sufficient cash flow to pay the base salary.  Further,
the base salary can either be paid in total when Company is adequately funded, or the accrued unpaid base salary can be converted into shares of the CoJax Common Stock at the lower conversion price of the ini�al public offering price of $2.00 or current market price at the �me of
conversion by Mr. Guzy.
 
(2) Mr. Wellman was appointed Chief Financial Officer on March 16, 2020.  Mr. Wellman’s base salary is $100,000, payable semi-monthly in equal installments, but the base salary is accrued un�l the Company has sufficient cash flow to pay the base salary.  Alterna�vely, the accrued
unpaid base salary can be converted into shares of the CoJax Common Stock at the lower conversion price of the ini�al public offering price of $2.00 or current market price at the �me of conversion by Mr. Wellman. officer by the Company.
 
(3) Mr. Delancey was Chief Execu�ve Officer and a Director of the Company from May 18, 2019 un�l January 21, 2020.
 
No re�rement, pension, profit sharing, insurance programs, long-term incen�ve plans or other similar programs have been adopted by us for the benefit of our employees. As of December 31, 2020, no outstanding equity awards were granted to any officers or directors of the
Company.

 
Employment Agreements with Key Execu�ves
 
Employment Agreement with Jeffrey J. Guzy

 
We entered into and executed an employment agreement with Jeffrey J. Guzy, our Chief Execu�ve Officer on January 24, 2020 (the “Guzy Employment Agreement”).  The term of the Guzy Employment Agreement is three (3) year.  Pursuant to the Guzy Employment Agreement, Mr.
Guzy has a base annual salary of $120,000 payable semi-monthly in equal installments, but the base salary is deferred and only will be paid when Company is adequately funded, or the accrued unpaid base salary can be converted into shares of the CoJax Common Stock at the lower
conversion price of the ini�al public offering price of $2.00 or current market price at the �me of conversion by Mr. Guzy; he is eligible for an ad hoc performance bonus if and in an amount approved by the disinterested directors when and if CoJax appoints disinterested directors and
may par�cipate in any incen�ve compensa�on and other benefit plans to the extent that he is eligible to do so; Mr. Guzy may con�nue to have health insurance and other benefit plans for 24 months a�er any termina�on of his employment for a good reason (as defined in the
employment
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2020 120,000 - - 120,000
2019 - - - -

2020 100,000 - - 100,000
2019 - - - -

2020 - - - -
2019 - - - -



agreement).  The Guzy Employment Agreement imposes confiden�ality and non-recruitment of Company employees’ obliga�ons on Mr. Guzy for one year a�er the end of employment and provides that the Company can terminate Mr. Guzy’s employment for cause (as defined in the
employment agreement) and for Mr. Guzy to terminate the employment agreement for “good reason” (as defined in the employment agreement). Mr. Guzy can terminate the employment for a good reason, in which case he would be en�tled to: a cash payment, payable in equal
installments over a six (6) month period a�er his termina�on, equal to the sum of the following: (i) Base Annual Salary. Subject to the payment of the following sums not causing the insolvency of the Company, the equivalent of the greater of (i) twenty-four (24) months of Mr. Guzy’s
then-current base salary or (ii) the remainder of the term of the employment agreement (the "Severance Period") and (ii) Earned but Unpaid Amounts. Any previously earned but unpaid salary through Mr. Guzy’s final date of employment, being Mr. Guzy’s termina�on of employment.
 

 
Further, the Guzy Employment Agreement contains the following indemnifica�on to Mr. Guzy:  CoJax shall indemnify and save harmless Mr. Guzy for any liability incurred by reason of any act or omission performed by Mr. Guzy while ac�ng in good faith on behalf of the Company.
Within the scope of the authority of his pursuant to the employment agreement and the fullest extent provided under the CoJax Bylaws, the Amended and Restated Ar�cles of Incorpora�on and the Virginia Stock Corpora�on Act, except that Mr. Guzy must have in good faith believed
that such ac�on was in, or not opposed to, the best interests of CoJax, and, with respect to any criminal ac�on or  proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe that such conduct was unlawful.  No indemnifica�on barred by regula�ons or policies of the SEC or in clear viola�on of
public policy will be permi�ed under the employment agreement.  
 
Employment Agreement with Wm. Barre� Wellman.
 
The Company entered into and executed an employment agreement with Wm. Barre� Wellman’s on March 16, 2020, for his service as Chief Financial Officer (the “Wellman Employment Agreement”).  The term of the Wellman Employment Agreement is three (3) years.  Pursuant to
the Wellman Employment Agreement, Mr. Wellman has a base annual salary of $100,000 payable semi-annually in equal installments, but the base salary can either be paid in total when CoJax is adequately funded or, alterna�vely,  the accrued unpaid base salary can be converted
into shares of the CoJax common stock at the lower conversion price of the ini�al public offering price of $2.00 or current market price at �me of conversion by Mr. Wellman; he is eligible for an ad hoc performance bonus if and in an amount approved by the disinterested directors;
Mr. may par�cipate in any incen�ve compensa�on and other benefit plans to the extent that he is eligible to do so;  Mr. Wellman is eligible to con�nue benefits under CoJax’s health insurance and other benefit plans for 24 months a�er any termina�on of his employment for good
reason (as defined in the employment agreement).  In addi�on, the Wellman Employment Agreement imposes confiden�ality and non-recruitment of Company employees’ obliga�ons on Mr. Wellman for one year a�er end of employment and allows the Company to terminate Mr.
Wellman’s employment for cause (as defined in the employment agreement) and for Mr. Wellman to terminate the employment agreement for ”good reason” (as defined in the employment agreement).  If Mr. Wellman terminates the employment for a good reason, then he would be
en�tled to a cash payment, payable in equal installments over a six (6) month period a�er Mr. Wellman terminates employment, equal to the sum of the following: (i) Base Annual Salary. Subject to the payment of the following sums subject to not causing the insolvency of the
Company, the equivalent of the greater of (i) twenty-four (24) months of Mr. Wellman’s then-current base salary or (ii) the remainder of the term of the employment agreement (the "Severance Period") and earned but Unpaid Amounts. Any previously earned but unpaid salary
through Mr. Wellman’s final date of employment, Mr. Wellman’s termina�on of employment.  

 
The employment agreement also contains the following indemnifica�on to Mr. Wellman:  The Company shall indemnify and save harmless Mr. Wellman for any liability incurred by reason of any act or omission performed by Mr. Wellman while ac�ng in good faith on behalf of the
Company. Within the scope of the authority of his pursuant to the employment agreement and the fullest extent provided under the CoJax Bylaws, the CoJax Amended and Restated Ar�cles of Incorpora�on and the Virginia Stock Corpora�on Act, except that Mr. Wellman must have in
good faith believed that such ac�on was in, or not opposed to, the best interests of the Company, and, with respect to any criminal ac�on or proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe that such conduct was unlawful.  No
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indemnifica�on barred by regula�ons or policies of the SEC or in clear viola�on of public policy will be permi�ed under the employment agreement.    
 

Employee Benefit Plans.
 
The Company currently has no employee benefit plans.

 
2018 Equity Incen�ve Plan

 
CoJax’s Board of Directors and stockholder approved the 2018 Equity Incen�ve Plan on December 31, 2018 (“2018 Plan”), which replaced the 2017 Equity Incen�ve Plan (“2017 Plan”) that was approved by the Board of Directors and stockholder on January 2, 2018.  The Board of
Directors terminated the 2017 Plan on December 31, 2018.  No op�ons or awards were granted under the 2017 Plan.  As of June 23, 2021, no op�ons to purchase shares of Common Stock have been issued and no other awards were granted under the 2018 Plan.
 
The following is a summary of the 2018 Plan:

 
2018 Plan Purpose. The 2018 Plan will allow us to grant equity awards, including performance awards, to incen�vize high levels of performance and produc�vity by individuals who provide services to us and to further align the interests of our employees with those of CoJax and its
stockholders. The use of our common stock as part of our compensa�on program is intended to foster a pay-for-performance culture that is an essen�al element of our overall compensa�on philosophy. Our equity will be used to retain our officers and other employees and promote a
focus on sustained enhancement through improved performance. The 2018 Plan is intended to be “performance-based compensa�on” under Sec�on 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code (“Sec�on 162(m)”), to be exempt from the tax deduc�on limits of Sec�on 162(m) if they meet
the other requirements of Sec�on 162(m).

 
2018 Plan Administra�on. The Board of Directors, or the Compensa�on Commi�ee of the Board of Directors when formed by the Board of Directors, has the authority to administer our 2018 Plan. Subject to the terms of the 2018 Plan, the Board of Directors or the authorized board
commi�ee, referred to as the “plan administrator,” determines recipients, dates of grant, the numbers and types of stock awards to be granted, and the terms and condi�ons of the stock awards, including the period of their exercisability and ves�ng schedule applicable to a stock
award. Subject to the limita�ons set forth below, the plan administrator will also determine the exercise price, strike price, or purchase price of awards granted and the types of considera�on to be paid for the award. The plan administrator has the authority to modify outstanding
awards under our 2018 Plan. Subject to the terms of our 2018 Plan, the plan administrator has the authority, without stockholder approval, to reduce the exercise, purchase, or strike price of any outstanding stock award, cancel any outstanding stock award in exchange for new stock
awards, cash, or other considera�on, or take any other ac�on that is treated as a repricing under generally accepted accoun�ng principles; provided, that, stockholders must approve any repricing of SAR’s.   

 
2018 Plan Share Reserve.  The 2018 Plan authorizes 3,000,000 shares of Common Stock for issuance under grants or awards made pursuant to the 2018 Plan.  If a stock award granted under our 2018 Plan expires or otherwise terminates without being exercised in full, or is se�led in
cash, the shares of our common stock not acquired pursuant to the stock award again will become available for subsequent issuance under our 2018 Plan. The following types of shares under our 2018 Plan may become available for the grant of new stock awards under our 2018 Plan:
(1) shares that are forfeited to or repurchased by us before becoming fully vested; (2) shares withheld to sa�sfy income or employment withholding taxes; or (3) shares used to pay the exercise or purchase price of a stock award. Shares issued under our 2018 Plan may be previously
unissued shares or reacquired shares bought by us on the open market.

 
2018 Plan Stock Awards.  Our 2018 Plan provides for the grant of incen�ve stock op�ons (within the meaning of Sec�on 422 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, (“Code”)), non-statutory stock op�ons, stock apprecia�on rights, or SARs, restricted stock awards, restricted
stock unit awards, performance-based stock awards and other forms of equity compensa�on, which are collec�vely referred to as stock awards. Our 2018 Plan also
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provides for the grant of performance cash awards. Incen�ve stock op�ons may be granted only to employees. All other awards may be granted to employees, including officers, and to non-employee directors and consultants.  Incen�ve and non-statutory stock op�ons are evidenced
by stock op�on agreements adopted by the plan administrator. The plan administrator determines the exercise price for a stock op�on, within the terms and condi�ons of our 2018 Plan, provided that the exercise price of a stock op�on generally cannot be less than 100% of the fair
market value of our common stock on the date of grant. Op�ons granted under our 2018 Plan vest at the rate specified by the plan administrator. The plan administrator determines the term of stock op�ons granted under our 2018 Plan, up to a maximum of ten years. Unless the
terms of an op�on holder’s stock op�on agreement provide otherwise, if an op�on holder’s service rela�onship with us, or any of our affiliates, ceases for any reason other than disability, death, or cause, the op�on holder may generally exercise any vested op�ons for three months
following the cessa�on of service. The op�on term will automa�cally be extended in the event that exercise of the op�on following such a termina�on of service is prohibited by applicable securi�es laws or our insider trading policy. Acceptable considera�on for the purchase of
common stock issued upon the exercise of a stock op�on will be determined by the plan administrator and may include (1) cash, check, bank dra�, or money order, (2) a broker-assisted cashless exercise, (3) the tender of shares of our common stock previously owned by the op�on
holder, (4) a net exercise of the op�on if it is a nonqualified stock op�on and (5) other legal considera�on approved by the plan administrator. Unless the plan administrator provides otherwise, op�ons generally are not transferable except by will, the laws of descent and distribu�on,
or pursuant to a domes�c rela�ons order.

 
Tax Limita�ons on Incen�ve Stock Op�ons. The aggregate fair market value, determined at the �me of grant, of our common stock with respect to incen�ve stock op�ons that are exercisable for the first �me by an op�on holder during any calendar year under all of our stock plans,
may not exceed $100,000. Op�ons or por�ons thereof that exceed such limit will be treated as nonqualified stock op�ons. No incen�ve stock op�on may be granted to any person who, at the �me of the grant, owns or is deemed to own stock possessing more than 10% of our total
combined vo�ng power or that of any of our affiliates unless (1) the op�on exercise price is at least 110% of the fair market value of the stock subject to the op�on on the date of grant and (2) the term of the incen�ve stock op�on does not exceed five years from the date of grant.

 
Restricted Stock Awards. Restricted stock awards are evidenced by restricted stock award agreements adopted by the plan administrator. Restricted stock awards may be granted in considera�on for (1) cash, check, bank dra� or money order, (2) services rendered to us or our affiliates,
or (3) any other form of legal considera�on. Common stock acquired under a restricted stock award may, but need not, be subject to a share repurchase op�on in our favor in accordance with a ves�ng schedule as determined by the plan administrator. Rights to acquire shares under a
restricted stock award may be transferred only upon such terms and condi�ons as set by the plan administrator. Except as otherwise provided in the applicable award agreement, restricted stock unit awards that have not vested will be forfeited upon the par�cipant’s cessa�on of
con�nuous service for any reason.

 
Restricted Stock Unit Awards.  Restricted stock unit awards evidenced by restricted stock unit award agreements adopted by the plan administrator. Restricted stock unit awards may be granted in considera�on for any form of legal considera�on or no considera�on. A restricted stock
unit award may be se�led by cash, delivery of stock, a combina�on of cash and stock as deemed appropriate by the plan administrator, or in any other form of the considera�on set forth in the restricted stock unit award agreement. Addi�onally, dividend equivalents may be credited
in respect of shares covered by a restricted stock unit award. Rights under a restricted stock units award may be transferred only upon such terms and condi�ons as set by the plan administrator. Restricted stock unit awards may be subject to ves�ng as determined by the plan
administrator. Except as otherwise provided in the applicable award agreement, restricted stock units that have not vested will be forfeited upon the par�cipant’s cessa�on of con�nuous service for any reason.

 
Stock Apprecia�on Rights or “SARs.” SARs are evidenced by SAR grant agreements adopted by the plan administrator. The plan administrator determines the strike price for a SAR, which generally cannot be less than 100% of the fair market value of our common stock on the date of
grant. Upon the exercise of a SAR, we will pay the par�cipant an amount in cash or stock equal to (1) the excess of the per-share fair market value of our common stock on the date of exercise over the strike price, mul�plied by (2) the number of shares of common stock with
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respect to which the SAR is exercised. A SAR granted under our 2018 Plan vests at the rate specified in the SAR agreement as determined by the plan administrator. The plan administrator determines the term of SARs granted under our 2018 Plan, up to a maximum of ten years. Unless
the terms of a par�cipant’s SAR agreement provide otherwise, if a par�cipant’s service rela�onship with us or any of our affiliates ceases for any reason other than cause, disability, or death, the par�cipant may generally exercise any vested SAR for a period of three months following
the cessa�on of service. The SARs’ term will be further extended in the event that applicable securi�es laws prohibit the exercise of the SAR following such a termina�on of service. In no event may a SAR be exercised beyond the expira�on of its term. Unless the plan administrator
provides otherwise, SARs generally are not transferable except by will, the laws of descent and distribu�on, or pursuant to a domes�c rela�ons order. A SAR holder may designate a beneficiary, however, who may exercise the SAR following the holder’s death.

 
Performance Awards. Our 2018 Plan permits the grant of performance-based stock and cash awards. Our compensa�on commi�ee can structure such awards so that stock or cash will be issued or paid pursuant to such award only a�er the achievement of certain pre-established
performance goals during a designated performance period. The plan administrator determines the performance goals. The performance goals may be based on company-wide performance or performance of one or more business units, divisions, affiliates, or business segments. They
may be either absolute or rela�ve to the performance of one or more comparable companies or the performance of one or more relevant indices.

 
Other Stock Awards. The plan administrator may grant other awards based in whole or in part by reference to our common stock. The plan administrator will set the number of shares under the stock award and all other terms and condi�ons of such awards.

 
Changes to Capital Structure. In the event that there is a specified type of change in our capital structure, such as a stock split or recapitaliza�on, appropriate adjustments will be made to (1) the class and maximum number of shares reserved for issuance under our 2018 Plan, (2) the
class and maximum number of shares by which the share reserve may increase each year automa�cally, (3) the class and maximum number of shares that may be issued upon the exercise of incen�ve stock op�ons and (4) the class and number of shares and exercise price, strike price
or purchase price, if applicable, of all outstanding stock awards.

 
Change in Control. The plan administrator may provide, in an individual award agreement or any other wri�en agreement between a par�cipant and us, that the stock award will be subject to addi�onal accelera�on of ves�ng and exercisability or se�lement in the event of a change in
control. Under our 2018 Plan, a change in control is generally (1) the acquisi�on by a person or en�ty of more than 50% of our combined vo�ng power other than by merger, consolida�on or similar transac�on, (2) a consummated merger, consolida�on, or similar transac�on
immediately a�er which our stockholders cease to own more than 50% of the combined vo�ng power of the surviving en�ty or (3) a consummated sale, lease or exclusive license or other disposi�on of all or substan�ally all of our consolidated assets.

 
Amendment and Termina�on. Board of Directors has the authority to amend, suspend or terminate our 2018 Plan, provided that such ac�on does not materially impair the exis�ng rights of any par�cipant without such par�cipant’s wri�en consent and provided further that certain
types of amendments will require the approval of stockholders. No incen�ve stock op�ons may be granted a�er the tenth anniversary of the date that the Board of Directors adopts the 2018 Plan.

 
Outstanding Equity Awards

 
As of June 23, 2021, the Company does not have any outstanding equity awards.

 
SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

 
The following table lists, as of June 23, 2021, the number of shares of common stock beneficially owned by (i) each person, en�ty or group (as that term is used in Sec�on 13(d)(3) of the Securi�es Exchange Act of 1934) known to the
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Company to be the beneficial owner of more than 5% of the outstanding common stock; (ii) each of our directors (iii) each of our Named Execu�ve Officers and (iv) all execu�ve officers and directors as a group. Informa�on rela�ng to beneficial ownership of common stock by our
principal stockholders and management is based upon informa�on furnished by each person using “beneficial ownership” concepts under the rules of the SEC. Under these rules, a person is deemed to be a beneficial owner of a security if that person directly or indirectly has or shares
vo�ng power, which includes the power to vote or direct the vo�ng of the security, or investment power, which includes the power to dispose or direct the disposi�on of the security. The person is also deemed to be a beneficial owner of any security of which that person has a right to
acquire beneficial ownership within 60 days. Under the SEC rules, more than one person may be deemed to be a beneficial owner of the same securi�es, and a person may be deemed to be a beneficial owner of securi�es as to which he or she may not have any pecuniary interest.
Except as noted below, each person has sole vo�ng and investment power with respect to the shares beneficially owned and each stockholder’s address is c/o CoJax Oil and Gas Corpora�on, 3033 Wilson Boulevard, Suite E-605, Arlington, Virginia 22201.

 

 Name and Address of Beneficial Owner
Number of Shares

Beneficially Owned  Percentage of Beneficial Ownership
5% or Greater Holders:    
Roger Allums McLeod    
Jeffrey Wayne Delancy  (3)  
Lamar Resources, LLC  (4)  
Sandstone Group Corp    
    
Execu�ve Officers and Directors:    
Jeffrey J. Guzy  (1)  
Wm. Barret Wellman  (2)  
All current directors and execu�ve officers as a group (2 persons)  (1)(2)  
 
 
(1) Includes 200,000 shares of Common Stock issuable upon conversion of 20,000 shares of Series A Preferred Stock; does not include 20,000 shares of Series A Preferred Stock.
(2) Includes 100,000 shares of Common Stock issuable upon conversion of 10,000 shares of Series A Preferred Stock; does not include 10,000 shares of Series A Preferred Stock.
(3) Jeffrey Delancey was Chief Execu�ve Officer and a Director of the Company from May 18, 2019, un�l January 21, 2020.  Mr. Delancey voluntarily resigned to pursue other interests.

 
(4) Lamar Resources, LLC, is owned by Marty Rutland.
(5) The percentages above are calculated based on 4,096,751 shares of common stock issued and outstanding as of June 23, 2021.
 
Change-in-Control Agreements
 
The Company does not have any change-in-control agreements with any of its execu�ve officers.

 
 

CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
 

Certain Rela�onships and Related Transac�ons
 
Except as disclosed below, since the beginning of the last two fiscal years, none of the following persons has had any direct or indirect material interest in any transac�on to which our Company was or is a party, or in any proposed transac�on to which our Company proposes to be a
party:
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2,920,000 71.28%
304,045 7.42%
243,455 5.94%
200,444 4.89%

205,001 4.77%
105,000 2.50%
310,001 7.05%



any director or officer of the Company; 
any proposed director or officer of the Company; 
any person who beneficially owns, directly or indirectly, more than 5% percent of the vo�ng rights a�ached to our common stock; or 
any member of the immediate family of any of the foregoing persons (including a spouse, parents, children, siblings, and in-laws). 

 
On September 1, 2019, the Company's Chief Execu�ve Officer loaned $42,000 to the Company, and the Company issued a promissory note for such amount. The promissory note is unsecured and bears interest at 2% per annum principal and accrued interest mature on February 19,
2022.
 
On November 15, 2019, the Company's Chief Execu�ve Officer loaned $20,000 to the Company, and the Company issued a promissory note for such amount. The promissory note is unsecured and bears interest at 2% per annum principal and accrued interest mature on February 19,
2022.
 
On February 19, 2020, the Company's Chief Execu�ve Officer loaned $28,400 to the Company, and the Company issued a promissory note for such amount. The promissory note is unsecured and bears interest at 2% per annum principal and accrued interest mature on February 19,
2022.

 
On January 4, 2021, the Company issued 20,000 shares of Series A conver�ble preferred stock to Jeffrey J. Guzy, the CEO and 10,000 shares of Series A conver�ble stock to Wm. Barre� Wellman, the CFO. Each share is conver�ble at the op�on of the holder to ten (10) shares of
common stock.
 
On February 16, 2021, the Company issued 5,000 shares of Common Stock to Jeffrey J. Guzy for his service as Chief Execu�ve Officer and 5,000 shares of Common Stock to Wm. Barre� Wellman for his service as Chief Financial Officer.
 
During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company accrued an annual salary in the amount of $120,000 to Jeffrey J. Guzy, the Company’s Chief Execu�ve Officer and accrued an annual salary in the amount of $100,000 to Wm. Barre� Wellman.

 
EXPENSES OF ISSUANCE AND DISTRIBUTION

 
The following table sets forth the costs and expenses payable by us in connec�on with the sale of common stock being registered. All amounts are es�mates except for the SEC filing fee.
 

SEC filing fee  
Legal fees and expenses  
Accoun�ng fees and expenses  
Total  

 
 
 

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
 

We have filed with the SEC this registra�on statement on Form S-1 under the Securi�es Act with respect to the shares of common stock being offered by this prospectus. This prospectus, which cons�tutes a part of this registra�on statement, does not contain all of the
informa�on in this registra�on statement and its exhibits. For further informa�on with respect to us and the common stock offered by this prospectus, you should refer to this registra�on statement and the exhibits filed as part of that document. Statements contained in this
prospectus as to the contents of any contract or any other document referred to are not necessarily complete, and in each instance,
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$ 282.84
5,000.00

25,000.00
$30,282.84



we refer you to the copy of the contract or other document filed as an exhibit to this registra�on statement. Each of these statements is qualified in all respects by this reference.
 

We are subject to the informa�onal requirements of the Exchange Act and file annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy statements and other informa�on with the SEC. You can read our SEC filings, including this registra�on statement, over the Internet at the SEC’s website
at h�p://www.sec.gov. You may also read and copy any document we file with the SEC at its public reference facili�es at 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549. You may also obtain copies of these documents at prescribed rates by wri�ng to the Public Reference Sec�on of the SEC
at 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549. Please call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 for further informa�on on the opera�on of the public reference facili�es. You may also request a copy of these filings, at no cost, by wri�ng or telephoning us at: CoJax Oil and Gas Corpora�on, 3033
Wilson Boulevard, Suite E-605, Arlington, Virginia 22201. In addi�on, all documents subsequently filed by us pursuant to Sec�ons 13(a), 13(c), 14 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, prior to the termina�on of the offering (excluding any informa�on furnished rather than filed) shall be
deemed to be incorporated by reference into this prospectus.
 

LEGAL MATTERS
 

The Crone Law Group, P.C. has opined on the validity of the shares being offered hereby.
 

EXPERTS
 

The consolidated financial statements included in this prospectus and in the registra�on statement for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2020, and December 31, 2019 have been audited by Haynie & Company an independent registered public accoun�ng firm and are included in
reliance upon such report given upon the authority of said firm as experts in audi�ng and accoun�ng.
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CoJax Oil and Gas Corpora�on
Financial Statements

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and
Stockholders of CoJax Oil & Gas Corpora�on

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of CoJax Oil & Gas Corpora�on (the Company) as of December 31, 2020, and 2019, and the related statements of income, comprehensive income, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the two-year period ended December 31, 2020, and the
related notes (collec�vely referred to as the financial statements). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial posi�on of the Company as of December 31, 2020, and 2019, and the results of its opera�ons and its cash flows for each of the years in the two-year period
ended December 31, 2020, in conformity with accoun�ng principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Considera�on of the Company’s Ability to Con�nue as a Going Concern

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will con�nue as a going concern. As discussed in Note 1 to the financial statements, the Company has recurring net losses, nega�ve cash flows from opera�ons, and nega�ve working capital. This raises substan�al doubt about
the Company's ability to con�nue as a going concern. Management's plans in regard to these ma�ers are also described in Note 2 to the financial statements. The financial statements do not include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accoun�ng firm registered with the Public Company Accoun�ng Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are
required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securi�es laws and the applicable rules and regula�ons of the Securi�es and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor
were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial repor�ng. As part of our audits, we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial repor�ng, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effec�veness of the Company’s internal control over financial
repor�ng. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. Our audits also included evalua�ng the accoun�ng principles used and significant es�mates made by management, as well as evalua�ng the overall presenta�on of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ Haynie & Company
 
Haynie & Company
Salt Lake City, Utah
May 13, 2021
 
We have served as the company’s auditor since 2018
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CoJax Oil and Gas Corpora�on
Consolidated Balance Sheets

As of December 31, 2020, and December 31, 2019
 

 As of As of
 December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019

ASSETS   
Current assets:   

Cash   

Total current assets   
Other assets:   

Barrister proved property   
Barrister proved property asset re�rement obliga�on - net   

Total other assets   
   

    Total assets   

   
LIABILITIES and STOCKHOLDERS’ DEFICIT   

Current liabili�es:   
Accounts payable   

Accrued interest payable   

Accrued M&A expense payable   

Notes payable – PPP   

Notes payable – related party   
Accrued salaries and payroll taxes   

Total current liabili�es   
Long-term liabili�es:   

Barrister asset re�rement obliga�on   
Note payable – Barrister acquisi�on   

Total long-term liabili�es   
   

Total liabili�es   
   

Stockholders’ deficit:   
Preferred stock, $0.10 par value, 50,000,000 current shares authorized, no
shares issued and outstanding, respec�vely.

  

Common stock, $0.01 par value, 300,000,000 current shares authorized,
3,659,001 and 1 shares issued and outstanding, respec�vely.

  

Addi�onal paid-in capital   
Accumulated deficit   
   

Total stockholders’ equity   

   
Total liabili�es and stockholders’ equity   

 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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$ 44,051 $ 28,189 

44,051 28,189 

10,000,000 - 
79,802 - 

10,079,802 - 

$ 10,123,853 $ 28,189 

$ 17,799 $ 8,890 

2,410 329 
620,500 - 

49,992 - 
127,615 62,000 
611,714 - 

1,430,030 71,219 

82,149 - 
2,700,000 - 
2,782,149 - 

4,212,179 71,219 

- - 

36,590 - 

7,281,412 2 
(1,406,328) (43,032)

5,911,674 (43,030)

$ 10,123,853 $ 28,189 



CoJax Oil and Gas Corpora�on
Consolidated Statements of Opera�ons

For the years ending December 31, 2020, and December 31, 2019
 

 For the Year Ended For the Year Ended
 December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019

Revenues   
   
Expenses:   

General & administra�ve expenses   
Opera�ng expenses   
Accre�on expense   

Total expenses   
   

Loss from opera�ons   
   

Other income (expense):   
Other income – EIDL grant   
Interest expense   

Total other income (expense)   
   
Net loss   
   
Net loss per common share - basic and diluted   
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period -
basic and diluted   

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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$ - $ - 

1,349,653 35,169 
10,215 - 

2,347 - 
1,362,215 35,169 

(1,359,868) (35,169)

1,000 - 
(2,081) - 
(1,081) - 

$ (1,363,296) $ (35,169)

$ (3.10) $ (35,169)

440,308 1 



CoJax Oil and Gas Corpora�on
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

For the years ending December 31, 2020, and December 31, 2019
 

 Year Ended Year Ended
 December 31, 2020 December 31,

2019
Cash flows from opera�ng ac�vi�es:   

Net loss   
Adjustments to reconcile Net loss to net cash used in opera�ons:   

Amor�za�on of asset re�rement obliga�on   
Accounts payable   
Accrued M&A expense   
Accrued salaries and payroll taxes   
Deferred offering costs – write off   
Accrued interest payable   

Total adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by
opera�ons   

Net cash used in opera�ng ac�vi�es   
   
Cash flows from inves�ng ac�vi�es:   
   
Cash flows from financing ac�vi�es:   

Proceeds from loans payable – related party   
Payments on loans payable – related party   
Proceeds from loans payable – SBA PPP loan   
Proceeds from sale of common stock   

Net cash provided by financing ac�vi�es   
   
Net increase in cash   

Cash at beginning of period   

Cash at end of period   
   
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash inves�ng and financing ac�vi�es:   

Note payable – Barrister acquisi�on   

Common stock for Barrister acquisi�on   

Addi�on of asset re�rement obliga�on   

Interest paid, net of capitalized interest   

 
 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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$ (1,363,296) $ (35,169)

2,347 
8,909 

620,500 - 
611,714 - 

- 7,000 
2,081 (78)

1,245,551 8,356 
(117,745) (26,813)

- - 

65,615 62,000 
- (10,498)

49,992 - 
18,000 - 

133,607 51,502 

15,862 24,689 
28,189 3,500 

$ 44,051 $ 28,189 

$ 2,700,000 $ - 

$ 7,300,000 $ - 

$ 82,149 $ - 

$ - $ 608 



CoJax Oil and Gas Corpora�on
Consolidated Statements of Stockholder’s (Deficit)

For the years ending December 31, 2020, and December 31, 2019
 

   Addi�onal  Total
 Preferred stock Common stock paid-in Accumulated Stockholder’s
 Shares Amount Shares Amount capital deficit deficit

Balance, December 31, 2018        

Net (loss) for the Year ending
December 31, 2019        

Balance, December 31, 2019        

Sale of common stock for cash        

Shares issued - Barrister
acquisi�on

       

Net (loss) for the Year ending
December 31, 2020

       

Balance, December 31, 2020        

 
 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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- $ - 1 $ - $ 2 $ (7,863) $ (7,861)

- - - - - (35,169) (35,169)

- $ - 1 $ - $ 2 $ (43,032) $ (43,030)

- - 9,000 90 17,910 - 18,000 

- - 3,650,000 36,500 7,263,500 - 7,300,000 

- - - - - (1,363,296) (1,363,296) 

- $ - 3,659,001 $ 36,590 $ 7,281,412 $ (1,406,328) $ 5,911,674 



CoJax Oil and Gas Corpora�on
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31, 2020

NOTE 1 – ORGANIZATION, NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION

Organiza�on

CoJax Oil & Gas Corpora�on, a Virginia corpora�on (“Company”), was incorporated on November 13, 2017.

Nature of Opera�ons

We are an early development stage company, and we have no revenue genera�ng opera�ons. From November 13, 2017, we have been engaged in organiza�onal ac�vi�es and had no revenue genera�ng opera�ons.  We intend to acquire assignments of hydrocarbon revenues and
underlying oil and gas explora�on and produc�on rights.

Basis of Presenta�on

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in conformity with accoun�ng principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“US GAAP”) which contemplate con�nua�on of the Company as a going concern.

NOTE 2 – GOING CONCERN DISCLOSURE

The Company’s financial statements are prepared using U.S. GAAP applicable to a going concern that contemplates the realiza�on of assets and liquida�on of liabili�es in the normal course of business. During 2020, the Company has acquired Barrister Energy with iden�fied proven or
probable reserves and correspondingly expects to be genera�ng revenue during its explora�on stage. There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to achieve its business plan, raise any addi�onal capital or secure the addi�onal financing necessary to implement its current
opera�ng plan. The accompanying financial statements do not include any adjustments that might be necessary if the Company is unable to con�nue as a going concern.

The Company has yet to achieve profitable opera�ons, expects to incur further losses in the development of its business, has nega�ve cash flows from opera�ng ac�vi�es, and is dependent upon future issuances of equity or other financing to fund ongoing opera�ons, all of which
raises substan�al doubt about the Company’s ability to con�nue as a going concern. The Company’s ability to con�nue as a going concern is dependent upon its ability to generate future profitable opera�ons and/or to obtain the necessary financing from shareholders or other sources
to meet its obliga�ons and repay its liabili�es arising from normal business opera�ons when they come due. Management has no formal plan in place to address this concern but considers that the Company will be able to obtain addi�onal funds by equity financing and/or related
party advances, however, there is no assurance of addi�onal funding being available or on acceptable terms, if at all.

NOTE 3 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Use of Es�mates

The prepara�on of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accoun�ng principles (“U.S. GAAP”) requires management to make es�mates and assump�ons that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabili�es, the disclosures of con�ngent assets and liabili�es at
the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the repor�ng period. Significant areas of es�mate include the impairment of assets and rates for amor�za�on, accrued liabili�es, future income tax obliga�ons and the inputs used in
calcula�ng stock-
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based compensa�on and transac�ons. Actual results could differ from those es�mates and would impact future results of opera�ons and cash flows.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid temporary cash investments with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents. At December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the Company had no cash equivalents.

Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doub�ul Accounts

Accounts receivable will consist primarily of oil and gas sales, net of a valua�on allowance for doub�ul accounts. As of December 31, 2020, and the year ended December 31, 2019, the allowance for doub�ul accounts was $0.

Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets

The Company accounts for the impairment or disposal of long-lived assets according to the Financial Accoun�ng Standards Board’s (“FASB”) Accoun�ng Standards Codifica�on (“ASC”) 360 “Property, Plant and Equipment”. ASC 360 clarifies the accoun�ng for the impairment of long-
lived assets and for long-lived assets to be disposed of, including the disposal of business segments and major lines of business. Long-lived assets are reviewed when facts and circumstances indicate that the carrying value of the asset may not be recoverable. When necessary, impaired
assets are wri�en down to es�mated fair value based on the best informa�on available. Es�mated fair value is generally based on either appraised value or measured by discoun�ng es�mated future cash flows. Considerable management judgment is necessary to es�mate discounted
future cash flows. Accordingly, actual results could vary significantly from such es�mates. The Company did not recognize any impairment losses as of December 31, 2020, or December 31, 2019.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company had no financial instruments for the year ending December 31, 2020, or for the year ending December 31, 2019.

ASC 820 “Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures” defines fair value as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transac�on between market
par�cipants on the measurement date. ASC 820 also establishes a fair value hierarchy that dis�nguishes between (1) market par�cipant assump�ons developed based on market data obtained from independent sources (observable inputs) and (2) a repor�ng en�ty’s own assump�ons
about market par�cipant assump�ons developed based on the best informa�on available in the circumstances (unobservable inputs). The fair value hierarchy consists of three broad levels, which gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in ac�ve markets for iden�cal
assets or liabili�es (Level 1) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3). The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are described below:

Level 1 – Unadjusted quoted prices in ac�ve markets that are accessible at the measurement date for iden�cal, unrestricted assets or liabili�es;

Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly, including quoted prices for similar assets or liabili�es in ac�ve markets; quoted prices for iden�cal or similar assets or liabili�es in markets that are
not ac�ve; inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability (e.g., interest rates); and inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated by observable market data by correla�on or other means; and
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Level 3 – Fair value measurements are those derived from valua�on techniques that include inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

Fair value es�mates discussed herein are based upon certain market assump�ons and per�nent informa�on available to management as of December 31, 2020, and December 31, 2019. The respec�ve carrying value of certain on-balance-sheet financial instruments approximated
their fair values due to the short-term nature of these instruments.

Revenue Recogni�on

On January 1, 2018, the Company adopted Accoun�ng Standards Codifica�on Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, (“ASC 606”). As the Company has no sales, the adop�on did not require an adjustment to opening retained earnings for the cumula�ve effect adjustment
and did not affect the Company’s previously reported results of opera�ons, nor its ongoing consolidated and combined balance sheets, statements of cash flow or statements of changes in equity.

Under ASC 606, oil and natural gas sales revenues are recognized when control of the product is transferred to the customer, the performance obliga�ons under the terms of the contracts with customers are sa�sfied and collectability is reasonably assured. Once opera�onal, all the
Company’s oil and natural gas sales will be made under contracts with customers. The performance obliga�ons for the Company’s contracts with customers will be sa�sfied at a point in �me through the delivery of oil and natural gas to its customers. Accordingly, the Company’s
contracts will not give rise to contract assets or liabili�es. The Company will typically receive payment within 30 days of the month of delivery. The Company’s contracts for oil and natural gas sales will be standard industry contracts that include variable considera�on based on the
monthly index price and adjustments that may include counterparty-specific provisions related to volumes, price differen�als, discounts and other adjustments and deduc�ons.

Stock-Based Compensa�on

The Company accounts for Stock-Based Compensa�on under ASC 718 “Compensa�on – Stock Compensa�on”, which addresses the accoun�ng for transac�ons in which an en�ty exchanges its equity instruments for goods or services, with a primary focus on transac�ons in which an
en�ty obtains employee services in share-based payment transac�ons. Generally accepted accoun�ng principles require measurement of the cost of employee services received in exchange for an award of equity instruments based on the grant-date fair value of the award.
Incremental compensa�on costs arising from subsequent modifica�ons of awards a�er the grant date must be recognized.

The Company issues stock to consultants for various services. The costs for these transac�ons are measured at the fair value of the considera�on received or the fair value of the equity instruments issued, whichever is more reliably measurable. The value of the common stock is
measured at the earlier of (i) the date at which a firm commitment for performance by the counterparty to earn the equity instruments is reached or (ii) the date at which the counterparty's performance is complete. The Company recognized consul�ng expense and a corresponding
increase to addi�onal paid- in-capital related to stock issued for services.

Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for under the liability method of accoun�ng for income taxes. Under the liability method, future tax liabili�es and assets are recognized for the es�mated future tax consequences a�ributable to differences between the amounts reported in the financial
statement carrying amounts of assets and liabili�es and their respec�ve tax bases. Future tax assets and liabili�es are measured using enacted or substan�ally enacted income tax rates expected to apply when the asset is realized, or the liability se�led. The effect of a change in
income tax rates on future income tax liabili�es and assets is recognized in income in the period that the change occurs. Future income tax assets are recognized to the extent that they are considered more likely than not to be realized.
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The FASB has issued ASC 740 “Income Taxes”. ASC 740 clarifies the accoun�ng for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in an enterprise’s financial statements. This standard requires a company to determine whether it is more likely than not that a tax posi�on will be sustained upon
examina�on based upon the technical merits of the posi�on. If the more-likely-than-not threshold is met, a company must measure the tax posi�on to determine the amount to recognize in the financial statements.

Because of the implementa�on of this standard, the Company performed a review of its material tax posi�ons in accordance with recogni�on and measurement standards established by ASC 740 and concluded that they had no uncertain tax posi�ons as of December 31, 2020, or as of
December 31, 2019.

Basic and Diluted Income per Share

The Company computes income per share in accordance with ASC 260, "Earnings per Share", which requires presenta�on of both basic and diluted earnings per share (“EPS”) on the face of the statement of opera�ons. Basic EPS is computed by dividing income available to common
shareholders by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the period. Diluted EPS gives effect to all dilu�ve poten�al shares of common stock outstanding during the period using the treasury stock method and conver�ble preferred stock using the if-converted
method. In compu�ng diluted EPS, the average stock price for the period is used in determining the number of shares assumed to be purchased from the exercise of stock op�ons or warrants.  Diluted EPS excludes all dilu�ve poten�al shares if their effect is an�-dilu�ve. The Company
did not have any dilu�ve securi�es as of December 31, 2020, and December 31, 2019.

NOTE 4 – RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

Management does not believe any recently issued but not yet effec�ve accoun�ng pronouncements, if adopted, would have a material effect on the Company’s present or future financial statements.

NOTE 5 – ACQUISITION

On November 17, 2020, the Company completed the acquisi�on of Barrister Energy, LLC and the oil and gas proper�es of Barrister Energy, LLC, (the “Acquisi�on”). The acquired proper�es consist of 700 gross acres and include a 95% average working interest and a 79% average net
revenue interest.

The Acquisi�on was recognized as a business combina�on whereby CoJax recorded the assets acquired and the liabili�es assumed at their fair values as of June 16, 2020, which is the date the Company obtained control of the proper�es and was the acquisi�on date for financial
repor�ng purposes. Revenues and related expenses for the Acquisi�on are included in our consolidated statement of opera�ons beginning June 16, 2020. The es�mated fair value of the acquired proper�es approximated the considera�on paid, which the Company concluded
approximated the fair value that would be paid by a typical market par�cipant.

The $2.7 million, zero interest, long-term note is payable to Central Opera�ng, LLC at the signing of the Purchase and Sale Agreement on June 16, 2020. The Acquisi�on payable to be se�led through equity was se�led at the closing on November 17, 2020, through the issuance
of 3,650,000 shares of common stock. The Company incurred $620,500 in non-capitalizable acquisi�on related costs, which were recognized in general and administra�ve expense during the year ended December 31, 2020.

The Company will con�nue to evaluate the fair value of the assets and liabili�es reflected above and will record any adjustments, if needed, in future periods.
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The es�mated fair value of the acquired proper�es approximated the considera�on paid, which the Company concluded approximated the fair value that would be paid by a typical market par�cipant. The following table summarizes the fair values of the assets acquired and the
liabili�es assumed:

Fair Value of considera�on given;  

Assets acquired:  

Proved oil and natural gas proper�es  

ARO asset  

Liabili�es assumed:  

Asset re�rement obliga�ons  

Total Iden�fiable Net Assets  

(Due to the limited opera�ons of Barrister Energy the proforma consolidated results of opera�ons were not considered material
as if the acquisi�on occurred on January 1, 2019.)

NOTE 6 – LONG LIVED ASSETS

At December 31, 2020 through the Company’s acquisi�on of Barrister Energy, LLC had leased oil and gas proper�es assets valued at $10,000,000 and at December 31, 2019, the Company had no other long-lived assets.

NOTE 7 – ACCRUED EXPENSES  

At December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the Company had the following accrued expenses:

 December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019

Accrued interest   

Accrued salaries and payroll taxes   

Accrued M&A expenses   

Accrued expenses   

NOTE 8 – NOTES PAYABLE

 December 31, December 31,
 2020 2019
   
On May 7, 2020, the Company applied for a Small Business Associa�on (SBA)
loan under the Paycheck Protec�on Program (PPP). The Company met all the
necessary qualifica�ons to apply for a $49,992 loan. On June 10, 2020, the SBA
PPP loan was approved and transferred to the Company to be used for
payment of accrued payroll and related payroll taxes. We do not expect to be
required to repay any por�on of the loan. 100% of the funds were disbursed
for salaries and payroll taxes in 2020.

  

   
The $2.7 million long-term note is payable to Central Opera�ng, LLC at the
signing of the Barrister Purchase and Sale Agreement in June 16, 2020.   

   
Notes payable   
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$ 10,000,000 

82,149 

(82,149)

$ 10,000,000 

$ 2,410 $ 329

611,714 -

620,500 -

$ 1,234,524 $ 329

$ 49,992 $ -

$ 2,700,000 $ -

$ 2,749,992 $ -



Related Party

The Company is a party to several loans with related par�es. The note holder is the CEO and Execu�ve Chairman of the Company.  At December 31, 2020, and December 31, 2019, notes payable consisted of the following:

 December 31, December 31,
 2020 2019
   
On September 1, 2019, the Company's Execu�ve Chairman loaned $42,000 to
the Company, and the Company issued a promissory note for such amount. The
promissory note is unsecured and bears interest at 2% per annum principal and
accrued interest mature on February 19, 2022.

  

   
On November 15, 2019, the Company's Execu�ve Chairman loaned $20,000 to
the Company, and the Company issued a promissory note for such amount. The
promissory note is unsecured and bears interest at 2% per annum principal and
accrued interest mature on February 19, 2022.

  

   
On February 19, 2020, the Company's Execu�ve Chairman loaned $28,400 to
the Company, and the Company issued a promissory note for such amount. The
promissory note is unsecured and bears interest at 2% per annum principal and
accrued interest mature on February 19, 2022.

  

   
On July 15, 2020, the Company's Execu�ve Chairman loaned $37,215 to the
Company, and the Company issued a promissory note for such amount. The
promissory note is unsecured and bears interest at 2% per annum principal and
accrued interest mature on July 15, 2022.

  

   
Notes payable – related party   

NOTE 9 – RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

For the year ending December 31, 2020, there were four related party transac�ons (see NOTE 8) between the Company’s Execu�ve Chairman and the Company. There were no other related party transac�ons between any of the Company’s directors or execu�ve officers or any person
nominated or chosen by the Company to become a director or execu�ve officer.

On January 4, 2021, the Company issued 20,000 shares of Series A conver�ble preferred stock to Jeffrey J. Guzy, the CEO and 10,000 shares of Series A conver�ble stock to Wm. Barre� Wellman, the CFO. Each share is conver�ble at the op�on of the holder to ten (10) shares of
common stock. Since these shares were not issued un�l 2021 the fair value of $600,000 ($20 per share) has been recorded as part of accrued salaries and payroll taxes.  The fair value was based on the value assigned to common stock ($2 per share) mul�plied by 10.

For the year ending December 31, 2019, there were two related party transac�ons (see NOTE 8) between the Company’s Execu�ve Chairman and the Company. There were no other related party transac�ons between any of the Company’s directors or execu�ve officers or any person
nominated or chosen by the Company to become a director or execu�ve officer.
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$ 42,000 $ 42,000

$ 20,000 $ 20,000

$ 28,400 $ -

$ 37,215 $ -

$ 127,615 $ 62,000



NOTE 10 – STOCKHOLDER’S DEFICIT

Authorized Capital

As of December 31, 2020, the Company has 300,000,000 authorized shares of Common Stock at $0.01 par value and 50,000,000 authorized shares of Preferred Stock at a par value of $0.10.

Preferred Stock

During the year ending December 31, 2020, the Company accrued 30,000 shares of Series A conver�ble preferred stock of its officers (see NOTE 9). During the year ending December 31, 2019, the Company issued no shares of Preferred Stock.

Common Stock

During the year ending December 31, 2020, the Company issued 3,650,000 at $2.00 per share for the Barrister acquisi�on and issued 9,000 shares at a share price of $2.00 for cash proceeds. During the year ending December 31, 2019, no shares of Common Stock were issued.

During the years ending December 31, 2020, and December 31, 2019, the Company did not repurchase any shares.

The above shares of capital stock are restricted securi�es under Rule 144 and were issued in reliance on an exemp�on from the registra�on requirements of the Securi�es Act.

Capital Contribu�ons

During the years ending December 31, 2020, and December 31, 2019, the Company did not receive any capital contribu�ons.

NOTE 11 – PROVISION FOR INCOME TAXES

The Company provides for income taxes using the liability method in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 740 “Income Taxes”. Deferred income taxes arise from the differences in the recogni�on of income and expenses for tax purposes. There were no deferred tax assets or liabili�es at
December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019.

Management has reviewed the provisions regarding assessment of their valua�on allowance on deferred tax assets and based on that criterion determined that it would not have sufficient taxable income to realize those assets. Therefore, management has assessed the realiza�on of
the deferred tax assets and has determined that it is more likely than not that they will not be realized and has provided a full valua�on allowance against the deferred tax asset.

The Company recognizes the financial statement impact of a tax posi�on only a�er determining that the relevant tax authority would more likely than not sustain the posi�on following an audit. For tax posi�ons mee�ng the more-likely-than–not threshold, the amount recognized in
the consolidated financial statements is the largest benefit that has a greater than 50 percent likelihood of being realized upon ul�mate se�lement with the relevant tax authority.

The Company is subject to income taxes in the U.S. federal jurisdic�on and the state Virginia. The tax regula�ons within each jurisdic�on are subject to interpreta�on of related tax laws and regula�ons and require significant judgment to apply. The Company is not presently undergoing
any tax audits. As of December 31, 2020, the tax years
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that remain subject to examina�on are 2020, 2019, 2018, and 2017 for Federal and 2020, 2019, 2018, and 2017 for state.

The Company will apply the federal and state NOL carry-forward in FY 2020 and later years.

Income Taxes

On December 22, 2017, the United States Government passed new tax legisla�on that, among other provisions, will lower the corporate tax rate from 35% to 21%. In addi�on to applying the new lower corporate tax rate in 2018 and therea�er to any taxable income we may have, the
legisla�on affects the way we can use and carry forward net opera�ng losses previously accumulated and results in a revalua�on of deferred tax assets recorded on our balance sheet. Given that the deferred tax assets are offset by a full valua�on allowance, these changes have no net
impact on the Company’s financial posi�on and net loss. However, when we become profitable, we will receive a reduced benefit from such deferred tax assets.

A reconcilia�on of the income tax provision computed at statutory rates to the reported tax provision is as follows:

 
Year ended

               December 31, 2020
Year ended

               December 31, 2019

Federal income tax rate   

Loss before income taxes   

Non-deduc�ble expenses   

Taxable loss   

Expected approximate tax recovery on net loss, before income tax   

Changes in valua�on allowance   

Income tax   

The component of the Company’s deferred tax asset is as follows:

 As of
                        December 31,

2020

As of                  December
31, 2019

Deferred income tax assets:   

    Net opera�ng losses carried forward   

Less: valua�on allowance   

Deferred income tax assets   

The Company has a valua�on allowance against the full amount of its net deferred tax assets due to the uncertainty of realiza�on of the deferred tax assets.

At December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the Company has incurred accumulated net opera�ng losses in the United States of America totaling $798,465 and $43,032 respec�vely which are available to reduce taxable income in future taxa�on years.
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21.0% 21.0%

$ 1,363,296  $ 35,169  

(600,000) -  

$ 763,296  $ 35,169  

$ 160,292  $ 7,385  

(160,292) (7,385) 

$ -  $ -  

$ 169,328 $ 9,036 

(169,328) (9,036)

$ - $ - 



NOTE 12 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Opera�ng Lease Commitments

The Company has no lease obliga�ons at December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019. The Company has a month-to-month rental agreement for an office share in Arlington, Virginia beginning on April 1, 2018, for $50 per month. Addi�onally, the Company has no known con�ngencies
as of December 31, 2020, and December 31, 2019.

Purchase Commitments

The Company has no purchase obliga�ons at December 31, 2020.

Significant Risks and Uncertain�es

Concentra�on of Credit Risk – Cash – The Company maintains cash and cash equivalent balances at a single financial ins�tu�on that are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corpora�on (FDIC) up to $250,000. At December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the Company had no
exposure in excess of insurance.

Concentra�on of Credit Risk – Accounts Receivable – The Company had no revenue genera�ng opera�ons and therefore no accounts receivable as of the date of these financial statements.

Legal Ma�ers

During the course of business, li�ga�on commonly occurs. From �me to �me, the Company may be a party to li�ga�on ma�ers involving claims against the Company. The Company operates in a highly regulated industry and employs personnel, which may inherently lend itself to legal
ma�ers. Management is aware that li�ga�on has associated costs and that results of adverse li�ga�on verdicts could have a material effect on the Company's financial posi�on or results of opera�ons.

There are no known legal proceedings against the Company or its officers and directors in their capacity as officers and directors of the Company.

COVID-19

On January 30, 2020, the World Health Organiza�on declared the coronavirus outbreak a "Public Health Emergency of Interna�onal Concern" and on March 10, 2020, declared it to be a pandemic. Ac�ons taken around the world to help mi�gate the spread of the coronavirus include
restric�ons on travel, and quaran�nes in certain areas, and forced closures for certain types of public places and businesses. The coronavirus and ac�ons taken to mi�gate it have had and are expected to con�nue to have an adverse impact on the economies and financial markets of
many countries, including the geographical area in which the Company operates. While it is unknown how long these condi�ons will last and what the complete financial effect will be to the company, to date, the Company is not expec�ng to experience any adverse effects other than:

Difficulty in communica�ng with poten�al acquisi�on targets.

Fund-raising events may be limited.

Addi�onally, it is possible that es�mates made in the financial statements have been, or will be, materially and adversely impacted in the near term as a result of these condi�ons, including the ability to raise addi�onal funding.
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NOTE 13 – ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATION

The Company provides for the obliga�on to plug and abandon oil and gas wells at the dates proper�es are either acquired or the wells are drilled. The asset re�rement obliga�on is adjusted each quarter for any liabili�es incurred or se�led during the period, accre�on expense and any
revisions made to the es�mated cash flows. The asset re�rement obliga�on incurred at the �me of drilling was computed using the annual credit-adjusted risk-free discount rate at the applicable dates. Changes in the asset re�rement obliga�on were as follows:

Balance, June 15, 2020  

Liabili�es acquired  

Liabili�es incurred  

Liabili�es se�led  

Accre�on expense  

Balance, December 31, 2020  

NOTE 14 - SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

The Company has evaluated all events that occurred a�er the balance sheet date through the date when the financial statements were issued to determine if they must be reported. The management of the Company determined that there no reportable subsequent events to be
disclosed beyond the following:

Issuance of Common Shares

On January 4, 2021, the company issued 310,250 shares of common stock to Newbridge Securi�es Corpora�on in se�lement of $620,500 in M&A fees for the Barrister acquisi�on.

On February 23, 2021, the company issued 42,500 shares of common stock to various vendors in se�lement of $85,000 in strategic consul�ng fees.

On February 23, 2021, the company issued 15,000 shares of common stock to various vendors in se�lement of $30,000 in board consul�ng fees.

On February 23, 2021, the company issued 42,500 shares of common stock to various vendors in se�lement of $85,000 in accoun�ng consul�ng fees.

During the first quarter of 2021 the company issued 17,500 shares of common stock for sale of shares for cash.

Issuance of Common Shares to Officers

On January 4, 2021, the Company issued 5,000 shares of common stock to Jeffrey J. Guzy, the CEO.

On January 4, 2021, the Company issued 5,000 shares of common stock to Wm. Barre� Wellman, the CFO.

Issuance of Preferred Shares to Officers

On January 4, 2021, the Company issued 20,000 shares of Series A conver�ble preferred stock to Jeffrey J. Guzy, the CEO. Each share is conver�ble at the op�on of the holder to ten (10) shares of common stock.

On January 4, 2021, the Company issued 10,000 shares of Series A conver�ble preferred stock to Wm. Barre� Wellman, the CFO. Each share is conver�ble at the op�on of the holder to ten (10) shares of common stock.
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$ - 

82,149 

- 

- 

(2,347)

$ 79,802 



Oil Price Fluctua�ons and Uncertainty

Our financial results depend on many factors, par�cularly the price of natural gas and crude oil and our ability to market our produc�on on economically a�rac�ve terms. Commodity prices are affected by many factors outside of our control, including changes in market supply and
demand, which are impacted by weather condi�ons, pipeline capacity constraints, inventory storage levels, basis differen�als and other factors. As a result, we cannot accurately predict future commodity prices and, therefore, we cannot determine with any degree of certainty what
effect increases or decreases in these prices will have on our drilling program, produc�on volumes or revenues.

The recent oscilla�ons in the price of oil will force us to re-evaluate our current acquisi�on strategy as the price of natural gas and oil fluctuate in the future.  We expect oil and natural gas to remain vola�le. The ability to find and develop sufficient amounts of natural gas and crude oil
reserves at economical costs are cri�cal to our long-term success of the Company.
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CoJax Oil and Gas Corpora�on
 

 

 

 

 

 

Condensed Financial Statements
March 31, 2021

 
 

The unaudited condensed financial statements included herein have been prepared pursuant to the rules and regula�ons of the Securi�es and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). Accordingly, certain disclosures required by accoun�ng principles generally accepted in the United States and
normally included in Annual Reports on Form 10-K have been omi�ed. Although management believes that our disclosures are adequate to make the informa�on presented not misleading, these unaudited interim financial statements should be read in conjunc�on with the
Company’s audited financial statements and related footnotes included in its most recent Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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COJAX OIL AND GAS CORPORATION
CONDENSED BALANCE SHEETS

(UNAUDITED)
 

 March 31, December 31,

As of 2021 2020

ASSETS     

Current Assets     

Cash and cash equivalents   

Total Current Assets   

Proper�es and Equipment   

Oil and natural gas proper�es subject to amor�za�on   

Total Proper�es and Equipment   

Total Assets   

   

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY   

Current Liabili�es   

Accounts payable   

Accrued interest payable   

Accrued M&A expense payable   

Accrued salary expense   

Notes payable – PPP   

Notes payable – related party   

Total Current Liabili�es   

Long-term Liabili�es   

Barrister acquisi�on note payable   

Asset re�rement obliga�ons   

Total long-term liabili�es   

Total Liabili�es   

Stockholders' Equity   

Preferred stock, $0.10 par value, 50,000,000 current shares authorized,
30,000 shares issued and outstanding, respec�vely.   

Common stock, $0.01 par value, 300,000,000 current shares authorized,
4,096,751 and 3.659,001 shares issued and outstanding, respec�vely.   

Addi�onal paid-in capital   

Accumulated deficit   

Total Stockholders’ Equity   

Total Liabili�es and Stockholders' Equity   

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed financial statements.
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$ 71,250 $ 44,051 

71,250 44,051 

10,079,803 10,079,802 

10,079,803 10,079,802 

10,151,053 10,123,853 

35,384 17,799 

3,039 2,410 

- 620,500 

27,013 611,714 

49,992 49,992 

127,615 127,615 

243,043 1,430,030 

2,700,000 2,700,000 

82,754 82,149 

2,782,754 2,782,149 

3,025,797 4,212,179 

3,000 - 

40,968 36,590 

8,749,534 7,281,412 

(1,668,246) (1,406,328)

7,125,256 5,911,674 

$ 10,151,053 $ 10,123,853 



COJAX OIL AND GAS CORPORATION
CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(UNAUDITED)
 

 For the Three Months

 Ended March 31,

 2021 2020

Oil and Natural Gas Revenues   

   

Costs and Opera�ng Expenses   

Lease opera�ng expenses   

Ad valorem taxes   

Asset re�rement obliga�on accre�on   

General and administra�ve expense   

Total Opera�ng Expenses   

   

Loss from Opera�ons   

   

Other Income (Expense)   

Interest income   

Interest (expense)   

   

Net Other Income (Expense)   

   

Net Loss   

   

Basic and Diluted Earnings (Loss) per share   

Weighted average common shares – basic and diluted   

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed financial statements.
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$ 8,160 $ - 

26,941 - 

490 - 

604 - 

241,413 32,819 

269,448 32,819 

(261,288) 32,819 

- - 

(630) - 

(630) - 

$ (261,918) $ (32,819)

(0.06) (32,819)

4,052,939 1 



COJAX OIL AND GAS CORPORATION
CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(UNAUDITED)
 

For the Three Months Ended March 31, 2021 2020

Cash flows from opera�ng ac�vi�es:   

Net loss   

Common stock issued for services   

Adjustments to reconcile Net loss to net cash provided by (used in)
opera�ons:   

Amor�za�on of asset re�rement obliga�on   

Accounts payable   

Accrued salaries and payroll taxes   

Accrued interest payable   

Total adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by opera�ons   

Net cash used in opera�ng ac�vi�es   

   

Cash flows from inves�ng ac�vi�es:   

   

Cash flows from financing ac�vi�es:   

Proceeds from loans payable – related party   

Proceeds from sale of common stock   

Net cash provided by financing ac�vi�es   

   

Net increase in cash   

Cash at beginning of period   

Cash at end of period   

   

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash inves�ng and financing ac�vi�es:   

Preferred shares issued for accrued compensa�on   

Accrued M&A fees se�led with common stock   

Accrued salaries se�led with common stock   

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed financial statements.
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$ (261,918) $ (32,819)

220,000 - 

604 - 

17,586 (6,800)

15,298 29,674 

629 375 

254,117 23,249 

(7,801) (9,570)

- - 

- 28,400 

35,000 - 

35,000 28,400 

27,199 18,830 

44,051 27,689 

$ 71,250 $ 46,519 

$ 600,000 $ - 

$ 620,500 $ - 

$ 20,000 $ - 



COJAX OIL AND GAS CORPORATION
CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(UNAUDITED)
 

   Addi�onal  Total
 Preferred stock Common stock paid-in Accumulated Stockholder’s
 Shares Amount Shares Amount capital deficit deficit

Balance, December 31, 2019        

Net (loss) for the three months
ending March 31, 2020        

Balance, March 31, 2020        

        

Balance, December 31, 2020        

Sales of common stock        

Share-based vendor payments and
compensa�on        

Preferred shares issued for accrued
compensa�on

       

Share-based compensa�on        

Net (loss) for the three months
ending March 31, 2021

       

Balance, March 31, 2021        

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed financial statements.
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- $ - 1 $ - $ 2 $ (43,532) $ (43,530)

- - - - - (32,819) (32,819)

- $ - 1 $ - $ 2 $ (76,351) $ (76,349)

- $ - 3,659,001 $ 36,590 $ 7,281,412 $ (1,406,328) $ 5,911,674 

- - 17,500 175 34,825 - 35,000 

- - 410,250 4,103 816,397 - 820,500 

30,000 3,000 - - 597,000 - 600,000 

- - 10,000 100 19,900 - 20,000 

- - - - - (261,918) (261,918)

30,000 $ 3,000 4,096,751 $ 40,968 $ 8,749,534 $ (1,668,246) $ 7,125,256 



COJAX OIL AND GAS CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(UNAUDITED)

NOTE 1 – BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Condensed Financial Statements – The accompanying condensed financial statements prepared by CoJax Oil and Gas Corpora�on (the “Company” or “CoJax”) have not been audited by an independent registered public accoun�ng firm.  In the opinion of the Company’s management,
the accompanying unaudited financial statements contain all adjustments necessary for fair presenta�on of the results of opera�ons for the periods presented, which adjustments were of a normal recurring nature, except as disclosed herein. The results of opera�ons for the three
months ended March 31, 2021, are not necessarily indica�ve of the results to be expected for the full year ending December 31, 2021, for various reasons, including as a result of the impact of fluctua�ons in prices received for oil and natural gas, natural produc�on declines, the
uncertainty of explora�on and development drilling results, fluctua�ons in the fair value of deriva�ve instruments, the impacts of COVID-19 and other factors.

These unaudited condensed financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with accoun�ng principles generally accepted in the United States (“GAAP”) for interim financial informa�on, and, accordingly, do not include all of the informa�on and footnotes
required by GAAP for complete financial statements.  Therefore, these financial statements should be read in conjunc�on with the Company’s annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020.

Organiza�on and Nature of Opera�ons – The Company is a Virginia corpora�on that owns interests in oil and natural gas proper�es located in Alabama. The Company’s oil and natural gas sales, profitability and future growth are dependent upon prevailing and future prices for oil and
natural gas and the successful acquisi�on, explora�on and development of oil and natural gas proper�es. Oil and natural gas prices have historically been vola�le and may be subject to wide fluctua�ons in the future. A substan�al decline in oil and natural gas prices could have a
material adverse effect on the Company’s financial posi�on, results of opera�ons, cash flows and quan��es of oil and natural gas reserves that may be economically produced.

COVID - 19 – In March 2020, the World Health Organiza�on classified the outbreak of COVID-19 as a pandemic. The nature of COVID-19 led to worldwide shutdowns, reduc�ons in commercial and interpersonal ac�vity and changes in consumer behavior. In a�emp�ng to control the
spread of COVID-19, governments worldwide imposed laws and regula�ons such as shelter-in-place orders, quaran�nes, execu�ve orders and similar restric�ons. As a result, the global economy has been marked by significant slowdown and uncertainty, which in turn has led to a
precipitous decline in oil prices in response to decreased demand, further exacerbated by global energy storage shortages and by the price war among members of the Organiza�on of Petroleum Expor�ng Countries (“OPEC”) and other non-OPEC producer na�ons (collec�vely with
OPEC members, “OPEC+”) during the first quarter 2020. As of the first quarter 2021, prices have recovered to pre-pandemic levels, due in part to the accessibility of vaccines, reopening of states a�er the lockdown, and op�mism about the economic recovery.  The con�nued spread of
COVID-19, including-vaccine resistant strains, or repeated deteriora�on in oil and natural gas prices could result in addi�onal adverse impacts on the Company's results of opera�ons, cash flows and financial posi�on, including further asset impairments.

Liquidity and Capital Considera�ons – We strive to maintain an adequate liquidity level to address vola�lity and risk. Sources of liquidity include loans from our CEO, our cash flow from opera�ons, cash on hand, and sales of shares.

While changes in oil and natural gas prices affect the Company's liquidity, if oil or natural gas prices rapidly deteriorate due to a resurgence of COVID-19 or other reasons, this could have a material adverse effect on the Company's cash flows.
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The Company expects ongoing oil price vola�lity over the short term. Extended depressed oil prices have historically had and could con�nue to have a material adverse impact on the Company’s oil revenue.  The Company is always mindful to oil price vola�lity and its impact on our
liquidity.

Use of Es�mates – The prepara�on of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make es�mates and assump�ons that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabili�es, disclosure of con�ngent assets and liabili�es and the reported amounts of
revenues and expenses during the repor�ng period.  The Company’s unaudited condensed financial statements are based on a number of significant es�mates, including es�mates of oil and natural gas reserve quan��es, which are the basis for the calcula�on of deple�on and
impairment of oil and gas proper�es.  Reserve es�mates, by their nature, are inherently imprecise.  Actual results could differ from those es�mates. Changes in the future es�mated oil and natural gas reserves or the es�mated future cash flows a�ributable to the reserves that are
u�lized for impairment analysis could have a significant impact on the Company’s future results of opera�ons.

Fair Value Measurements – Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transac�on between market par�cipants at the measurement date (exit price). The Financial Accoun�ng Standards Board (“FASB”) has established a fair
value hierarchy that priori�zes the inputs to valua�on techniques used to measure fair value. This hierarchy consists of three broad levels. Level 1 inputs are the highest priority and consist of unadjusted quoted prices in ac�ve markets for iden�cal assets and liabili�es. Level 2 are
inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly. Level 3 are unobservable inputs for an asset or liability.

Fair Values of Financial Instruments – The carrying amounts of accounts receivables and accounts payable and other current assets and liabili�es approximate fair value because of the short-term maturi�es and/or liquid nature of these assets and liabili�es.

Deriva�ve Instruments and Commodity Risk Ac�vi�es – The Company currently does not engage in deriva�ve instruments. Going forward, the Company may periodically enter into deriva�ve contracts to manage its exposure to commodity risk. These deriva�ve contracts, which are
generally placed with major financial ins�tu�ons, may take the form of forward contracts, futures contracts, swaps or op�ons. The oil and gas reference prices upon which the commodity deriva�ve contracts are based reflect various market indices that have a high degree of historical
correla�on with actual prices received by the Company for its oil and gas produc�on.

Any gains or losses resul�ng from changes in fair value of outstanding deriva�ve financial instruments and from the se�lement of deriva�ve financial instruments will be recognized in earnings and included as a component of other income (expense) in the Statement of Opera�ons.

When applicable, the Company will record all deriva�ve instruments, other than those that meet the normal purchases and sales excep�on, on the balance sheet as either an asset or liability measured at fair value. Changes in fair value are recognized currently in earnings unless
specific hedge accoun�ng criteria are met.

Concentra�on of Credit Risk –The Company maintains cash and cash equivalent balances at a single financial ins�tu�on that are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corpora�on (FDIC) up to $250,000. At December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the Company had no exposure
in excess of insurance.

Oil and Gas Proper�es – The Company uses the successful effort method of accoun�ng for oil and gas proper�es.  Under this method, all costs associated with the acquisi�on, leasing, explora�on and development of oil and gas reserves are expensed. Costs expensed include
acquisi�on costs, es�mated future costs of abandonment and site restora�on, geological and geophysical expenditures, lease rentals on undeveloped proper�es and costs of drilling and equipping produc�ve and non-produc�ve wells. Drilling costs include directly related overhead
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costs.  Expensed costs are generally categorized either as being subject to amor�za�on or not subject to amor�za�on.

Deprecia�on, deple�on and amor�za�on expense for the three months ended March 31, 2021, was $0 per barrel of oil equivalent compared to $0, for the three months ended March 31, 2020.

Equipment, vehicles and leasehold improvements – Currently, the Company has no office equipment. Going forward, office equipment will be valued at historical cost adjusted for impairment loss less accumulated deprecia�on. Historical costs include all direct costs associated with
the acquisi�on of office equipment and placing such equipment in service. Deprecia�on will be calculated using the straight-line method based upon an es�mated useful life of 3 to 10 years.

Asset Re�rement Obliga�on – The Company records a liability in the period in which an asset re�rement obliga�on (“ARO”) is incurred, in an amount equal to the discounted es�mated fair value of the obliga�on that is capitalized. Therea�er, this liability is accreted up to the final
es�mated re�rement cost. An ARO is a future expenditure related to the disposal or other re�rement of certain assets. The Company’s ARO relates to future plugging and abandonment expenses of its oil and natural gas proper�es and related facili�es disposal.

Share-Based Employee Compensa�on – The Company has no outstanding stock op�on grants and restricted stock awards to directors, officers and employees. The Company recognizes the cost of employee services received in exchange for an award of equity instruments based on
the grant-date fair value of the award and recognizes the related compensa�on expense over the period during which an employee is required to provide service in exchange for the award, which is generally the ves�ng period.

Share-Based Compensa�on to Non-Employees – The Company accounts for share-based compensa�on issued to non-employees as either the fair value of the considera�on received or the fair value of the equity instruments issued, whichever is more reliably measurable. The
measurement date for these issuances is the earlier of (i) the date at which a commitment for performance by the recipient to earn the equity instruments is reached or (ii) the date at which the recipient’s performance is complete.

Income Taxes – Provisions for income taxes are based on taxes payable or refundable for the current year and deferred taxes. Deferred taxes are based on differences between the tax bases of assets and liabili�es and their reported amounts in the financial statements, and tax carry
forwards. Deferred tax assets and liabili�es are included in the financial statements at currently enacted income tax rates applicable to the period in which the deferred tax assets and liabili�es are expected to be realized or se�led. As changes in tax laws or rates are enacted, deferred
tax assets and liabili�es are adjusted through the provision for income taxes.

The CARES Act was enacted March 27, 2020, and includes income tax provisions that, among other things, allow net opera�ng losses to be carried back, permits interest expense to be deducted up to a higher percentage of adjusted taxable income and modifies tax deprecia�on of
qualified improvement property. Due to the Company having taxable losses in all years eligible for the NOL carryback, no benefit was recorded and these provisions have no material impact on the Company.

For the period ended March 31, 2021, the Company recorded no income tax expense or benefit due to the Company having a full valua�on allowance against its net deferred tax assets. Since December 31, 2020, the Company has determined that a full valua�on allowance is necessary
due to the Company assessment that it is more likely than not that it will be unable to obtain the benefits of its deferred tax assets due to the Company’s history of taxable losses. The Company reviews its Deferred Tax Assets (“DTAs”) and valua�on allowance on a quarterly basis.

New and Recently Adopted Accoun�ng Pronouncements – In December 2019, the FASB released ASU No. 2019-12 (“ASU 2019-12”), Income Taxes (Topic 740) – Simplifying the Accoun�ng for Income Taxes, which removes certain
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excep�ons for recognizing deferred taxes for investments, performing intraperiod alloca�on and calcula�ng income taxes in interim periods. The ASU also adds guidance to reduce complexity in certain areas, including recognizing deferred taxes for tax goodwill and alloca�ng taxes to
members of a consolidated group. The amended standard is effec�ve for fiscal years beginning a�er December 15, 2020. The adop�on of ASU 2019-12 did not have a material impact to the Company’s consolidated financial statements or disclosures.

In October 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-10, “Codifica�on Improvements,” which clarifies or improves disclosure requirements for various topics to align with SEC regula�ons. This update is effec�ve for the Company beginning in the first quarter of 2021 and will be applied
retrospec�vely. The adop�on and implementa�on of this ASU did not have a material impact on the Company’s financial statements.

Basic and Diluted Earnings per Share – Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing net income by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the period.  Diluted earnings per share reflects the poten�al dilu�on that could occur if all contracts to issue
common stock were converted into common stock, except for those that are an�-dilu�ve.  The dilu�ve effect of stock op�ons and other share-based compensa�on is calculated using the treasury method. The computa�on of diluted loss per share does not assume exercise or
conversion of securi�es that would have an an�-dilu�ve effect. As of March 31, 2021, the effect of 3,000 conver�ble preferred shares into 300,000 common shares was excluded from the computa�on of diluted net loss per common share as their effect is an�-dilu�ve.

NOTE 2 – GOING CONCERN DISCLOSURE

The Company’s financial statements are prepared using U.S. GAAP applicable to a going concern that contemplates the realiza�on of assets and liquida�on of liabili�es in the normal course of business. During 2020, the Company has acquired Barrister Energy with iden�fied proven or
probable reserves and correspondingly expects to be genera�ng revenue during its explora�on stage. There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to achieve its business plan, raise any addi�onal capital or secure the addi�onal financing necessary to implement its current
opera�ng plan. The accompanying financial statements do not include any adjustments that might be necessary if the Company is unable to con�nue as a going concern.

The Company has yet to achieve profitable opera�ons, expects to incur further losses in the development of its business, has nega�ve cash flows from opera�ng ac�vi�es, and is dependent upon future issuances of equity or other financing to fund ongoing opera�ons, all of which
raises substan�al doubt about the Company’s ability to con�nue as a going concern. The Company’s ability to con�nue as a going concern is dependent upon its ability to generate future profitable opera�ons and/or to obtain the necessary financing from shareholders or other sources
to meet its obliga�ons and repay its liabili�es arising from normal business opera�ons when they come due. Management has no formal plan in place to address this concern but considers that the Company will be able to obtain addi�onal funds by equity financing and/or related
party advances, however, there is no assurance of addi�onal funding being available or on acceptable terms, if at all.

NOTE 3 – REVENUE RECOGNITION

The Company predominantly derives its revenue from the sale of produced crude oil and natural gas. The contractual performance obliga�on is sa�sfied when the product is delivered to the customer.  Revenue is recorded in the month the product is delivered to the purchaser and the
Company receives payment from one to three months a�er delivery.  The transac�on price includes variable considera�on as product pricing is based on published market prices and reduced for contract specified differen�als.  The guidance does not require that the transac�on price
be fixed or stated in the contract.
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Oil sales

Under the Company’s oil sales contracts, the Company sells oil produc�on at the point of delivery and collects an agreed upon index price, net of pricing differen�als. The Company recognizes revenue when control transfers to the purchaser at the point of delivery at the net price
received.

Natural gas sales

The Company currently is not producing natural gas.

Disaggrega�on of Revenue. The following table presents revenues disaggregated by product for the three months ended March 31, 2021, and 2020:

 For the Three Months

 Ended March 31,

 2021 2020

Revenues by Product:     

Oil   

Natural gas   

Oil and natural gas revenues   

All revenues are from produc�on from the Gulf State Drilling Region in Alabama.

NOTE 4 – LEASES

Effec�ve January 1, 2019, the Company adopted ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842). The purpose of this guidance is to increase transparency and comparability among organiza�ons by recognizing certain lease assets and lease liabili�es on the balance sheet and disclosing key
informa�on about leasing arrangements. The main difference between previous GAAP methodology and the method proposed by this new guidance is the recogni�on on the balance sheet of certain lease assets and lease liabili�es by lessees for those leases that were classified as
opera�ng leases under previous GAAP.

The Company made accoun�ng policy elec�ons to not capitalize leases with a lease term of twelve months or less and to not separate lease and non-lease components for all asset classes. The Company has also elected to adopt the package of prac�cal expedients within ASU 2016-02
that allows an en�ty to not reassess prior to the effec�ve date (i) whether any expired or exis�ng contracts are or contain leases, (ii) the lease classifica�on for any expired or exis�ng leases, or (iii) ini�al direct costs for any exis�ng leases and the prac�cal expedient regarding land
easements that exist prior to the adop�on of ASU 2016-02. The Company did not elect the prac�cal expedient of hindsight when determining the lease term of exis�ng contracts at the effec�ve date.

The Company has a month-to-month rental agreement for our offices in the Arlington, Virginia and Laurel, Mississippi.

NOTE 5 – EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE INFORMATION

The Company computes basic loss per share by dividing net loss by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the period. The Company computes diluted loss per share by dividing net loss by the sum of the weighted-average number of common shares
outstanding and the weighted-average dilu�ve common share equivalents outstanding.
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$ 8,160 $ -

- -

$ 8,160 $ -



 For the Three Months

 Ended March 31,

 2021 2020

Net Income (Loss)   

Basic Weighted-Average Shares Outstanding   

Effect of dilu�ve securi�es:   

Stock op�ons n/a  n/a  

Conver�ble preferred stock n/a  n/a  

Restricted stock n/a  n/a  

Common warrants n/a  n/a  

Diluted Weighted-Average Shares Outstanding   

Basic and Diluted Earnings (Loss) per Share   

NOTE 6 – FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transac�on between market par�cipants at the measurement date (exit price). The authorita�ve guidance requires disclosure of the framework for measuring fair value and requires
that fair value measurements be classified and disclosed in one of the following categories:

Level 1:  Unadjusted quoted prices in ac�ve markets that are accessible at the measurement date for iden�cal, unrestricted assets or liabili�es. We consider ac�ve markets as those in which transac�ons for the assets or liabili�es occur with sufficient frequency and volume to provide
pricing informa�on on an ongoing basis.

Level 2:  Quoted prices in markets that are not ac�ve, or inputs that are observable, either directly or indirectly, for substan�ally the full term of the asset or liability. This category includes those deriva�ve instruments that we value using observable market data. Substan�ally all of
these inputs are observable in the marketplace throughout the full term of the deriva�ve instrument, can be derived from observable data or are supported by observable levels at which transac�ons are executed in the marketplace.

Level 3:  Measured based on prices or valua�on models that require inputs that are both significant to the fair value measurement and less observable from objec�ve sources (i.e., supported by li�le or no market ac�vity).

Fair value es�mates discussed herein are based upon certain market assump�ons and per�nent informa�on available to management as of March 31, 2021, and March 31, 2020. The respec�ve carrying value of certain on-balance-sheet financial instruments approximated their fair
values due to the short-term nature of these instruments.

NOTE 7 – ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATION

The Company records the obliga�on to plug and abandon oil and gas wells at the date’s proper�es are either acquired or the wells are drilled. The asset re�rement obliga�on is adjusted each quarter for any liabili�es incurred or se�led during the period, accre�on expense and any
revisions made to the costs or �ming es�mates. The asset re�rement obliga�on is incurred using an annual credit-adjusted risk-free discount rate at the applicable dates. Changes in the asset re�rement obliga�on were as follows:

Balance, December 31, 2020  

Liabili�es incurred  

Liabili�es acquired  

Liabili�es sold  

Revision of previous es�mates  
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$ (266,918) $ (32,819)

4,052,939 1 

4,096,751 1 

$ (0.06) $ (32,819)

$ 82,150

-

-

-

-



Liabili�es se�led  

Accre�on expense  

Balance, March 31, 2021  

NOTE 8 – CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS

Opera�ng Lease Commitments

The Company has no lease obliga�ons at March 31, 2021, and March 31, 2020. The Company has a month-to-month rental agreement for an office share in Arlington, Virginia beginning on April 1, 2018, for $50 per month. Addi�onally, the Company has no known con�ngencies as of
March 31, 2021, and March 31, 2020.

Purchase Commitments

The Company has no purchase obliga�ons at March 31, 2021.

Significant Risks and Uncertain�es

Concentra�on of Credit Risk – Cash – The Company maintains cash and cash equivalent balances at a single financial ins�tu�on that are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corpora�on (FDIC) up to $250,000. At December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the Company had no
exposure in excess of insurance.

Concentra�on of Credit Risk – Accounts Receivable – The Company had no revenue genera�ng opera�ons and therefore no accounts receivable as of the date of these financial statements.

Legal Ma�ers

During the course of business, li�ga�on commonly occurs. From �me to �me, the Company may be a party to li�ga�on ma�ers involving claims against the Company. The Company operates in a highly regulated industry and employs personnel, which may inherently lend itself to legal
ma�ers. Management is aware that li�ga�on has associated costs and that results of adverse li�ga�on verdicts could have a material effect on the Company's financial posi�on or results of opera�ons.

There are no known legal proceedings against the Company or its officers and directors in their capacity as officers and directors of the Company.

NOTE 9 – RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

On January 4, 2021, the Company issued 20,000 shares of Series A conver�ble preferred stock to Jeffrey J. Guzy, the CEO and 10,000 shares of Series A conver�ble stock to Wm. Barre� Wellman, the CFO. Each share is conver�ble at the op�on of the holder to ten (10) shares of
common stock. The fair value of $600,000 ($20 per share) has been recorded as part of accrued salaries and payroll taxes.  The fair value was based on the value assigned to common stock ($2 per share) mul�plied by 10. Addi�onally, on January 4, 2021, the Company issued 5,000
shares of Common Stock to each of the officers valued at $2 per share.

For the year ending December 31, 2020, there were two related party transac�ons between the Company’s Execu�ve Chairman and the Company. There were no other related party transac�ons between any of the Company’s directors or execu�ve officers or any person nominated or
chosen by the Company to become a director or execu�ve officer.
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NOTE 10 – STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Authorized Capital

As of March 31, 2021, the Company has 300,000,000 authorized shares of Common Stock at $0.01 par value and 50,000,000 authorized shares of Preferred Stock at a par value of $0.10.

Preferred Stock

During the period ending March 31, 2021, the Company issued 30,000 shares of Series A conver�ble preferred stock to its officers (see NOTE 9) in se�lement of $600,000 of accrued salary. During the period ending March 31, 2020, the Company issued no shares of Preferred Stock.

Common Stock

During the period ending March 31, 2021, the company issued 310,250 shares of common stock to Newbridge Securi�es Corpora�on in se�lement of $620,500 in M&A fees for the Barrister acquisi�on, 100,000 shares of common stock to various vendors in se�lement of $200,000 in
service and consul�ng fees and 10,000 shares of common stock to its execu�ve officers (see NOTE 9).

During the first quarter of 2021 the company issued 17,500 shares of common stock for sale of shares for cash.

During the periods ending March 31, 2021, and March 31, 2020, the Company did not repurchase any shares.

The above shares of capital stock are restricted securi�es under Rule 144 and were issued in reliance on an exemp�on from the registra�on requirements of the Securi�es Act.

Capital Contribu�ons

During the periods ending March 31, 2021, and March 31, 2020, the Company did not receive any capital contribu�ons.

NOTE 11 – SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

The Company has evaluated all events that occurred a�er the balance sheet date through the date when the financial statements were issued to determine if they must be reported. The management of the Company determined that there no reportable subsequent events to be
disclosed.
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PART II
 

INFORMATION NOT REQUIRED IN PROSPECTUS

Item 13. Other Expenses of Issuance and Distribu�on
 
The following table sets forth the costs and expenses payable by us in connec�on with the sale of common stock being registered. All amounts are es�mates except for the SEC filing fee.

 
SEC filing fee  
Legal fees and expenses  
Accoun�ng fees and expenses  
Total  

 
Item 14. Indemnifica�on of Directors and Officers
 
We currently maintain and intend to maintain for the foreseeable future director and officer liability insurance on behalf of our directors and officers.
 

The Virginia Stock Corpora�on Act (“VSCA”) permits us to indemnify our directors and officers in connec�on with certain ac�ons, suits and proceedings brought against them if they acted in good faith and believed their conduct to be in the best interests of the Company and, in the
case of criminal ac�ons, had no reasonable cause to believe that the conduct was unlawful. The VSCA requires such indemnifica�on when a director or officer en�rely prevails in the defense of any proceeding to which he or she was a party because he or she is or was a director or
officer of the company, and further provides that we may make any other or further indemnity (including indemnity with respect to a proceeding by or in the right of the company), and may make addi�onal provision for advances and reimbursement of expenses, if authorized by our
Amended and Restated Ar�cles of Incorpora�on or shareholder-adopted Bylaws, except an indemnity against willful misconduct or a knowing viola�on of criminal law. Our Amended and Restated Ar�cles of Incorpora�on provide that a director or officer or former director or officer of
the Company shall be indemnified to the fullest extent permi�ed by the VSCA as currently in effect or as later amended in connec�on with any ac�on, suit or proceeding (including a proceeding by us or in our right) because such individual is or was a director or officer of the company,
or because such individual is or was serving the company or any other legal en�ty in any capacity at the request of the company.

The VSCA establishes a statutory limit on liability of directors and officers and directors of the company for damages assessed against them in a suit brought by us or in our right or brought by or on behalf of shareholders of the company and authorizes us, with shareholder approval, to
specify a lower monetary limit on liability in our Amended and Restated Ar�cles of Incorpora�on or Bylaws; however, the liability of a director or officer shall not be limited if such director or officer engaged in willful misconduct or a knowing viola�on of the criminal law or of any
federal or state securi�es law. Our Amended and Restated Ar�cles of Incorpora�on provide for the limita�on or elimina�on of the liability of a director or officer or former director or officer of the company for monetary damages to the company or our shareholders, to the fullest
extent permi�ed by the VSCA as currently in effect or as later amended.  The Guzy Employment Agreement and the Wellman Employment Agreement contain the indemnifica�on provisions, providing that CoJax shall indemnify and save harmless each of Mr. Guzy and Mr. Wellman for
any liability incurred by reason of any act or omission performed by each officer while ac�ng in good faith on behalf of the Company within the scope of the authority of his pursuant to the respec�ve employment agreement and the fullest extent provided under the CoJax Bylaws, the
Amended and Restated Ar�cles of Incorpora�on and the Virginia Stock Corpora�on Act, except that each of Mr. Guzy and Mr. Wellman must have in good faith believed that such ac�on was in, or not opposed to, the best interests of CoJax, and, with respect to any criminal ac�on or
 proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe that such conduct was unlawful.
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We do not carry insurance on behalf of directors, officers, employees, or agents for liabili�es related to their ac�ons on behalf of the company. We intend to seek such insurance (if available and affordable) when we have sufficient cash reserves. 
 
Insofar as the foregoing provisions permit indemnifica�on of directors, officers, or persons controlling us for liability arising under the Securi�es Act, we have been informed that in the opinion of the Commission, this indemnifica�on is against public policy as expressed in the
Securi�es Act and is therefore unenforceable. 
 
Item 15. Recent Sales of Unregistered Securi�es

 
Over the past three years, we have issued and sold the following securi�es without registra�on under the Securi�es Act:
 

On November 17, 2020, pursuant to the terms of the Barrister Acquisi�on Agreement, the Company issued 3,650,000 shares of Common Stock at $2.00 per share to former members of Barrister. 
On January 4, 2021, the Company issued 20,000 shares of Series A conver�ble preferred stock to Jeffrey J. Guzy, the CEO and 10,000 shares of Series A Preferred stock to Wm. Barre� Wellman, the CFO. Each share is conver�ble at the op�on of the holder to ten (10) shares of

Common Stock.  
On February 16, 2021, the Company issued 5,000 shares of Common Stock to Jeffrey J. Guzy for his service as Chief Execu�ve Officer and 5,000 shares of Common Stock to Wm. Barre� Wellman for his service as Chief Financial Officer. 
On February 18, 2021, the Company issued an aggregate of 310,250 shares of Common Stock to Newbridge Securi�es Corpora�on and its affiliates in se�lement of fees for the Barrister Acquisi�on. 
On February 23, 2021, the Company issued an aggregate of 100,000 shares of Common Stock to consultants for the services performed to the Company. 

The above issuances did not involve any underwriters, underwri�ng discounts or commissions, or any public offering and we believe is exempt from the registra�on requirements of the Securi�es Act of 1933 by virtue of Sec�on 4(2) thereof and/or Regula�on D promulgated
thereunder.

 
Item 16. Exhibits
 
Exhibit Number  Descrip�on
3.1  Ar�cles of Incorpora�on (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the Company’s Registra�on Statement on Form S-1, filed with the Commission on July 26, 2019)

3.2  Bylaws (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 of the Company’s Registra�on Statement on Form S-1, filed with the Commission on July 26, 2019)

3.3  Amended and Restated Ar�cles of Incorpora�on (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1.1 of the Company’s Registra�on Statement on Form S-1, filed with the Commission on July 26, 2019)

3.4  Amendment to Amended and Restated Ar�cles of Incorpora�on (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1.2 of the Company’s Registra�on Statement on Form S-1 filed with the Commission on September 25, 2020)

4.1  Specimen Common Stock Cer�ficate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of the Company’s Registra�on Statement on Form S-1 filed with the Commission on July 26, 2019)

5.1*  Opinion of The Crone Law Group, P.C.
10.1  Acquisi�on Agreement, dated June 16, 2020, by and among CoJax Oil and Gas Corpora�on, Barrister Energy, LLC and all of the Members of Barrister Energy, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K

filed with the Commission on June 22, 2020)

10.2  Purchase and Sale Agreement dated June 1, 2019 between Barrister Energy, LLC and Central Opera�ng, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.2 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on June 22, 2020)
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10.3  Promissory Note, dated June 1, 2019, issued by Barrister Energy, LLC pursuant to the Purchase and Sale Agreement dated June 1, 2019 with Central Opera�ng, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.3 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K
filed with the Commission on June 22, 2020)

10.4  Assignment and Assump�on of Promissory Note, dated June 16, 2020, between the Company and Barrister Energy, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.4 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on June 22, 2020.

10.5*  Amended and Restated Promissory Note, dated May 29, 2021, between the Company and Central Opera�ng, LLC

10.6  Investment Banking/Corp Advisory Agreement between the Company and Newbridge Securi�es Corpora�on, dated March 14, 2019 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the Registra�on Statement on Form S-1 filed with the Commission on July
26, 2019)

10.7  Employment Agreement dated January 24, 2020, between the Company and Jeffrey J. Guzy (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on January 22, 2020)

10.8  Employment Agreement dated March 16, 2020, between the Company and Wm. Barre� Wellman (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with Commission on March 23, 2020)

10.9  Restricted Stock Grant Agreement dated January 4, 2021, between the Company and Jeffrey Guzy (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on January 7, 2021)

10.10  Restricted Stock Grant Agreement dated January 4, 2021, between the Company and Wm. Barre� Wellman (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on January 7, 2021)

14  Code of Ethics (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 14 to the Company Registra�on Statement on Form S-1 filed with the Commission on July 26, 2019)

21.1*  List of Subsidiaries
23.1*  Consent of Haynie & Co
23.2*  Consent of The Crone Law Group, P.C. (included in Exhibit 5.1)
99.1  Barrister Central Cer�fied SEC Reserves Analysis and Valua�on Study and Report (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with the Commission on May 14, 2021)

99.2  Barrister Energy, LLC Oil Leases (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.2 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with the Commission on May 14, 2021)

 
* Filed herewith.
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Item 17. Undertakings
 
The Company hereby undertakes:
 
(a)(1) To file, during any period in which offers or sales are being made, a post-effec�ve amendment to this registra�on statement:
 
 i. To include any prospectus required by sec�on 10(a)(3) of the Securi�es Act of 1933;
   
 ii. To reflect in the prospectus any facts or events arising a�er the effec�ve date of the registra�on statement (or the most recent post-effec�ve amendment thereof) which, individually or in the aggregate, represent a fundamental change in the informa�on set forth in the

registra�on statement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any increase or decrease in volume of securi�es offered (if the total dollar value of securi�es offered would not exceed that which was registered) and any devia�on from the low or high end of the es�mated maximum
offering range may be reflected in the form of prospectus filed with the Commission pursuant to Rule 424(b) if, in the aggregate, the changes in volume and price represent no more than 20% change in the maximum aggregate offering price set forth in the “Calcula�on of
Registra�on Fee” table in the effec�ve registra�on statement.

   
 iii. To include any material informa�on with respect to the plan of distribu�on not previously disclosed in the registra�on statement or any material change to such informa�on in the registra�on statement; 
 
(2) That, for the purpose of determining any liability under the Securi�es Act of 1933, each such post-effec�ve amendment shall be deemed to be a new registra�on statement rela�ng to the securi�es offered therein, and the offering of such securi�es at that �me shall be deemed to

be the ini�al bona fide offering thereof.
  
(3) To remove from registra�on by means of a post-effec�ve amendment any of the securi�es being registered which remain unsold at the termina�on of the offering.
  
(4) That, for the purpose of determining liability of the Company under the Securi�es Act of 1933 to any purchaser in the ini�al distribu�on of the securi�es: The undersigned Company undertakes that in a primary offering of securi�es of the undersigned Company pursuant to this

registra�on statement, regardless of the underwri�ng method used to sell the securi�es to the purchaser, if the securi�es are offered or sold to such purchaser by means of any of the following communica�ons, the undersigned Company will be a seller to the purchaser and will
be considered to offer or sell such securi�es to such purchaser:

 
 (i) Any preliminary prospectus or prospectus of the undersigned Company rela�ng to the offering required to be filed pursuant to Rule 424;
   
 (ii) Any free wri�ng prospectus rela�ng to the offering prepared by or on behalf of the undersigned Company or used or referred to by the undersigned Company;
   
 (iii) The por�on of any other free wri�ng prospectus rela�ng to the offering containing material informa�on about the undersigned Company or its securi�es provided by or on behalf of the undersigned Company; and
   
 (iv) Any other communica�on that is an offer in the offering made by the undersigned Company to the purchaser.
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(5) That, for the purpose of determining liability under the Securi�es Act of 1933 to any purchaser, if the Company is subject to Rule 430C, each prospectus filed pursuant to Rule 424(b) as part of a registra�on statement rela�ng to an offering, other than registra�on statements
relying on Rule 430B or other than prospectuses filed in reliance on Rule 430A, shall be deemed to be part of and included in the registra�on statement as of the date it is first used a�er effec�veness. Provided, however, that no statement made in a registra�on statement or
prospectus that is part of the registra�on statement or made in a document incorporated or deemed incorporated by reference into the registra�on statement or prospectus that is part of the registra�on statement will, as to a purchaser with a �me of contract of sale prior to
such first use, supersede or modify any statement that was made in the registra�on statement or prospectus that was part of the registra�on statement or made in any such document immediately prior to such date of first use.

 
Insofar as indemnifica�on for liabili�es arising under the Securi�es Act of 1933 (the “Act”) may be permi�ed to our directors, officers and controlling persons pursuant to the provisions above, or otherwise, we have been advised that in the opinion of the SEC such indemnifica�on is
against public policy as expressed in the Securi�es Act, and is, therefore, unenforceable. In the event that a claim for indemnifica�on against such liabili�es, other than the payment by us of expenses incurred or paid by one of our directors, officers, or controlling persons in the
successful defense of any ac�on, suit or proceeding, is asserted by one of our directors, officers, or controlling persons in connec�on with the securi�es being registered, we will, unless in the opinion of our counsel the ma�er has been se�led by controlling precedent, submit to a
court of appropriate jurisdic�on the ques�on whether such indemnifica�on is against public policy as expressed in the Securi�es Act, and we will be governed by the final adjudica�on of such issue.
 
 
 

SIGNATURES
 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securi�es Act of 1933, the registrant has duly caused this registra�on statement to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the in Arlington, Virginia, on the 23rd day of June, 2021:  
 

COJAX OIL AND GAS CORPORATION
 

  
By: /s/ Jeffrey J. Guzy
 Chief Execu�ve Officer

(Principal Execu�ve Officer)
 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securi�es Act, this registra�on statement has been signed by the following persons in the capaci�es and on the dates indicated.
 

June 23, 2021  
By: /s/ Jeffrey J. Guzy

 Chief Execu�ve Officer and President
(Principal Execu�ve Officer)

  
 June 23, 2021  

By: /s/ Wm. Barre� Wellman
 Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial and Accoun�ng Officer)
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June 23, 2021
 

CoJax Oil and Gas Corporation 3033 Wilson Boulevard, Suite E-605 Arlington, Virginia 22201
 
Gentlemen:

 
We have acted as counsel to CoJax Oil and Gas Corporation, a Virginia corporation (the “Company”), in connection with the preparation and filing of a Registration Statement on Form S-1, as may be amended from time to time

(the “Registration Statement”), filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) on June 23, 2021 under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”). The Registration Statement relates to the proposed
resale from time to time of 1,296,250 shares of common stock, par value $0.01 per share (the “Shares”) offered for sale by the selling stockholders identified in the Registration Statement.

 
In rendering the opinion set forth herein, we have examined the originals, or photostatic or certified copies of (i) the Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of the Company and By-laws, each as amended to date, (ii)

resolutions of the Board of Directors of the Company; (iii) the Registration Statement and the exhibits thereto; and (iv) such corporate records of the Company, certificates of public officials, certificates of officers of the Company and
other documents, agreements and instruments, as we have deemed necessary as to matters of fact and have made such examinations of laws as we have deemed relevant as a basis for the opinions herein contained. In all such
examinations, we have assumed the genuineness of all signatures on original documents, and the conformity to originals or certified documents of all copies submitted to us as conformed or other copies. In passing upon certain corporate
records and documents of the Company, we have necessarily assumed the correctness and completeness of the statements made or included therein by the Company, and we express no opinion thereon.

 
Based upon and subject to the foregoing, we are of the opinion that the Shares have been duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable.

 
We are attorneys admitted to practice in New York. We express no opinion other than as to the federal laws of the United States of America and the laws of New York State, as such laws presently exist and to the facts as they

presently exist.
 

We hereby consent to the filing of this opinion as an exhibit to the Registration Statement in accordance with the requirements of Item 601(b)(5) of Regulation S-K promulgated under the Securities Act and to the reference to our
firm under the caption “Legal Matters” in the prospectus forming a part of the Registration Statement. In giving such consent, we do not thereby admit that
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we are included within the category of persons whose consent is required under Section 7 of the Securities Act or the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.

 
Very truly yours,

 
THE CRONE LAW GROUP, P.C.

  



THIS AMENDED AND RESTATED SECURED PROMISSORY NOTE (THE “RESTATED NOTE”) HAS NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE “SECURITIES ACT”). THIS NOTE HAS BEEN
ACQUIRED FOR INVESTMENT ONLY AND MAY NOT BE SOLD, TRANSFERRED OR ASSIGNED IN THE ABSENCE OF REGISTRATION OF THE RESALE THEREOF UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OR AN OPINION OF COUNSEL
REASONABLY SATISFACTORY IN FORM, SCOPE AND SUBSTANCE TO THE ISSUER THAT SUCH REGISTRATION IS NOT REQUIRED.
 

AMENDED AND RESTATED SECURED PROMISSORY NOTE
 

 

Principal Amount: $2,700,000
   

   Effective as of May 29, 2021
 
 

THIS AMENDED AND RESTATED SECURED PROMISSORY NOTE (this “Restated Note”) is effective as of this 29th day of May 2021 (the “Effective Date”), by and between  COJAX OIL AND GAS CORPORATION, a Virginia corporation,
with the mailing/notice address of 3033 Wilson Blvd., Suite E-605, Arlington, VA 22201 as “Borrower”), and CENTRAL OPERATING, LLC, a Mississippi limited liability company, with the mailing/notice address of P.O. Box 2205, Laurel, MS 39442
(referred to herein as “Lender”).  

The Restated Note amends and restates in its entirety that certain promissory note dated June 1, 2019 in the original principal amount of $2,700,000 (the “Original Note”) issued by Barrister Energy, LLC, a Mississippi limited liability company
(“Barrister”), the initial borrower of the Original Note, in favor of the Lender, which Original Note was amended on May 14, 2020, and thereafter assigned on June 16, 2020 by Barrister to Borrower by that certain Assignment, Assumption and Amendment of
Promissory Note.

The Original Note is being amended and restated by the Restated Note as set forth herein to, among other things, reflect that the Lender and the Borrower agreed to change the repayment date of the Original Note to October 1, 2021, as the new
repayment date. Borrower and Lender hereby agree that as of the Effective Date, the Original Note is hereby amended, restated, and replaced in its entirety by this Restated Note to read as follows:

ARTICLE 1
PAYMENT TERMS

Repayment. For Value Received, Borrower hereby irrevocably and unconditionally promises to pay to the order of Lender, as payee, the principal sum of Two Million Seven Hundred Thousand Dollars ($2,700,000.00) (the “Principal Amount)
in lawful money of the United States of America and in immediately available funds. This Restated Note shall be non-interest bearing. The Principal Amount under the Restated Note shall be due and payable on October 1, 2021 (the “Maturity Date”).  This
Restated Note may be prepaid in whole or in part at any time.  

Absolute Obligation/Ranking. This Restated Note is a direct and unconditional debt obligation of the Borrower.  Except as expressly provided herein, no provision of this Restated Note shall alter or impair the obligation of the Borrower, which is
absolute and unconditional, to pay the Principal Amount of this Restated Note at the time, place, and rate, and in the coin or currency, herein prescribed.   
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Security Interest. The obligations of the Borrower to the Lender under this Restated Note are secured and collateralized by certain oil and gas assets of Barrister, as indicated on Exhibit A attached hereto (the “Collateral”). Until the Principal
Amount is paid in full, and the Borrower performs all its obligations under the Restated Note, the Lender will retain title to the assets contained on Exhibit A but assign the revenues from same.  Upon payment in full of the Principal Amount, Lender shall
immediately release the Collateral by transferring the title of the Collateral to the Borrower without any additional notices from the Borrower. 

ARTICLE 2
DEFAULT AND REMEDIES

Events of Default.  Each of the following shall constitute an event of default (“Event of Default”): 

Failure to Make the Required Payment.  Failure by Borrower to pay the Principal Amount on the Maturity Date pursuant to this Restated Note which non-payment continues for five (5) business days following the date of written notice
thereof to Borrower by Lender. 

Voluntary Bankruptcy.  The commencement by Borrower of a voluntary case under the Federal Bankruptcy Code, as now constituted or hereafter amended, or any other applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, rehabilitation or
other similar law (“Bankruptcy Laws”), or the consent by it to the appointment of or taking possession by a receiver, liquidator, assignee, trustee, custodian, sequestrator (or other similar official) of Borrower or its subsidiaries or for any substantial part of its
property, or the making by it of any assignment for the benefit of creditors, or the failure of Borrower generally to pay its debts as such debts become due, or the taking of corporate action by Borrower or its subsidiaries in furtherance of any of the foregoing. 

Involuntary Bankruptcy. The entry of a decree or order for relief by a court having jurisdiction in the premises in respect of Borrower or any of its subsidiaries in an involuntary case under any applicable Bankruptcy Laws; or appointing a
receiver, liquidator, assignee, custodian, trustee, sequestrator (or similar official) of Borrower or any subsidiary for any substantial part of its property, or ordering the winding-up or liquidation of Borrower’s  or any of its subsidiaries’ affairs, and the continuance
of any such decree or order unstayed and in effect for a period of 60 consecutive days. 

Dissolution or Liquidation.  If Borrower or any of its subsidiaries ceases to carry on its business or disposes (whether by license, lease, sale, settlement, encumbrance or otherwise) of substantially all of its assets other than in the ordinary
course of its business; or commences dissolution or liquidation. 

 
Remedies. Upon the occurrence of any Event of Default specified in this Article 2 hereof, Lender may enforce the unpaid Principal Amount due, among other remedies, by summary proceeding or similar action in the jurisdiction(s) where

enforcement is sought, as well as by any other enforcement or action at law or in equity permissible by law. Lender is also entitled to immediately retain title to the Collateral set forth on Exhibit A. The Borrower and any of its subsidiary hereby waive
presentment, demand, or notice of dishonor with respect to the obligations of this Restated Note.  In addition to the rights and remedies given it by this Restated Note, the Lender shall have all those rights and remedies allowed by applicable laws, and recourse to
one or more right or remedy shall not constitute a waiver of the others.   
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ARTICLE 3.
COVENANTS AND WARRANTIES OF BORROWER

So long as this Restated Note shall remain in effect and until any outstanding Principal Amount has been paid in full, unless the Lender shall otherwise consent in writing, the Borrower and any of its subsidiaries (whether existing or becoming a
subsidiary after the Effective Date), shall not (I) borrow funds, incur or increase indebtedness or credit, or grant an encumbrance or lien to any person that is senior in any way to the Restated Note in respect of payment, priority or preference, or (ii) modify any
existing debt or encumbrance in materially adversely affect the rights of Lender, as the noteholder of the Restated Note (by way of example only and without limitation, increasing the amount of existing senior debt, or changing or modifying rights of other
existing creditors or lien holders that would in any material respect reduce the security interest or rights of the Lender).

ARTICLE 4.
NOTICE AND OTHER INSTRUMENTS.

All notices, reports or other documents and communications that are required or permitted to be given to the Parties under this Agreement shall be sufficient if given in writing and delivered in person, by email, by overnight courier, or by registered or
certified mail, postage prepaid, return receipt requested, to the receiving Party at the address listed on the first page of this Restated Note or to such other address as such Party may have given to the other by written notice pursuant to this Article 4. Notice shall
be deemed given on the earlier of (I) actual receipt by the receiving party, (ii) the date shown on a facsimile transmission confirmation, (iii) the date on which an e-mail transmission was received by the receiving party’s on-line access provider (iv) the date
reflected on a signed delivery receipt, or (vi) on the delivery or refusal date, as specified on the return receipt, in the case of overnight courier or registered or certified mail.

ARTICLE 5
NO ORAL CHANGE

This Restated Note may not be modified, amended, waived, extended, changed, discharged, or terminated orally or by any act or failure to act on the part of Borrower or Lender, but only by an agreement in writing signed by the party against whom
enforcement of any modification, amendment, waiver, extension, change, discharge or termination is sought.

ARTICLE6
GOVERNING LAW; VENUE, JURY TRIAL WAIVER 

This Restated Note and the rights, remedies, powers, covenants, duties and obligations of the parties herein shall be construed and enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of Mississippi, without regard to the conflict of laws provisions thereof.
Any legal suit, action or proceeding arising out of or relating to this Restated Note shall be instituted exclusively in the state or federal courts of the State of Mississippi (and any appellate courts thereof). EACH PARTY HERETO HEREBY IRREVOCABLY
WAIVES ANY AND ALL RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY LEGAL PROCEEDING ARISING OUT OF OR RELATED TO THIS RESTATED NOTE OR ANY OBLIGATIONS HEREUNDER.
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ARTICLE 7
ENTIRE AGREEMENT AND AMENDMENT

This Restated Note constitutes the entire agreement between the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and referenced herein and supersedes and terminates any prior agreements between the parties (written or oral) with respect to the subject
matter hereof, including, without limitation, the Original Note. Any amendment or modification to, or waiver of any provision of, this Restated Note may be made with, and only with, the written consent of Borrower and Lender. This Restated Note may be
amended only by an instrument in writing executed by the parties hereto.

ARTICLE 8
SEVERABILITY

 
Should any one or more of the provisions of this Restated Note be determined to be illegal or unenforceable, all other provisions hereof shall be given effect separately therefrom and shall not be affected thereby. To the extent that a court determines that

any provision herein is unreasonable in light of the circumstances, the court shall revise such provision in a manner that the court determines to be reasonable and to implement the intention of this Restated Note most clearly.

 
ARTICLE 9

ASSIGNMENT
 

Borrower may transfer or assign this Restated Note with the consent and notice of the Lender, in accordance with all applicable laws and regulations, which consent may not be unreasonably withheld.
 

ARTICLE 10
MISCELLENEOUS

 
This Restated Note will inure to the benefit of and be binding upon each of the parties and their respective heirs, executors, administrators, successors, and permitted assigns. This Restated Note may be executed in multiple counterparts, including

without limitation by facsimile, pdf or other electronic document transmission, each of which shall be deemed an original and all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument. The undersigned executing this Restated Note on behalf of the
Borrower and delivering it to the Lender hereby represents and warrants that he does so with all corporate authority of the Borrower. Unless the context requires otherwise, the terms “hereof,” “herein,” “hereby,” “hereto” and derivative or similar words in this
Restated Note refer to this entire Restated Note. Unless the context requires otherwise, words in this Restated Note using the singular or plural number also include the plural or singular number, respectively, and the use of any gender herein shall be deemed to
include the other genders. References in this Restated Note to “dollars”, “Dollars” or “$” are to U.S. dollars. This Restated Note was prepared jointly by the parties and no rule that it be construed against the drafter will have any application in its construction or
interpretation.

 
 

[Signature Page Follows]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Borrower, intending to be legally bound hereby, has caused this Amended and Restated Promissory Note to be duly executed by the undersigned as of this 29th day of May, 2021.
 
 
COJAX OIL AND GAS CORPORATION 
 
By: /s/ Jeffrey J. Guzy
      Name: Jeffrey J. Guzy
      Title: Chief Executive Officer
 
 
Acknowledged and agreed, effective as of the Effective Date:
 

CENTRAL OPERATING, LLC
 
By: /s/ Peter Biglane
     Name: Peter Biglane
     Title: Manager

 

5



Exhibit A
 

Collateral
 

Attached to and made a part of that certain assignment dates effective June 1st, 2019 by and between Central Operating, LLC as Assignor and Barrister Energy, LLC as Assignee
 

Lessor MOSLEY, MARREL CLIFTON Lessor BYRD, ARTHURINE ET AL Lessor CHAVERS, MILDRED E
Lessee WALTER L JOHNSON Lessee WALTER L JOHNSON Lessee FINA OIL & CHEMICAL
Dated AUGUST 11, 1993 Dated AUGUST 10, 1993 Dated APRIL 18, 1991
Recorded BOOK 486 PAGE 273 Recorded BOOK 486 PAGE 304 Recorded BOOK 407 PAGE 304

 
Lessor

 
NALL, ALFRED E

 
Lessor

 
MURPHY, MAX H ET UX

 
Lessor

 
SILCOX, SHANE

Lessee WALTER L JOHNSON Lessee WALTER L JOHNSON Lessee FINA OIL & CHEMICAL

Dated AUGUST 10, 1993 Dated SEPTEMBER 15, 1993 Dated APRIL 18, 1991
Recorded BOOK 486 PAGE 276 Recorded BOOK 486 PAGE 312 Recorded BOOK 407 PAGE 301

 

Lessor

 

EXCEL, TOWN OF

 

Lessor

 

KIRKLAND, REO JR

 

Lessor

 

MOSLEY, ISABELLE L ET AL
Lessee WALTER L JOHNSON Lessee WALTER L JOHNSON Lessee FINA OIL AND CHEMICAL

Dated AUGUST 18, 1993 Dated SEPTEMBER 21, 1993 Dated APRIL 18, 1991
Recorded BOOK 486 PAGE 320 Recorded BOOK 486 PAGE 315 Recorded BOOK 407 PAGE 296

 

Lessor

 

JETER, JAMES H ET UX

 

Lessor

 

MELTON, H GERALD ET UX

 

Lessor

 

MURPHY, EVELYN JONES ET
VI

Lessee WALTER L JOHNSON Lessee WALTER L JOHNSON Lessee WALTER L. JOHNSON
Dated AUGUST 10, 1993 Dated MAY 2, 1994 Dated SEPTEMBER 15, 1995

Recorded BOOK 486 PAGE 279 Recorded BOOK 502 PAGE 289 Recorded BOOK 561 PAGE 89

 
Lessor

 
HOLDER, WILLA DEAN H

 
Lessor

 
SCRUGGS, BILLY L ET UX

  

Lessee WALTER L JOHNSON Lessee W. B. DICKERSON JR   

Dated JULY 16, 1993 Dated JUNE 8, 1992   

Recorded BOOK 486 PAGE 282 Recorded BOOK 440 PAGE 183   

 

Lessor

 

MOSLEY, GEORGE EDWARD ET U

 

Lessor

 

JOHNSON, JERRY

  

Lessee WALTER L JOHNSON Lessee WALTER L JOHNSON   

Dated AUGUST 10, 1993 Dated AUGUST 3, 1995   
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Recorded BOOK 486 PAGE 284 Recorded BOOK 523 PAGE 225   

 
Lessor

 
NETTLES, JEFF

 
Lessor

 
JOHNSON, MELVIN D

  

Lessee WALTER L JOHNSON Lessee WALTER L JOHNSON   

Dated AUGUST 11, 1993 Dated AUGUST 3, 1995   

Recorded BOOK 486 PAGE 287 Recorded BOOK 523 PAGE 227   

 
Lessor

 
NETTLES, ANN B ET VIR

 
Lessor

 
BROWN, JEFFREY L ET AL

  

Lessee WALTER L JOHNSON Lessee WALTER L JOHNSON   

Dated AUGUST 11, 1993 Dated AUGUST 3, 1995   

Recorded BOOK 486 PAGE 290 Recorded BOOK 523 PAGE 238   

 
Lessor

 
CHAVERS, MILDRED E

 
Lessor

 
CHAMPION INTERNATIONAL CO

  

Lessee WALTER L JOHNSON Lessee ENERGY DEVELOPMENT   

Dated JULY 20, 1993 Dated JANUARY 15, 1995   

Recorded BOOK 486 PAGE 296 Recorded BOOK 526 PAGE 94   

 
Lessor

 
ZION REST CHURCH

 
Lessor

 
INTERNATIONAL PAPER CO

  

Lessee WALTER L JOHNSON Lessee ENERGY DEVELOPMENT   

Dated AUGUST 4, 1993 Dated DECEMBER 27, 1994   

Recorded BOOK 486 PAGE 300 Recorded BOOK 527 PAGE 98   

 
Lessor

 
MANNING, BETTY C ET VIR

 
Lessor

 
RUDY RESOURCES LIMITED PA

  

Lessee WALTER L JOHNSON Lessee ENERGY DEVELOPMENT   

Dated JUNE 21, 1993 Dated JANUARY 15, 1995   

Recorded BOOK 491 PAGE 67 Recorded BOOK 529 PAGE 06   

 
Lessor

 
COLEMAN, JAMES C ET UX

 
Lessor

 
SCOTT PAPER COMPANY

  

Lessee WALTER L. JOHNSON Lessee ENERGY DEVELOPMENT   

Dated JUNE 23, 1993 Dated JANUARY 15, 1995   

Recorded BOOK 491 PAGE 65 Recorded BOOK 529 PAGE 08   

 
Contract ID Lessor Recording

Info State
County SEC TWP RNG Legal Description

ALPX.16.001.LSE
 

Alfred E. Nall et
u

 
5.0000
Page 9,
Book 806
AL

 
Monroe

 
16

 
5N

 
7E

 
4 ac in SE cor SWSE;
1 ac in SW cor SWSE
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ALPX.16.002.LSE
Alfred E. Nall, Jr. 35.8000

Page 11,
Book 806
AL

Monroe 16 5N 7E N2 SESE Less 1 ac in
NW corner; S2 SESE
Less 3.2 ac in SW cor

ALPX.16.003.LSE Donna Nall Salter 35.0000
Page 13,
Book 806
AL

Monroe 16 5N 7E W2 SWSE Less 1 ac in
SW corner; E2 SWSE
Less 4 ac in SE corner

ALPX.16.004.LSE Louise B. Melton 20.0000
Page 15,
Book 806
AL

Monroe 16 5N 7E 1 ac in SW cor SWSE W2
SWSE Less 1 ac in SW cor

ALPX.16.005.LSE Ronnie R. Jordan 70.0000
Page 406,
Book 802
AL

Monroe 16 5N 7E W2 SW Less 4
Tracts;see lease for
complete description.

ALPX.16.006.LSE Jimmy R. Frost 1.0000 Page
21, Book
806 AL

Monroe 16 5N 7E 1 ac in NW corner of SESE

ALPX.16.007.LSE William T. Caylor 3.2000 Page
17, Book
806 AL

Monroe 16 5N 7E 2.2 ac in S2 of SESE
1 ac in SW corner of SESE

ALPX.16.008.LSE Sandy Dunnavant 1.0000 Page
19, Book
806 AL

Monroe 16 5N 7E 1 ac in NW corner of SESE

ALPX.16.009.LSE Shane Silcox et u 25.0000 AL Monroe 16 5N 7E Part of SWNE

ALPX.16.010.LSE Freida Wiggins et 56.0000 AL Monroe 16 5N 7E Part of SWNE & Part
of SENE & Part of
NENE

ALPX.16.011.LSE H. Gerald Melton 78.6000
Page 303,
Book 804
AL

Monroe 16 5N 7E E2 SW,Less & except a
parcel,see lease for complete
description

ALPX.16.012.LSE
 

Billy Scruggs et u
 
80.0000
Page 528,
Book 803
AL

 
Monroe

 
16

 
5N

 
7E

 
N2 SE

ALPX.16.013.LSE L.T. Wiggins et ux 1.0000 AL Monroe 16 5N 7E SE corner of N2 of SENE

ALPX.17.001.LSE W.J. Martin, Jr. 80.0000
Page 399,
Book 802
AL

Monroe 17 5N 7E NE1/4 OF
SW1/4;and SE1/4 of
NW1/4
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ALPX.17.002.LSE
Edward
Nelson
M

71.3300
Page 396,
Book 802
AL

Monroe 20 5N 7E N1/3 NWNE;N1/3
NENW;E1/2NENE
S1/3 SWSE;S1/3
SESW
Less 2 acres in SW corner

ALPX.17.003.LSE Annabel
J. White,

133.2200
Page
401,
Book
802 AL

Monroe 17 5N 7E SENE & NESE & N2 SESE
Less tracts;see full
description on lease.

   20 5N 7E Metes & Bounds
Tract,see lease for
fulldescription. W2
SWNE Less 3 ac;also

   21 5N 7E W2 NWSE,see lease
for complete
description.

ALPX.17.006.LSE Hazel
Norris

89.3700
Page 409,
Book 802
AL

Monroe 17 5N 7E SWSW Less 2
Tracts;N2/3 SWSE
Less tract & N 2/3
SESW

ALPX.17.007.LSE Bennie C. Norris 1.0000
Page
412,
Book
802
AL

Monroe 17 5N 7E Metes & Bounds Tract in
SWSW

ALPX.17.008.LSE Danny L. Everette 1.0000
Page
414,
Book
802
AL

Monroe 17 5N 7E Metes & Bounds Tract in
SWSW

ALPX.17.009.LSE Garilyn Blanton 1.6300
Page
416,
Book
802
AL

Monroe 17 5N 7E Metes & Bounds Tract in
SWSW

ALPX.17.010.LSE Annabel Wallet v 3.0000
Page
418,
Book
802
AL

Monroe 17 5N 7E Metes & Bounds Tract
in NESE

ALPX.20.001.LSE Marlene B.
Grissette

27.0000
AL

Monroe 20 5N 7E 27 ac tract in SW cor of
NENW,NWNW

ALPX.20.002.LSE Roger W. Bayles, 9.5000
AL

Monroe 20 5N 7E 9.5 acs start SE corner of
W2 of NENE

ALPX.21.001.LSE Audry O. Melton e 45.5900
AL

Monroe 21 5N 7E 9.59 ac tract in NENE

   21 5N 7E NENW less two tracts

ALPX.21.002.LSE Brenda Andrews 2.7800
AL

Monroe 21 5N 7E 2.78 ac tract in S2
of NENW
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ALPX.21.003.LSE Deanna
Andrews

0.8700 AL Monroe 21 5N 7E .87 ac tract in
NE corner
NENW

ALPX.21.004.LSE Mitchell W.
Jordan

38.7100 Page
404, Book 802
AL

Monroe 21 5N 7E E2 SWNE Less 3
ac; also E2
NWSE;see lease
for complete
description.

ALPX.21.005.LSE Alfred E.
Nall,Life

40.0000 AL Monroe 21 5N 7E NWNE

ALPX.21.006.LSE Alfred E, Nall,
Jr.,

33.0000 AL Monroe 21 5N 7E S2 NENE Less 50'
strip across NS of
SWNENE;
NENENE; 50' strip
across NS of
NWNENE

ALPX.21.007.LSE Louise B.
Melton

33.0000 AL Monroe 21 5N 7E S2 NENE Less
50' strip across
NS of SWNENE;
NENENE; 50'
strip across NS of
NWNENE
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Exhibit 21.1
 

LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES OF COJAX OIL AND GAS CORPORATION
 

Name of Subsidiaries  Jurisdiction

Barrister Energy, L.L.C  Mississippi

 



1785 W 2300 S
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

Certified Public Accountants & Management Consultants
West Valley City, UT 84119

 
801-972-4800

801-972-8941

www.HaynieCPAs.com
 

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
 

We consent to the use in this Registration Statement on Form S-1 of CoJax Oil and Gas Corporation. Of our report dated May 13, 2021, relating to our audits of the December 31, 2020 consolidated financial statements of CoJax Oil and Gas Corporation.,
which are appearing in the Prospectus, which is part of this Registration Statement.

 
We also consent to the reference to our firm under the caption "Experts" in such Prospectus.

  

Haynie & Company Salt Lake City, Utah June 23, 2021
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


